Bellarmine University ScholarWorks@Bellarmine

Graduate Theses, Dissertations, and Capstones

Graduate Research

7-9-2021

Language Learning Effectiveness (Outcome) of an Online Synchronous EFL Program Compared to an ESL Face-to-Face Program

Eduardo L. Trindade Ph.D. Bellarmine University, eltrindade@att.net

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.bellarmine.edu/tdc

Part of the Adult and Continuing Education Commons, Language and Literacy Education Commons, and the Online and Distance Education Commons

Recommended Citation

Trindade, Eduardo L. Ph.D., "Language Learning Effectiveness (Outcome) of an Online Synchronous EFL Program Compared to an ESL Face-to-Face Program" (2021). Graduate Theses, Dissertations, and Capstones. 103.

https://scholarworks.bellarmine.edu/tdc/103

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate Research at ScholarWorks@Bellarmine. It has been accepted for inclusion in Graduate Theses, Dissertations, and Capstones by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks@Bellarmine. For more information, please contact jstemmer@bellarmine.edu, kpeers@bellarmine.edu.

Language Learning Effectiveness (Outcome) of an Online Synchronous EFL Program Compared to an ESL Face-to-Face Program

Eduardo Luiz Trindade

Bellarmine University

A dissertation submitted to the faculty of The Ansley Frazier Thornton School of Education at

Bellarmine University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy in Education and Social Change

July 2021

Grant Smith, Ph.D. – Committee Chair

Chair of Doctoral Programs and Assistant Professor of Research Design and Statistics

Committee Members

Dr. Mary Ann Cahill and Mr. Adam Elias

Author Note

The data collection was sponsored by the Office of Academic Affairs of Campbellsville

University. We have no conflicts of interest to disclose.

Bellarmine University

The Ansley Frazier Thornton School of Education of Bellarmine University certifies that Eduardo Luiz Trindade has successfully defended his dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Education and Social Change as of July 9, 2021.

Language Learning Effectiveness (Outcome) of an Online Synchronous EFL Program Compared to an ESL Face-to-Face Program

Eduardo Luiz Trindade

Dissertation Research Committee:

Committee Chair – Dr. Grant S. Smith, Ph.D.

Chair of Doctoral Programs and Associate Professor of Research Design and Statistics

Bellarmine University

Committee Member – Dr. Mary Ann Cahill, Ed.D.

Associate Professor of Literacy and Chair of the MA in Teaching Program

Bellarmine University

Committee Member - Mr. Adam Elias

Director of Innovative Learning Systems

Bellarmine University

Copyright © 2021

by

Eduardo Luiz Trindade

All Rights Reserved

Dedications

This dissertation and the years of study and research are dedicated to my wife Leila Moura Trindade and my daughters, Gabriela Moura Trindade, Luisa Moura Trindade, and Julia Moura Trindade. May they find in their hearts the kindness to forgive my constant absence in their lives as I devoted a great deal of my time in the last couple of years in the pursue of my academic goals. I pray that my daughters inherit my curiosity for knowledge and become lifelong learners like their parents.

Acknowledgments

First of all, I give thanks to God for helping me in this academic journey. "The wisdom from above is first pure, then peaceable, gentle, open to reason, full of mercy and good fruits, impartial and sincere" (James 3:17 - ESV).

I would like to thank my committee chair and advisor, Dr. Grant Smith. I was blessed by his support, guidance with statistics, and advice in moments of personal and global crisis, which were not infrequent during this study. I am also highly thankful to Dr. Mary Ann Cahill for her ESL expertise and the suggestion to focus my thinking on the SLA theoretical framework. Also, my deep appreciation to Mr. Adam Elias in my committee and his expertise in distance learning and innovative learning systems.

I appreciate Joshua Detherage and Robert Parrish's assistance teaching the EFL classes and helping me build the scope and sequence of the course. I am thankful to my colleague and friend Raquel Cunha for her support. I sincerely appreciate Dr. Jeanette Parker and the Professional Development Committee of Campbellsville University for granting me tuition assistance in the past two years. I am particularly obliged to Dr. Donna Hedgepath, Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs, for her support in the name of Campbellsville University.

I am eternally indebted to my family here in America and Brazil. My wife for her constant encouragement. Her love and commitment were essential and gave me hope to persevere amid so many professional and family responsibilities. I also need to express my love for my daughters' support; they were generous to allow me to study and were patient with me when I was stressed.

I thank my family and friends who inspired me along the way, and I am particularly grateful to my late mother. She left a remote region of Campos in the state of Rio de Janeiro to go to the former capital of Brazil (Rio de Janeiro – city) and, at 17 years of age, enrolled in elementary school and persisted until she finished a bachelors degree. Her example and passion taught me to endure life's difficulties and find joy in accomplishing my goals. As a social worker, she entrusted me with the desire to make education available to those in remote areas of the world and promote social change.

Abstract

To provide English learning opportunities to International students while in their home countries, I designed an English as a Foreign Language (EFL) synchronous online program delivered via videoconferences. The purpose of this study was to evaluate the efficacy of an Online EFL program when compared to a regular in-person Intensive English Program (IEP) where students are immersed in the American culture. The control group was composed of 88 students from Spanish and Portuguese-speaking countries in South America that took the IEP offered by a private university in Kentucky in the past five years. Students in the control group had eight weeks of in-person English classes. The experimental group was composed of 88 students who participated in the EFL pilot course offered to Spanish and Portuguese-speaking students. The course was offered free of charge via zoom conferences twice a week for 8 eight weeks. The students were recruited over Facebook and WhatsApp. The study's premise was to have students engaged in meaningful English language interactions with their peers and instructors to verify if there were significant differences between the pre and post-tests gains in both groups (Control and Experimental Group) of treatment (in-person and online English instruction). The results indicated a language gain in listening, grammar, and vocabulary for both groups, suggesting that both treatments produced similar language skills improvements. In virtue of the results, the author recognizes that the implementation of EFL programs delivered 100% online via videoconferences is a viable solution to problems of cost and mobility for English Language Learners (ELL), particularly in times of global crisis, such as the COVID-19 pandemic.

Keywords: CALL, MALL, Language Program Comparison, EFL via videoconferences

Table of Contents

| Dedications | 4 |
|---|----|
| Acknowledgments | 5 |
| Abstract | 7 |
| Table of Contents | 8 |
| Language Learning Effectiveness (Outcome) of an Online Synchronous EFL. Program | |
| Compared to an ESL Face-to-Face Program | 12 |
| Research Background | 12 |
| Democratization of Education | 14 |
| Rationale for the study | 18 |
| Purpose of the Study | 19 |
| Linguistics Significance of the Study | 21 |
| Anticipated Benefits of an Online EFL Program | 22 |
| Chapter 2 - Literature Review | 24 |
| CALL/MALL and Language Learning | 26 |
| CALL/MALL & SLA | 26 |
| ELL E-learning | 27 |
| CALL/Distance Learning | 28 |
| Hybrid Language Learning | 29 |
| CALL/MALL/MALU | 30 |
| CALL/MALL Devices | 35 |
| MP3 Lessons | 35 |

| MALL – iPods | 36 |
|---|-----|
| PDA Multimedia | 37 |
| Translation/Reading Devices | 38 |
| MALL/WLAN | 38 |
| GPS Enabled Devices | 39 |
| MALL/Smartphone | 40 |
| Podcasting | 40 |
| MALL/Video-Recording | 42 |
| MALL and Tablets | 43 |
| Learning Management Systems (LMS) | 44 |
| EFL and Chat/CMC | 45 |
| EFL and Discussion Forums/SMS/MMS/CMC | 46 |
| EFL and Social Media | 48 |
| CALL/MALL and Collaborative Learning | 53 |
| Considerations About the Literature. | 69 |
| Theoretical Framework | 75 |
| Second Language Learning/Acquisition Theories | 75 |
| The Acquisition Model Theory/Monitor Model Theory in SLA. | 76 |
| Chapter 3 - Methodology | 96 |
| Relevance and context of the study | 96 |
| Interactivity | 101 |
| Language as a Political and Social Tool | 102 |

Pilot Program Design

102

| COMPARED EFFECTIVENESS OF SYNCHRONOUS ONLINE EFL & F2F ESL | 10 |
|--|-----|
| Drawing Conclusions from MOOCs | 103 |
| Social Change and English Language Learning | 105 |
| Language Acquisition and Pedagogical Strategies. | 108 |
| Rationale for the Quantitative Study | 112 |
| Limitations of the Study and Design. | 113 |
| Subject and Recruitment. | 114 |
| Teaching Strategies and Design. | 119 |
| EFL Course Rationale. | 120 |
| Data Collection | 124 |
| Chapter 4 - Results and Findings | 130 |
| Chapter 5 – Conclusions and Recommendations | 146 |
| Limitations of the Study and Design. | 153 |
| Social Change and Language Learning | 155 |
| References | 157 |
| Appendix 1 – Photos of the EFL Pilot Program | 228 |
| Appendix 2 - Supporting Data | 231 |
| Appendix 3 – Consent Form | 234 |
| Appendix 4 - IRB Exemption Notice | 236 |
| Appendix 5 – Extended Review of the Literature on SLA Theories | 237 |
| The Behaviorist Theory in SLA | 237 |
| The Acculturation Theory in SLA | 239 |
| Interaction Hypothesis in SLA | 242 |
| Sociocultural Hypothesis in SLA | 243 |

| COMPARED EFFECTIVENESS OF SYNCHRONOUS ONLINE EFL & F2F ESL | 11 |
|--|-----|
| Comprehensible Output Hypothesis in SLA | 246 |
| Universal Grammar (UG) Hypothesis | 248 |

Language Learning Effectiveness (Outcome) of an Online Synchronous EFL. Program Compared to an ESL Face-to-Face Program

Research Background

This dissertation is the result of several years of English as a Second Language (ESL) teaching experience and class discussions during various seminars on the Ph.D. in Education and Social Change at Bellarmine University. The topic is very dear to me because it is directly related to my desire to make higher education more accessible to students in developing countries (Coelho, 2015). After finishing my MA in Hermeneutics in England, I taught at various Bible Colleges in Brazil. During that time, I noticed that many students had problems due to content not translated into Portuguese. Many of my students had come from rural communities to complete their higher education in large cities in Brazil (De Araujo, 2012).

Most students had to work full-time and struggle to adapt to big city life while going to college. Some students lamented having abandoned their rural communities and were facing culture shock. I decided to further my education to pursue alternatives that could bridge the educational divide between cities and rural areas. I translated several articles and educational materials for my classes and had many opportunities to travel to various locations in Brazil to teach and introduce students to academic content that was not previously accessible to them.

In 1999, I moved to the USA, and in 2001 I started designing a distance learning program to reach students in remote areas of Brazil. I contacted investors interested in helping me with the project, and I spoke with educational institutions to request permission to use recorded lectures to be translated and dubbed into Portuguese and Spanish. The idea was to establish educational centers in churches with at least electricity, or an electric generator, a TV, and a DVD player for students from the community to watch the lectures. My goal was to wait for the Internet to become available in rural areas and then have the education centers online.

Unfortunately, the lack of infrastructure persists, and some locations still do not have access to the Internet (see appendix for ITU statistics for Internet access per region from 2005 to 2019). Nishijima, Ivanauskas, and Sarti (2017) affirm that Brazil's digital divide has decreased since 2013 due to the infrastructure improvement, but the lack of education and digital illiteracy still contributes to the low access to information (Blois, 2004; Dos Santos, 2011; Leite, 2009; Trow, 1999). Access via satellite phones or partnerships with radio and TV stations would be plausible but too costly. In 2011, the Broadband Commission for Sustainable Development (BCSD, 2018) expected that half of the world's population would be connected to the Internet, and the BCSD adopted seven targets to guarantee that the other half of the world's population would have access to the Internet by 2025. The BCSD Report of 2019 (BCSD, 2019) states that although the cost of smartphones has been declining, the cost of the devices and data plans continue to be unaffordable for many individuals, and the digital divide between rural and urban residents continues to augment (Datta, Bhatia, Noll, and Dixit, 2019; Bodah, 2016).

Educational institutions I contacted were hesitant to grant me permission to use their materials. With the crisis of 9/11, the investors pulled out due to the global economic uncertainty (Chernick, 2005). I was determined to reach the goal of providing tertiary education to people in remote areas, even if I had to wait until the technology was available and accessible all over the world. After a few years, I decided to study Linguistics and started teaching English as a second language to international students coming to the USA to enroll in undergraduate and graduate programs. In the following years, I concluded that it would be more liberating to teach a language that gives students access to academic content than simply giving them selected content

translated into their mother tongue. Based on the testimony of my international ESL students, individuals who learn English have higher chances to further their education and improve their lives and the life of their communities.

The EFL program designed and investigated in this dissertation was established at the host university and has the potential to be offered by many universities to give people access to higher education without leaving their communities behind. As a byproduct of education, communities experience development, and individuals see possibilities for social mobility (Owens, St. Croix, 2020). With EFL online programs, universities can help international students have access to higher education.

Democratization of Education

Based on the purpose of making tertiary education accessible to students around the world, I decided to look at the MOOC (Massive Open Online Course) movement literature (Schuwer et al., 2015). MOOCs were able to enroll students from almost all countries, cultures, races, and genders (Al-Imarah & Shields, 2019), making academic information available for people across the planet (Christensen et al., 2014, p. 7; Rohs and Ganz, 2015; Turula and Chojnacka, 2015) without forcing them to move to developed countries. I wanted to consider MOOC's flexibility and its potential to provide more democratic and universal access to education to populations with limited or no formal higher education access. However, MOOCs have been around since 2008 (Carver & Harrison, 2013; Pappano, 2012) and have not resolved the lack of access to higher education (Liyanagunawardena, Adams, and Williams, 2013; Delbanco, 2013; Lewin, 2013). Caswell et al. (2008) claimed that universities gave large populations free access to education through MOOCs. Free materials were available, and students were encouraged to use, redistribute, and adapt (p. 6). Unfortunately, there is still a

disproportional shortage of academic content in languages other than English (Drossel, Eickelmann, and Vennemann, 2020). Even when content is available, the digital divide blocks people in developing countries and small towns (Carver and Harrison, 2013, p. 23). According to Ercikan, Asil, and Grover (2018), the digital divide is not only evident in remote areas of the planet, but limited access to mobile devices, computers, and Internet connection at home is the norm for families living in poverty and minority communities. Ercikan, Asil, and Grover (2018) argue that the lack of resources and access to digital content is intensified by gender and socioeconomic status (SES).

The wide array of formats in which MOOCs are offered also indicates that Universities are still unsure about the concept of education for everyone (Rodriguez, 2014). Access to content is a crucial step toward the democratization of education, an idea that harmonizes with the 1948 Universal Declaration of Human Rights article 26, which states that "everyone has the right to education." (United Nations, 2015; Wallace and Van Fleet, 2005).

It is vital to highlight the fact that some MOOCs had a massive number of enrolled students and promoted intensive interconnectivity between participants (Rodriguez, 2012), but have been heavily criticized for the high withdrawal rate caused by what is described by the participants as "information overload" (Liyanagunawardena et al., 2013, p. 218). Unfortunately, MOOCs are failing to reach communities in poverty. Christensen et al. (2014) stated that in 2014, most students enrolled in MOOCs had completed at least one undergraduate degree and some even a graduate degree before starting a MOOC (p. 7). MOOC students typically live in larger cities and have Internet access at home, work, and mobile devices (p. 8). As reported by Glass, Shiokawa-Baklan, and Saltarelli (2016), MOOC students are 85% male, 65 % between 18

and 34 years old, the average of US MOOC students are full-time employed and earn more than \$70K a year, and 80% of the students are college graduates (p. 42-46).

Rhoads et al. (2013) argued that with MOOCs, students could enroll in renowned universities' courses and include the information in their résumé. Rhoads et al. also stressed that Ivy League Schools were disrupting the market and forcing small universities out (p. 107). In this regard, Philip Altbach (2014) claimed that MOOCs were a new form of imperialism from rich countries forced upon less developed countries. Unfortunately, most MOOCs were not as innovative as expected; they did not offer a wide variety of content that once was anticipated (Arnold, 2012) and remained institution-centered and instructor-focused (p. 5).

In my pursuit to find a way to bring higher education to the peripheries, I realized that MOOCs are not the panacea (Fraser and Ryan 2013; Martín-Monje and Bárcena, 2014). However, they shed light on the idea that education can be done in virtual formats, and, if done correctly, online learning can generate opportunities for interactivity and collaboration (Gamage, Perera, and Fernando, 2020). I also looked at CALL (Computer-Assisted Language Learning) from its origins in the 1960s (Huber, 2018) and MALL (Mobile-Assisted Language Learning) and their potential to impact language learning across the world (Kukulska-Hulme, Lee, and Norris, 2017).

Lack of infrastructure and expensive technology are not isolated impediments for individuals in remote areas to access higher education (Li, 2013). According to Rhoads, Berdan, and Toven-Lindsey (2013), "social learning" and online learning are becoming ubiquitous in industrialized countries because of the abundance of collaborative platforms and the reliability of the infrastructure (Rhoads et al., 2013). However, this is not the reality of many remote areas in developing countries. According to Cable.co.uk and M-Lab (https://www.cable.co.uk/broadband/speed/worldwide-speed-league/), from the 221 countries tested for broadband speed in 2019, 109 countries had an average broadband speed lower than 10Mbps, while the 50 countries with the fastest performing speeds had speeds varying from 36Mbps to 230Mbps. It is difficult to quantify what people can do with limited resources; Barden and Bygroves (2018) state that smartphones and other mobile devices are pervasive even in low socioeconomic communities, and mobile learning opens new possibilities for people in poverty. In a recent study with 161 undergraduate students in Nepal, Parajuli (2016) reports a highly positive willingness (82% of the participants) to use mobile phones for learning, but a complaint (from 55% of the participants) about the lack of support from instructors (p. 48). Parajuli also states that many students can acquire smartphones at a low cost; however, data service fees are prohibitive for students to download the course material needed (2016, p. 51).

Daniel, Kanwar, and Uvalic-Trumbic (2009) estimated that by 2020, 40% of the planet's workforce would be required to have a tertiary diploma. It appears that the demand has not reached the 40% yet, but the demand for higher education is urgent (Waks, 2019). Cliford and Montgomery (2017) see the benefit of diversification and internationalization in tertiary education and highlight the need to adapt the curricula to develop global citizenship.

According to UNESCO (2014), between 1995 and 2012, OECD countries saw a 20% growth in student enrollment at higher education institutions (p. 331). The cost of higher education is another barrier to the democratization of education. Levine and Levine (2012) underlined that student loan debt is a heavy load on graduates starting their careers. They claim that the surge in college tuition fees is caused by a shortage of state and federal funding, rising competition, declining enrollment of international students, and a decrease of full-time faculty in US universities (p. 443). Higher education institutions in developing countries face similar

problems of lack of funding (Dawkins, Hurley, & Noonan, 2019). Some governments and private industries do not see the relevance of tertiary education and question the public provision of funds to universities (Jeannie Daniels, 2017). The decline in funding presents an extra challenge to higher education institutions (see table about world tertiary education ratio from UNESCO in the appendix). Calderon and Mathies (2013) reasoned that higher education might not be the only economic development generator, but they see a relationship between having a higher education diploma and access to social mobility (Cunninghame, 2017).

Rationale for the study

In the 1970s, Paulo Freire was troubled about teachers and educational institutions as the owners of knowledge and students as mere information receptors (1970). Freire proposed a shift in perspective, a revolution that would promote students to creators of knowledge and culture. Freire saw teachers as facilitators, presenting knowledge for students to deal critically with life problems and overcome oppressive powers that forced students into alienation (1970). In this case, the word 'alienation' may imply more than Karl Marx's sense of capitalistic alienation where laborers are extorted to the point of losing their humanity (Wendling, 2009; Freire, 2014; Marx, 1964; Drysdale, 1969). I see the lack of access to education as another enforcer of isolation and social exclusion, so individuals that live in the periphery of civilization do not have the opportunity to enjoy the benefits of the digital age, nor the option of social mobility (Billingham, 2018).

The lack of access to education is part of the economic and digital divide between developed and developing countries (Li, 2013). This divide seems incongruous, especially with the democratization of information through the Internet (Figueiredo and Freitas, 2018). Much needs to be done to elevate the massive open, collaborative production of knowledge to academia's level and scrutiny rigor. The increasing demand for higher education is directly connected to technology-based jobs being created daily in the market. The main objective of universal education is to help students escape poverty and promote significant social change that will benefit entire communities (Duke, 2004).

Enabling access to more technologically advanced and better-paid jobs may help developing countries prosper (Daniel, Kanwar & Uvalic-Trumbic, 2009). According to Chris Ormell (2012), the influx of better-trained and more capable professionals will stimulate markets. MOOCs may not have been designed to reach marginalized communities and give them access to education, but distance education can enable the democratization of knowledge. According to Coughlan (2013), Harvard is now experimenting with SPOCs (Small Private Online Courses) to guarantee more rigorous assessment and validation. SPOCs and MOOCs highlight the need for telecommuting students to benefit from the campus environment (Coughlan, 2013; Orwell, 2012). Universities that strive to offer distance and hybrid courses to populations in rural and remote areas may look at this study on distance English learning and take actions to promote universal access to education and social change.

Purpose of the Study

One of the best ways to increase access to higher education is to allow students to learn English to acquire content not always available in languages other than English. In my experience, the more opportunities ESL students have to interact with proficient English speakers, the faster their language skills will develop. According to Surdam and Colins (1984), international students who have daily opportunities to interact with English speakers tend to have a faster improvement of their English skills and a faster adaptation to the local culture when compared with those students who are only exposed to English during ESL class time. According to The Institute of International Education (IIE - https://opendoorsdata.org) and Open Doors (https://opendoorsdata.org/fast_facts/fast-facts-2019/), 57% of the cost for international students in America is funded by their families, and 5.7% by non-US governments and sponsors. Student's work and scholarships fund the remaining 37.3% of the cost. In 2018-2019, international students spent over \$41 billion US dollars and were responsible for supporting over 458,000 jobs in this country. According to UNESCO, in 2019, more than 1,095,299 international students were enrolled in tertiary education in the United States, representing 28% of students outside their home countries (UNECO, 2019). From this total, 22,026 International students in the US were enrolled in Intensive English Programs (IEP) (Open Doors Report, 2019 - the exact number of International students and their families in the US in 2019 was 1,180,334). Per ESL Directory, more than 600 universities in America offer ESL immersion programs for international students (https://www.esldirectory.com/esl-program-search/usa/).

The term "immersive language program" refers mainly to L2 (second language) language coursework delivered in the L2. In immersion programs, the target language is the subject matter and the instruction language. Most immersion programs take place in a country where the target language is the official language. Ideally, students will be exposed to the target language inside and outside the classroom environment. Many universities in America offer ESL immersion programs for international students; however, unless students live in dorms with English speakers, they may not have English language interactions outside the classroom. Unfortunately, due to financial constraints, many international students that enroll in ESL immersion programs live with family or co-national students and do not have many opportunities to practice English outside the classroom (Ma and Garcia-Murillo, 2018).

Students who live with co-nationals may have fewer culture shock issues, but they tend to use mostly their L1 (mother language) throughout the day (Makropoulos, 2010). Since the reality of IEP students is not ideal, alternatives can be designed to help students in the USA and students in their home countries. If an EFL online program provides comparable language interactions, international students would reduce their time living in the USA and still improve their language skills to apply for academic programs. The purpose of this study is to evaluate the efficacy of a program delivered via videoconferences to students living in their own countries, compared to an IEP program.

Linguistics Significance of the Study

Linguistic investigations about the natural processes of language acquisition indicate that language interaction is an essential element in language acquisition, not only on L1 but also on L2 acquisition (Lardiere, 2017). In first language acquisition (L1), the more opportunities a child has to hear utterances directed to her, the faster the language development (on feral children and linguistically deprived children see Vyshedskiy, Mahapatra, & Dunn, 2017).

Although there are many theories on language acquisition, it is vital to understand that adult second language acquisition is different from child L1 acquisition due to literacy, interlanguage (Selinker, 1992), and language transfer (Shatz, 2017). If students are not getting sufficient English exposure in immersion language programs, it is prudent to search for alternatives that would be less expensive and similarly effective for students to learn English in their own countries. Regular English immersion programs take 2 to 18 months, depending on the student's language level arriving in the country. Campbellsville University, the university that hosted this investigation, has an intensive ESL – 8 weeks F2F - summer program that served as the control for this study. The pilot online synchronous EFL program also lasted eight (8) weeks.

The following research questions were addressed in this study to investigate the similarities between the two programs (IEP and EFL videoconferences):

RQ1. Are there significant differences in the pre-post language learning outcomes within a fully online synchronous EFL program and within an in-person ESL program? RQ2. Is the learning outcome of students in a fully online synchronous EFL program comparable to that of students in an in-person ESL program?

Anticipated Benefits of an Online EFL Program

The purpose of this study is to evaluate the efficacy of a program delivered via videoconferences and a Learning Management System (LMS) to students living in their own countries, compared to an IEP program. Students were exposed to English in both language programs and had plenty of language interactions with other English speakers and instructors. Students' language proficiency was measured with an English Placement Test (EPT) at the start and end of the 8-weeks program. In both programs, students had an improvement in their English. In the complete IEP program, students learn how to write academic papers, make class presentations, and acquire the necessary skills to succeed in American universities.

The pilot course was at the intermediate English level, but a complete EFL program will have six intermediate-level courses and six advanced-level courses. Since students will not be required to move to America during the EFL, they will be saving money while acquiring the language competence to be admitted at the university. Although one of the program premises is to shorten the time students are enrolled in the ESL program, the university would still be recruiting international students, and the EFL program would assist students to become collegeready before moving to the USA. The EFL program would also create opportunities for virtual tours of the campus and interactions with current university students and faculty. It is essential to highlight that the program could also provide a way to help the university's admission department with the selection process, identifying students that show the potential to be successful in rigorous academic programs. EFL instructors would monitor and analyze their students' progress in the online program to recommend acceptance in academic programs.

The EFL online program's long-term expectation is to make sure students improve their English proficiency for academic success (Ameriks, 2009). The program would also introduce students to the American culture to help diminish the culture shock when they come to the US. Some students struggle to learn how to function in a new country and decide to return to their countries without accomplishing the academic goals they had for themselves (Paton, 2007). Being introduced to language and culture while still in their countries would be a less stressful process that might prepare students to become international students in America.

In the globalized world, language learning, and in particular English learning, will benefit individuals and entire communities (Pauwels, 2014). Encounters with languages and cultures will help shape global citizens with broader worldviews and encourage them to promote peace and harmony (Delors et al., p. 17). The Delors Report (2010) advocates for changes that would permeate entire communities believing that education can transform humankind, foster harmonious relationships, promote inclusion, diminish suffering, end oppression (Boff, 1997), and work with diplomacy to reduce rivalry between groups (Delors et al., 2010, p. 11). Unfortunately, higher education is perpetuating inequalities around the world (Selingo, 2013; Ripley, 2012). Based on the belief that education has the potential to stimulate social change and that learning English can increase employability (Shafie and Nayan, 2010), providing access to higher education to all people must be part of the mission of all universities, and in particular Christian universities.

In the following chapter, I describe various topics from the research about online and computer-assisted language instruction. I look at different terms that define the use of computer in the language learning process, describe the various types of devices used in language instruction, the various online platforms utilized to support the language learning process, and the instructional strategies used in distance language learning. I also highlight the findings and the gaps in the literature.

Chapter 2 - Literature Review

My interest in "Transformational Learning" (Mezirow, 1991), and its connections with Paulo Freire's "Pedagogy of Revolution" (Freire, 1970), led me to the concept that higher education might empower individuals and communities to social mobility (Billingham, 2018). We must take advantage of new technologies to create environments where students will use their target language (L2) to collaborate and solve problems. The learning process needs to be efficient and relevant. The literature on e-learning and computer-based technologies in second language acquisition (SLA) reveals the need for investigations into the efficacy of distance language education. I looked into studies examining the use of computer-assisted language learning (CALL) and mobile-assisted language learning (MALL) and could not find comparisons between CALL/MALL efficacy and immersion programs offered in L2-lands (Schenker, 2013).

Language is best acquired when language learners interact with a speech community (Patrick, 2002). Speech communities help individuals deepen their social cohesion making language interaction an integral part of building a sense of belonging (Passos, 2006). Language is naturally learned (acquired) informally and by sociocultural reinforcement (Krashen and Terrell, 1983). Proficient language learners acquire the ability to maneuver in the speech community, function well in society, and negotiate problems to find solutions (Davis et al., 2016). Consequently, to be successful, an online delivered EFL program will need to create the means to forge a speech-community environment (Passos, 2006). By comparing a typical face-to-face (F2F) ESL program (IEP) with an online synchronous EFL program, the study might reveal the existance of no statistically significant differences between these two programs in promoting positive language learning outcomes.

In the literature, I noticed a vast corpus of research about the effectiveness of e-learning and CALL from the perspective of students' experiences and teachers observations (Patrick, 2002; Wiebe and Kabata, 2010); however, there is a lack of evidence about online synchronous language learning efficacy, and also few studies about synchronous language learning via videoconferences. I have isolated a few topics in the literature and identified a lack of research in online videoconferences used in language instruction compared to regular face-to-face immersion language programs.

Baggaley (2013; 2014) claims that there is no lack of studies about best practices in online pedagogy. Technology-based education is here to stay, and according to Rahma and Usman (2020), distance education's effectiveness is unquestionable. However, the research of online language education and the challenges of adding computerized language teaching in ELL programs at the university level are still scarce. Nonetheless, the COVID-19 global pandemic has boosted the need for online learning due to social-distance protocols (Naciri et al., 2020). According to Toquero (2020), the pandemic has impacted higher education students in 188 countries (p. 1). With challenges, there are also opportunities to change the delivery format of tertiary education. This present study will be beneficial in encouraging universities to invest in language distance learning and innovation to reach students wherever they may be, in times of social distance and global pandemic, or because they are in remote areas of the planet physically, socially, or economically distant (Liou, 2009; Markova et al., 2017).

This literature review focuses on understanding the different platforms used to deliver language education and their effectiveness. I have a trifold objective: to understand the different platforms added to face-to-face language education, to look at the viability of using CALL/MALL in a fully online language program, and to look into the experience of instructors and students in online language studies to guide me to the design of an EFL videoconferencing program based on the problems and successes of CALL/MALL (Son, 2014; Thomas et al., 2012).

CALL/MALL and Language Learning

CALL/MALL & SLA

Chapelle (2009) compares the theoretical view of language teaching by professionals in the 1990s with the 2000s. According to Chapelle, the goal of designers of computer-assisted language learning (CALL) was to create learning opportunities for second language acquisition (SLA). Chapelle defends that the connections between SLA and CALL are based on four theoretical parameters: cognitive-linguistic (Universal Grammar hypothesis), psycholinguistic (input/output processing theories), human learning (skill acquisition theory), and language in a social context (language socialization, conversation analysis, sociocultural theory). Chapelle claims that more intentional attention to theoretical approaches needs to be considered during the development of CALL applications and tasks. She also advocates the idea that technologies are transforming the nature of communicative competence. Chapelle's article gave an overview of theories concerning language acquisition and was very helpful for me to decide which theory would serve as the basis for my research. The choice of Krashen's Comprehensible Input hypothesis gave me a better understanding of the importance of designing a treatment that provided opportunities for comprehensible input.

ELL E-learning

In a 2009 study, Halachev (2009) divided 15 students into three groups. Group one attended 85% of traditional lectures (TL) and 15% of blended learning classes (BL), group two attended 50% of TL and 50% of BL, and group three attended only 15% of TL and 85% of BL. Halachev's literature review of the effectiveness of e-learning highlights the following factors that influence learning: learner's attitudes, willingness to participate, course content, course level, teacher's personality and affability, and type and reliability of the technology. For Halachev, effectiveness was determined by successful course completion (Piotrowski et al., 2019). The results indicated that the second group (50% TL and 50% BL) had considerably higher effectiveness levels than the other two groups. Halachev stresses that other subjective factors were at play, and the results indicated that dropout rates are reduced when there was a balance between TL and BL. In this dissertation, I have compared and analyzed the efficacy of traditional face-to-face ESL classes with online synchronous EFL classes, but the measurement of effectiveness is based on test scores. Language learning effectiveness should not be based on course completion but must be evaluated concerning language development.

Butgereit and Botha (2009) describe a study, in South Africa, with a language learning application (Hadeda) designed to encourage primary and secondary school pupils to practice spelling and memorization of English words using their mobile phones. In 2010, a following study by Butgereit et al. (2010) used a web-based application, called *Hadeda*, to be used with school children in their cellphones to practice spelling. The application has a speech technology

system that generates audio clips for the children on their phones or computers via the Internet. The child listens to the words and types into the platform for verification. The study does not report learning results and does not mention the number of children in the study, but presents an African perspective in MALL use, which is scarce in the literature, even though mobile use is common in Africa. The author describes problems faced due to old cell phones, outdated technology, and software problems. Although the authors do not present the results, they claim that cellphones were becoming more accessible and an effective language teaching tool. The digital divide found in all continents and problems with limited access to the Internet may present severe logistical problems for online language courses.

CALL/Distance Learning

In a study to investigate the acquisition of speaking skills in an online distance education course, Volle (2005) recruited 19 Spanish learners, ranging in age from 18 to 40, at the Central Texas College. The study looked at how students improved their speaking skills, particularly pronunciation and conversation, during one semester in a fully online learning environment. The improvement of L2 oral skills in the online course, with no F2F meetings, was examined based on students' pronunciation and language use in two types of recorded speaking activities and two synchronous conversations. To determine students' pronunciation improvements, two audio recordings were collected via e-mail. Students also participated in two Internet (oral) conversations with their instructor. Volle (2005) analyzed articulation scores (pronunciation, stress, and intonation), accuracy scores, and proficiency scores (Thornbury, 2006; Zhang, 2008; 2010). The results indicated significant gains in the area of oral proficiency. Volle claimed that the raters might have had a bias against foreign accents, which could explain the lack of significant gains in articulation. The improvement in oral proficiency may be related to

participants becoming more experienced in recording themselves. Problems with Internet connection and quality of the recordings were some of the technical issues of the study. A similar study today may reveal better results due to the improvement in technology and reliability of the Internet, but Wi-Fi connection is a constant issue in some areas of the globe. Without comparing results with a F2F group, it is problematic to regard language competence improvement to online tools. Considering that this study was done before the iPhone era, the inclusion of videoconferences today creates opportunities for instructors to help students with pronunciation and give them personalized real-time assistance.

Hybrid Language Learning

Al-Jarf (2005) developed a course to teach English grammar online to determine whether online learning to face-to-face grammar instruction would improve students' English competence and attitudes. The results of the study indicated significant differences between the experimental and control groups in grammatical achievement. Al-Jarf concluded that adding an online grammar course helped motivate students and improve their command of English grammar.

According to Blake et al. (2008), EFL forums routinely indicate the importance of adding technology to the curriculum; nonetheless, many teachers profoundly doubt the effectiveness of fully online and hybrid L2 courses. The authors claim that language instructors believe that face-to-face is the best and only way for L2 learners to reach linguistic competence, particularly in oral skills. Blake et al. examined the *Spanish Without Walls* (*SWW*), a hybrid and distance-learning language course offered at the University of California. The study looked at the contribution of technology to improve L2 learning. Three hundred and thirty-four (N= 334) students from the F2F and distance-learning groups took the *Versant for Spanish* test, an automated oral test taken by phone. The study results indicate that students in the F2F, hybrid,

and fully virtual classes reached comparable levels of oral proficiency. Blake et al. highlight the fact that oral-proficiency tests are not sensitive to small gains in speaking ability. The limitation of evaluating student's progress utilizing just one computerized system and one language skill needs to be considered (Leakey, 2011). Understanding the effectiveness of hybrid and fully virtual courses compared with F2F is fundamental to help universities decide to support students begin their language studies in their home countries.

Harrington (2010) states that hybrid courses can replace 20% to 80% of face-to-face sessions with online activities. She remarked that ESL/EFL courses were expected to move to hybrid at the same rate. According to Harrington, the TESOL (Teaching English to Speakers of Other Languages) community needs to be proactive in discussing the repercussions of hybrid courses for ESL/EFL students. She highlights compelling ESL/EFL students' problems adapting to hybrid delivery modes as they are vulnerable to culture shock and might become non-participative and perceive the hybrid environment as hostile. Hybrid courses solve many logistic problems, and it is becoming the preferred delivery method for higher education. However, there are potential problems that must be analyzed from the perspective of ESL/EFL students. The COVID-19 pandemic has demonstrated that IEP students can adapt to hybrid courses, and EFL students can be successful in learning a language through fully online courses (Wu et al., 2011; Toquero, 2020; Naciri et al., 2020). Although Harrington's study (2010) lacks evidential data, it discussed the difficulties of implementing hybrid ESL courses and provided practical suggestions and considerations in executing hybrid ESL/ESL programs.

CALL/MALL/MALU

Jarvis and Achilleos (2013) criticize the acronym CALL (Computer-Assisted Language Learning), insisting that non-native English learners constantly use their digital devices outside

the classroom in their L1 and English. Their study looks into the idea that mobile-based activities in second language facilitate language acquisition. The study looks at the generalized move from CALL to mobile-assisted language use (MALU). The ubiquity of mobile devices has impacted lives in many areas, even amplifying people's social networks and making language learning tools always accessible. Language is a social construct (Moll et al., 2017), and being connected via computers or mobile devices, students interact, and language use becomes an essential component of language acquisition. Jarvis and Achilleos's (2013) study looks at social media use and video watching on mobile devices as part of the movement they call MALU. The study collected data from 23 one-to-one interviews and 56 questionnaires with close-ended questions. The subjects were 18-24 years old students at a UK university ranging from intermediate to advanced English level on the International English Language Testing System (IELTS) score. Students were not restricted to using computers; they used their mobile devices to interact with classmates and complete their language activities. The results indicated that MALL was the preferred medium for interacting with native and non-native English speakers and completing academic tasks. Mobile usage impacts language learning; however, Jarvis and Achilleos did not analyze positive and negative impacts. Social media use of abbreviations, expressions, and informal language can pose a problem for students who are in the process of acculturation and preparing to continue their academic studies (Tso, 2019; Tschirhart et al., 2008). Being aware and able to comprehend different *Englishes* (Monfared and Khatib, 2018; Kusumaningputri, 2020) is essential in different venues. Mobile-assisted language use can bring significant advantages as it expands the possibilities for ELLs to interact with native English speakers from several countries.

Levy (2009) describes many technologies used for second language learning back in the early 2000s. Some of the technologies were used to help students develop their grammar, vocabulary, reading, writing, pronunciation, listening, and speaking. Levy stated that different technologies were more effective in specific learning areas, which led him to investigate the technologies in use. Levy's article explained what each technology brings to the language learning scenario and informed decisions of which technologies to include in the current study and which ones to leave for future studies (Chapman and O'Boyle, 2013; Chapman et al., 2014; Gao, 2006).

Wang and Heffernan (2010) accentuate the vast range of research on pedagogical theories that could justify the use of each different technology for language learning. The authors also raise ethical concerns about online privacy, security, and plagiarism that require research. Instructors and learners are at ground zero of the CALL/MALL movement, and they need to be heard about their experiences and expectations. Wang and Hefferman's focus was to hear from instructors and students' concerns, perceptions, and suggestions for CALL ethical problems. The study surveyed 57 teachers and 255 university language learners in Japan. The results indicate that teachers and students did not perceive that their personal information and privacy were at risk when using CALL systems. Instructors and students expressed a good understanding of their responsibilities concerning ethical issues and believed they were not infringing any laws when using and sharing digital content with their classmates. According to Atanasova (2019), most students and some teachers are not informed about the potential for online security breaches and are not aware of the regulations about sharing digital material online.

Burston (2012a) investigated an European mobile-phone-based project (MobLang) designed to teach basic L2 communicative skills in Albanian, Basque, Irish, Greek, and Turkish to speakers of majority community languages. MobLang lessons were sent to students in an offline media-rich mobile environment. Eighty-five volunteers used the system and provided very positive reviews. No information about the learning outcome was presented.

In a study with forty-five participants (N= 45) from seven countries (India, Japan, Macao, Malaysia, Singapore, Taiwan, and Thailand), Hsu (2013) investigated the student's cross-culture perceptions of the benefits of MALL (mobile-assisted language learning). The participants were given a questionnaire about attitudes towards mobile language learning. The results of the study indicated significant differences among participants from different cultural backgrounds. Though all participants expressed a positive experience with MALL, no measure of the system's efficacy in language learning was presented. There was merit in the study to indicate positive experiences MALL; however, more investigations about MALL effectiveness need to be done to justify the implementation of MALL as an additional tool to be used in ESL programs and EFL programs.

In 2013, Wang and Smith (2013) developed a three-year study to examine the benefits and problems of using cell phones to improve English reading and grammar skills. Fifty-six students received the lessons on their cellphones and answered questionnaires. The results indicated that the success of the mobile-learning project was dependent on five elements: 1) engaging learning materials and short activities (Prince, 2014), 2) teacher-student interaction and monitoring, 3) student interactivity, 4) privacy, and 5) safety of the mobile-learning platform. Wang and Smith stressed that most of the materials and grammar activities used in the project were developed by university teachers, and some of the reading materials were composed by native-English students, which substantially reduced the cost of the project. The readings included English jokes, riddles, cultural differences, proverbs, idioms, entertainment, the environment, English learning methodology, science and technology, and politics. Twenty percent of the students (20%) said that they read all the materials, forty students (71%) claimed to have read almost all of the materials, and five students (9%) said that they had not read any materials. Wang and Smith did not measure the learning outcomes in reading comprehension and grammar. The participants expressed a preference for using their mobile devices in comparison with computers. Thirty-three students (59%) claimed that this was the first time they used cell phones to learn anything. Since the study was done in 2013, it would be interesting to investigate if that perspective has changed over the years. There are applications for so many different activities today that the notion of a phone as a learning tool is no longer uncommon.

Heift and Schulze (2015) discuss the importance of technology in language learning and its benefits in supporting critical thinking, collaborative learning, and human interaction. According to Heift and Schulze, technology is fundamental to enrich the learning experience, and they claim that through CALL, language learners may expand their contact with other language learners and instructors. The article describes CALL's history and explains how the technology is now being developed primarily for *iCALL*, where artificial intelligence (AI) tries to recreate the natural language process (NLP). They state that NLP will not be focused only on grammar error detection and pronunciation, *iCALL* will be directed to support scaffolding language learning to help students develop language awareness (see Vygotsky's Sociocultural Hypothesis in appendix 5). Heift and Schulze discuss the future trends of language learning, where computers and mobile devices will significantly change the field of language teaching if they are programmed to perform linguistic analyses and provide correct and personalized feedback, something that is not a reality yet. Heift and Schulze do not analyze CALL/MALL's efficacy and do not consider the importance of human interaction in language acquisition (Uther et al., 2005a and 2005b). The research for this study comes from the premise that as long as

technology is used as an added tool to promote student-teacher interaction and student-student interaction, blended language learning could be very effective in ESL Programs and fully online EFL programs (Southgate et al., 2011).

CALL/MALL Devices

In this section, I present several studies about using different technologies and devices used in language teaching.

MP3 Lessons

Allan (2007) investigated the use of MP3 players to enhance the writing skills of students of German (L2). The course had a website with downloadable podcast lessons, vocabulary lists for memorization, pronunciation practices, and 28 poems from Johann Wolfgang von Goethe. The students appreciated the inclusion of poems and said they used the lessons, poems, and activities on a PC rather than MP3 players. Al-Jarf (2012) describes the effects of using MP3 L2 English lessons (TalkEnglish) on oral skills development. Al-Jarf studied a group of 44 students in F2F instruction-only compared to 46 students in an Experimental Group receiving F2F and MP3 lessons accessible via mobile phone, MP3 player, and computer. The pre and post-tests results indicated that students in the Experimental Group outperformed the Control Group in listening and speaking, which could be explained by the additional language exposure the Experimental Group received with the MP3 lessons.

In a study on listening activities using MP3 players compared with mobile-assisted speaking activities, Demouy and Kukulska-Hulme (2010) concluded that the phone users preferred to use the system at home since interactive speaking activities were not easy to do in front of others. Students were asked to work independently while receiving support from peers and tutors. Two groups of 35 students participated (one using iPod/MP3 players, the other using
mobile phones). The authors suggest that mobile devices can support the practice of listening and speaking skills effectively. Students claimed that iPods and MP3 players increased their contact with the language. Mobile devices can augment the time students spend in L2 and increase their learning experience (Plough et al., 2008). However, students' language improvement should not be based on self-reported questionnaires, but the factors contributing to improved language skills should be identified (Plough et al., 2008; 2010; 2011; 2018). The factors that promoted language improvement could have been motivation (Terrell, 2011), pedagogy or collaboration, and not necessarily the iPod/MP3 language activities.

So far, the literature is evidencing that MALL is an efficient tool to be added to the language teaching arsenal; however, language is learned in context and through interactions with native and non-native language speakers. Combining MALL and human interaction may be the best strategy to help students augment their language exposure, motivating them to learn a second language in a similar way they learned their first language (Krashen and Terrell (1983).

MALL – iPods

Amemiya et al. (2007) describe the use of vodcasts (podcasts with video) to support L2/L1 word-pairs learning. Each vodcast was a 5-second still or moving image with the pronunciation of the L2 word, spelling, and the L1 equivalent displayed in the subtitles. A PC application (MultiPod) transfers the vodcasts to iTunes for downloading to iPods. Ten Japanese university students used the system for two months and took a vocabulary post-test. The results indicate that the system was effective for vocabulary learning; however, there was no comparison of learning outcome with students that did not use the MultiPod system.

PDA Multimedia

Chen, Chang, Lin, and Yu (2009) describe a study of a context-aware collaborative writing system (Context-Aware Writing) that used PDAs equipped with RFID (radio frequency identification) tag readers to allow children to read and write L1 Chinese in different locations, to communicate, and peer-review their writing. Twenty-five third-graders used the system for eight weeks, and their writing improved compared to a Control Group with 28 students. The authors state that there were some issues with lack of training and the small screen size, but most students were content with the system.

Anaraki (2009) studied the effect of twelve mobile flash-based multimedia lessons on L2 English learning. The system was used for four weeks by 76 university students with smartphones and PDAs (personal digital assistants). Students expressed higher satisfaction levels with pronunciation and listening skills activities after receiving three lessons per week and independently studying them. The post-tests revealed significant improvement by all students. No control group was mentioned in the study.

To investigate the effect of a PDA-based vocabulary learning app on L2 English proficiency, Chen and Chang (2011) had one hundred sixty-two (162) university students using the PDA program for two weeks. One group (N= 81) had access only to the audio, and the other group (N= 81) accessed the audio and text. No significant effect was observed on task performance between the two groups; however, students with access to the dual-mode (audio and text) outperformed their counterparts. No consideration was made about the type of learner each student was, which seems to play a part in preference of sound or text delivery. This article provided helpful information regarding the addition of multiple forms of media to the current study design. Chen, Chang, and Yen (2012) study the effect of the presence or absence of a written transcript in L2 English listening-comprehension tests. The study used a PDA-based test with 87 university students. The results indicated that the lower-level English students benefited from the transcripts, but the transcript did not affect the English listening comprehension of the advanced students (see Miller et al., 2019).

Translation/Reading Devices

Chang and Hsu (2011) had a follow-up study based on Hsu, He, and Chang (2009) about the effectiveness of a PDA/web-based translation/annotation application on L2 English reading comprehension. The 2011 study had forty-three (43) university students using the application individually and collaboratively for in-class reading. Testing revealed that groups of 2-4 students achieved significantly higher scores than individual students or groups of five students. Eighty percent (80%) of the students considered the system effective and user-friendly. Chiang (2012) study the use of Kindle e-books in contrast with printed books in an L2 English reading course to understand if students would be equally motivated independently of the format of the books. Thirty-four (34) university students read a novel with half using the e-reader and half a printed book. The study results indicate that the levels of motivation were not significantly different between the two groups.

MALL/WLAN

Chen, Li, and Chen (2007) tested a context-aware vocabulary learning system for L2 English operated on PDAs linked to a web server database via an indoor WLAN that identified the learner's location and delivered vocabulary based on location, current time, free time available, and learner's ability. This personalized learning system can be very engaging, particularly if it could be used in collaborative learning. Chen and Li (2010) tested a prototype PDA/WLAN-based context-aware L2 English vocabulary learning system (PCULS) (WLAN - wireless communication to form a local area network). PCULS was used for two weeks in 12 private locations by 36 high school students. According to Chen and Li, 94% of PCULS users showed vocabulary gains comparable to 67% for non-users. Seventy-two percent (72%) of users claimed to have had a positive experience with the system.

GPS Enabled Devices

Anderson, Hwang, and Hsieh (2008) used a prototype system (Student-Partner) to promote collaborative learning outside of an L2 Chinese classroom. The system worked with GPS-enabled PDAs and had a campus map. Students were required to produce and share audio recordings, video messages, and text notes with location information. The authors indicate that learners were highly satisfied with the system, but no data was collected to measure learning outcomes. Bo-Kristensen, Ankerstjerne, Neutzsky-Wulff, and Schelde (2009) investigated the use of two geotagging applications (Mobile City and Language Guides) to allow high school and university students to use their cellphones to share photos, audio, text, and videoclips with Google-Map geotag information. The photos, videos, audio, and texts were used in class discussions. Bo-Kristensen et al. claim that incorporating geotagging activities might motivate students to use L2 outside the classroom, but no data about language improvement was presented (Chen, C., 2014).

Cheng, Hwang, Wu, Shadiev, and Xie's study (2010) used a collaborative system in PDAs and phones enabled with GPS to promote location-aware L2 English learning. The study integrated desktop, web-based, and mobile technologies into a multimedia forum called Student-Partner. Users retrieved data while exploring the campus and making English presentations. Ten university students used the system for five months, and the results indicate that the activities and the system were considered effective and enjoyable for language learning. No measurement of the learning gains was mentioned.

MALL/Smartphone

Al-Sofi (2021) used an online questionnaire and observations of 270 English learners at the University of Bisha in Saudi Arabia to study smartphone apps' effectiveness in vocabulary acquisition. The findings of the study indicate a positive perception of the use of smartphones for vocabulary acquisition. Al-Sofi claims that the student's age and familiarity with the apps greatly influenced their perceptions. No measurement of vocabulary gain and retention was presented.

Podcasting

Chan, Chen, and Döpel (2008) explored podcasting in L2 German learning in Singapore. Fourteen podcast lessons were sent to 225 university students, one per week. Lessons included listening comprehension, grammar, and culture. Only 6% of students accessed the podcasts exclusively via MP3 players, 70% preferred to access the lesson via PC. Students found the lessons helpful, especially for test preparation. Chan, Chi, Chin, and Lin (2011) had two 10-week long podcast projects with one hundred and twenty (120) L2 Chinese and sixty-one (61) L2 Korean students to ascertain students' perceptions of the podcasts' usefulness in L2 learning. The results indicate positive perceptions of the two groups regarding motivation, expectations, teacher encouragement, and experience with mobile learning (see also Chin et al., 2010).

In a study with 113 students in eight university L2 courses over a semester, Abdous, Camarena, and Facer (2009) evaluated the benefits of integrating podcasts into the L2 curriculum compared to podcasts as a supplemental/review tool. The study's findings indicate that when podcasts were integrated into the curriculum for instruction (e.g., for student video presentations, student paired interviews, and roundtable discussions), students were more likely to use this technology to report educational benefits.

Chi and Chan (2011) describe a three-month podcast project for L2 Korean language beginners. The article discusses the podcast's design, content, and students' access. Students claimed to have a positive experience with the podcasts. The authors conclude that podcasts can be highly beneficial in the development of language learning and highlight the need for further research on the effects of podcasting on language learning.

Abdous, Facer, and Yen (2012) extended a previous study of 2009 comparing the effects of an integrated and a supplemental podcast in L2 university courses. This longitudinal study was conducted at a mid-sized public university in the United States. Based on final grades over four years with 337 students of Chinese, French, German, Italian, Japanese, and Spanish, PIC (podcasts integrated into the curriculum) students' learning outcomes were inconclusive. However, a substantial effect was found with PSM (podcasts as supplemental material) students' results, particularly in upper-level courses. Only about 28% of students used MP3 players to listen to course materials. The conclusion was that the learning outcome of students who used the podcasting-integrated mode was not significant. However, the data indicated a significant effect on students' learning outcomes who used the podcasts as a supplemental resource. The authors mentioned that they did not control for the use of podcasting by instructors and students, and the learning outcome data was based on final grades and self-reporting. The fact that different instructors and different grading parameters were involved needs to be considered in the design of similar investigations (see Abdous, 2015).

MALL/Video-Recording

In a four-week mobile phone-based video-recording project in an L2 French course in Malaysia, Gabarre and Gabarre (2010) studied twenty-two students using their phones in groups to create 5-10 minutes narrated videos promoting a Malaysian tourism website. The participants were from China, Malaysia, and India. The course included 280 hours of intensive French, collaborative tasks, and video-making. Gabarre and Gabarre claim that the videos showed a considerable gain in language performance. In addition to making the videos, the students had to respond to fake complaints from clients using French to provide customer service. The authors discovered that two groups plagiarized their videos; nonetheless, the remaining groups exceeded the expectations with their videos. Gabarre and Gabarre's study seems to be more about collaborative language learning than MALL, and the video recording could easily be used in a F2F classroom, for homework, or in an online class. The language improvement was based on the authors' impressions of the videos and student's self-reporting. I recognize the value of using phones to deliver content and encourage students to work together to solve problems using L2 (Thabit and Dehlawi, 2012).

Gromik (2012) investigated the impact of creating videos with cell phones on L2 English speaking skills. In the study, nine Japanese university students produced 30-second narrated videos. Gromik noted that students voluntarily communicated via SMS to discuss and solve problems in their video creation; some students texted over five times a day during the study. Students demonstrated a 46% increase in word production and a 37% increase in words uttered per second compared to a pre-project evaluation. All students self-reported an increase in their English speaking ability due to producing weekly videos with their cellphones. The students' voluntary use of texting in this study shows that students collaborated and found ways to interact outside the classroom.

MALL and Tablets

Brown, M. (2012) investigated the advantages and disadvantages of using tablet devices (specifically the iPad 2) in L2 English classrooms for video-making tasks. The study found that students' perceptions of success and satisfaction with the activities were significantly high. However, no measurement of language improvement was presented.

Brown, Castellano, Hughes, and Worth (2012) had ninety-six (96) L2 English university students in four groups using iPads to create KeyNote presentations, retrieve web-based multimedia resources, make voice recordings, and access digital handouts. The study results indicated that students were highly satisfied with the iPad in terms of speed and versatility. Brown et al. claimed that the usefulness of the iPad in language learning depended on the type of task, the application being used, and the student's familiarity with the tablet. Tablets are available in different sizes and makers today, and they are commonly used in language learning activities (see Krasulia, 2018). There is no doubt about the usefulness of tablets, particularly for video conferencing, for their larger screens and better sound quality (the most recent smartphones have larger screens with improved image and sound) (Gitsaki, 2014).

Xiao-Bin (2013) investigated students' use of tablet computers to learn English outside the classroom to see if tablets could foster effective independent language learning. Ten freshmen enrolled in an intermediate intensive English reading course were the participants. Xiao-Bin claims that the tablet-computer is the ideal tool for creating an interactive and collaborative environment for language learning. Students had a favorable attitude and high levels of satisfaction towards the treatment. The study did not have a control group, and it is difficult to assume that the use of the tablets caused the independence of learning seen; many other factors could be at play before or during the study. The study about the impact of tablet computers on L2 English reading should have used two groups of students tested before and after the treatment to compare the post-test results between the Control Group and Experimental Group to identify the differences in outcome.

Learning Management Systems (LMS)

In a study about the use of the LMS Blackboard in a university of 5000 students in central Taiwan, Liaw (2008) investigated students during one semester to understand the learner's attitudes toward e-learning via the Blackboard learning management system (LMS). A total of 424 students responded positively to participate in e-learning courses and declared a favorable perception of e-learning effectiveness. The results of Liaw's study indicate that the perceived student's satisfaction with the use of Blackboard was directly related to student's decision to participate in the study. According to Liaw, students that were hesitant to participate in the LMS discussions and activities were the ones that reported low levels of satisfaction. The study did not assess the learned content. The study did not measure the benefits of LMS to learning, which limits the usefulness of the results. Nonetheless, since 2008 LMSs such as Blackboard (blackboard.com), Canvas (instructure.com/canvas), Moodle (moodle.com), Schoology (schoology.com/), Google Classroom (classroom.google.com), Sakai (sakailms.org), Itslearning (itslearning.com), Ilias (https://www.ilias.de/en/), Absorb (absorblms.com), Docebo (docebo.com), D2L (d2l.com), Edmodo (new.edmodo.com/), and others have become the norm not only in distance education but as an added tool in regular in-person education at most schools and universities today (Chen and Almunawar, 2019; Hurd, S. 2000 and 2002).

Learning Management Systems are revolutionizing tertiary distance education (Bervell and Arkorful, 2020), and it is becoming very important in language education as well. Soliman (2014) reports that Moodle helps EFL students to develop independent learning and language skills. Soliman highlights that different activities and resources, such as external tools, discussion forums, quizzes, written lessons, and video lessons, provide extra-class opportunities for EFL students to be exposed to the English language. Soliman concludes that e-learning via Moodle without face-to-face teaching has limitations and recommends the use of Moodle to complement face-to-face language learning. The report does not mention any empirical study to support Soliman's conclusions and recommendations (see Stanford, 2009).

EFL and Chat/CMC

The research on the use of chat in EFL classes is another area of CALL and MALL (Harrington, 2012; Peterson, 2009). The most common theoretical frameworks of this subset of CALL research are the Interaction Hypothesis (Long, 1981), which claims that second language acquisition (SLA) can be strengthened when learners negotiate meaning. Blake (2000) asked fifty intermediate L2 Spanish students to participate in pair discussions using a synchronous chat program called "Remote Technical Assistance" (RTA). Based on the recorded chat entries, Blake concludes that computer-mediated communication (CMC) increases the opportunities for interactions and meaning-negotiation outside of the L2 classroom. The study did not detect evidence of grammatical development. In a study with twenty Korean secondary EFL students using a synchronous chat program, Cheon (2003) claims that CMC is a viable tool to increase the opportunities for L2 students to engage in meaningful negotiations. However, because of language simplifications and abbreviations, the author could not verify any improvement in grammatical competence (MacMillan et al., 2014).

EFL and Discussion Forums/SMS/MMS/CMC

In the middle of the 1990s, e-forums were already being used to encourage student participation and critical thinking (Christopher, Thomas, and Tallent-Runnels, 2004). Under the assumption that computer-mediated communication (CMC) promotes evenly balanced student participation, Warschauer (1996) compared face-to-face and electronic discussions between ESL students. Sixteen advanced composition ESL international students well-versed in the Daedalus InterChange Writing computer program were recruited for the study. Half of the students were asked to participate in face-to-face discussions, and the other half in CMC discussions. The discussions lasted 15 minutes, and the groups switched from the face-to-face to the CMC. The results indicated that the discussions in CMC had higher student participation. According to Warschauer, students in the CMC used significantly more formal and complex language than their counterparts in face-to-face discussions.

Sotillo (2000) investigated students' use of discourse functions and syntactic complexity in asynchronous and synchronous discussions via computer-mediated communication (CMC) platforms. The study results indicated a significant similarity in terms of types and quantity of discourse functions used in synchronous discussions and face-to-face conversations. The use of discourse functions in asynchronous conversations was considerably limited when compared to synchronous and in-person discussions. The study indicated that syntactic complexity was significantly higher in asynchronous conversations, probably due to students having more time to produce and revise their answers. Sotillo recommends using both modes of CMC as tools to encourage collaboration and interaction between ESL students.

Hamzah (2004) explored the use of computer-mediated communication (CMC) in an EFL class of seventy-three university students in Malaysia to see if CMC could encourage SLA.

The study focused on students engaged in discussion forums on current and relevant social, economic, and environmental issues. Students reported that they were glad to monitor and edit their writing before posting on the platform; they were encouraged to participate and perceived the online platform as less stressful than in-person interactions.

In a network-based collaborative project about non-native Spanish speakers communicating with native Spanish speakers, Lee (2004) examines online discussions, surveys, and interviews. The results of this study indicate that online collaboration promotes favorable learning conditions for language production. Lee states that students report being encouraged to use specific vocabulary and grammatical structures during the discussions. The study also indicates some problems caused by the lack of computer skills and age differences. These issues should be taken into consideration for the development of a positive learning experience.

Hamzah (2004) explored the use of computer-mediated communication (CMC) in an EFL class of seventy-three university students in Malaysia to see if CMC could encourage SLA. The study focused on students engaged in discussion forums on current and relevant social, economic, and environmental issues. Students reported that they were glad to be able to monitor and edit their writing before posting on the platform; they were encouraged to participate and perceived the online platform as less stressful than in-person interactions.

Clarke, Keing, Lam, and McNaught (2008) investigate the use of SMS for vocabulary learning in an EFL university course with 19 students in Hong Kong. Daily SMS with vocabulary words were sent to the students. Students reported that receiving the SMS was beneficial, and they enjoyed the experience but demonstrated no interest in paying for the service. Unfortunately, there was no measurement of learning in this study. In a Canadian-Taiwanese study, Chen, Hsieh, and Kinshuk (2008) investigated the effect of using cellphone SMS/MMS to teach students English-Chinese word pairs. One hundred fiftysix (156) Taiwanese university students used the system in a 50-minute in-class session. The findings suggest that learners with higher verbal and visual ability had high scores, and the authors concluded that adding written and pictographic samples improve language learning.

In an Iranian 16-week study of a cell phone SMS-vocabulary program for L2 English, Alemi, Sarab, and Lari (2012) had twenty-eight (28) university students receiving ten words and sample sentences twice a week via SMS. The vocabulary learning scores of the Experimental Group were compared to the scores of a Control Group (N= 17) who used a dictionary to learn the same words. The post-test indicates no significant difference between the groups. However, the SMS group had significantly higher vocabulary retention indicated by a delayed post-test.

EFL and Social Media

In a Chinese study, Borau et al. (2009) describe the use of Twitter with eighty-two L2 English college students for seven weeks. The project evaluated the effect of short informal messages on the communicative and cultural competence of language learners. Using both stationary computers and mobile devices, students generated nearly 800 tweets per week. The study concluded that the out-of-class use of Twitter provided an effective means of fostering communicative and cultural competence without the need for face-to-face contact.

Cavus and Ibrahim (2008 and 2009) investigated wireless technologies in education, focusing on teaching technical English words using Short Message Service (SMS) text messaging. The authors developed a mobile online learning tool (MOLT) and tested 45 undergraduate students at Near Eastern University. A pre and post-test was given to measure the students' vocabulary. The students indicated that they enjoyed learning new words with the help of their mobile phones. The post-tests indicated a four times higher success rate than the pre-tests for learning new technical vocabulary with the MOLT system. Cavus and Ibrahim measured the effectiveness of MALL and the level of satisfaction of students. Unfortunately, they did not compare the vocabulary learning rate of students with typical in-person classes. During the study, random words were sent to students via SMS every half hour. A similar strategy might not be as effective today since this was not an interactive system. Texting word flashcards may not be compelling to all students learning a language. SMS could still be used as a learning tool to encourage students to use language in context as they interact with each other.

In 2009, Gabarre and Gabarre (2009b) recruited university L2 French students in Malasia for a series of studies about student preferences regarding the delivery of grammar notes via SMS (short message service) and MMS (multi-media service) compared to the same information accessible from an e-learning LMS platform. The study lasted 14 weeks, and the results indicate a considerably higher preference for SMS and MMS over LMS. The researchers claim that students seldomly check for course material on the website and only briefly logged on to the course website in the LMS from their mobile devices. In corresponding studies, Gabarre and Gabarre (2009a 2010a) asked students to take pictures with their phone and post them with comments to prompt group discussions and collaboration in an LMS. In a subsequent study, also with Malaysian students learning French, Gabarre and Gabarre (2010b) students took pictures and added audio recordings to create short video clips to post in the class forum, and other students would respond with short videos or written comments. These studies' findings indicated that students were very comfortable using their phones for language learning and became more interested in using the LMS. Students also expressed being more motivated and feeling a sense of community (2010b, p. 99, 105).

Begum (2011) investigated the use of mobile-assisted learning in L2 learning classrooms. The purpose was to understand the benefits and challenges of using SMS-based lessons as a supplemental tool for language activities with 100 Bangladeshi university students. A lesson on English prepositions was SMSed along with a multiple-choice quiz. Students received feedback via SMS from the instructor. The use of SMS-based instruction was analyzed, and feedback from teachers and students was mentioned. Test results indicate a potential and adequacy for cell phones to be used in language teaching and learning. Further investigations are needed to measure how mobile devices might affect L2 learning if utilized as part of the curriculum. Begum (2011) claims that students and instructors complained about the cost of SMS (depending on their provider and cellular service plan), auto-correction, screen size, and lack of training for teachers and students.

In a similar study in Iran, Derakhshan and Kaivanpanah (2011) describe the use of SMS for L2 English vocabulary teaching to university students. The study had 43 students (control N= 22, and treatment N= 21) exposed to 15-20 words per session during a face-to-face teaching meeting. Students in the treatment group were asked to SMS one sentence for each word to their instructor and three classmates. The control group brought their sentences to the classroom. The results of a post-test indicated no significant difference in word retention between the two groups; however, the Experimental Group outperformed the control group in vocabulary gain. No information about the rate of vocabulary gain was found in the article. Begum claims that MALL is beneficial for vocabulary learning; however, no evidence is shown to justify SMS implementation in language learning. The results of vocabulary gain could be based on the fact that the treatment group had the added opportunity to interact with the instructor and three

classmates outside the classroom, increasing the amount of time using the language and the new vocabulary.

Al-Shehri (2011a) studied 33 university students in Saudi Arabia for 16 weeks using mobile phones and Facebook to build a community of English learners. The participants shared photos, videos, and texted about their lives from their cellphones to Facebook and were asked to respond to each other's uploaded materials. The study concluded that social media provides rich learner-generated contextual language learning opportunities for students. Al-Shehri stated that the student's feedback led him to redesign the study to increase the effectiveness of the intervention. Based on Al-Shehri's concept of using student feedback, I decided to design my study using the feedback from friends and family about their use of social media. Al-Shehri (2011b) argues about the potential of mobile-phone-based social networking to create an effective L2 English learning environment that promotes student-centeredness and collaborative language learning. The study indicates that mobile social networking fostered a shift from traditional teacher-directed instruction to a more collaborative and enjoyable student-centered language learning.

Azabdaftari and Mozaheb (2012) conducted a seven-week study to compare the L2 English vocabulary acquisition of 80 university students in Japan. Students used smartphones for collaborative homework. The Experimental Group (N= 40) used a phone-based vocabulary program (Spaced Repetition System) complemented with SMS communications with the instructor. The control group (N= 40) used hardcopies of flashcards containing English words. The results indicated that the Experimental Group significantly outscored the control group. The study stresses that smartphones used in collaborative activities in L2 courses can potentially impact learning outcomes. The results also indicate that adding mobile collaborative activities to EFL classes could positively affect students' learning and long-lasting vocabulary acquisition. The use of pre-tests and post-tests demonstrates a possible effect of using mobile tools on vocabulary learning, but the learning outcome increase could also be due to the collaboration and prolonged language exposure in context through reading, writing, and speaking. The Control Group only relied on memorization of vocabulary, while the Experimental Group was required to use the vocabulary in contextual language and collaboration, a strategy that could be used to teach vocabulary even without cellphones.

Social media plays a fundamental role in the way individuals interact in today's society, and lately, it fosters language transformations and promotes second language learning with easy access to content and human interaction. Derakhshan and Hasanabbasi (2015) consider Facebook, e-mail, and other social media platforms to be practical tools to increase students' English learning. According to Derakhshan and Hasanabbasi, social networks afford intense opportunities for language interaction. Social media facilitates communication between native speakers of English and language learners and can help advance and accelerate students' language skills. For Derakhshan and Hasanabbasi, social networks provide stimuli that are not present in face-to-face classrooms.

Gluchmanova (2018) affirms that some aspects of e-learning are ubiquitous in the educational process. Instructors should use learning management systems to tailor the resources according to the student's need and maximize the quality of teaching and the student experience (p. 189). Kapsargina and Olentsova (2020a) claim that modern life's constant transformations require the implementation of new technologies to keep the pace of learning. Students rarely have enough time to study a foreign language, and the tools that can be provided through Moodle help students develop independence in their learning. In their study, Kapsargina and Olentsova claim to have seen a significant increase in language learning due to the personally-oriented structure of the resources and learning flexibility. Kapsargina and Olentsova (2020b) state that LMS is beneficial in monitoring language learning because LMSs, such as Moodle, enable teachers to check large numbers of students as they log into the system's activities and assessments. According to Kapsargina and Olentsova, any text can be converted into audio files for listening comprehension activities (p. 812), quizzes and games can be offered for grammar and vocabulary learning, discussion forums can encourage students to write, and the students can upload videos for speaking activities (p. 813).

CALL/MALL and Collaborative Learning

In two studies, one in 2009 and a follow-up in 2011, Chang and Hsu (2009; 2011) analyzed the effectiveness of a PDA/web-based translation/annotation system for L2 English reading comprehension. Forty-three Taiwanese university students used a mobile-based system individually and collaboratively for extensive in-class reading during two academic years (2007/2008). The results indicated an optimum number of users in each group for the system to work most efficiently, and groups of two, three, and four students scored significantly higher in comprehension tests than students who worked individually or students in groups of five or more students. The level of satisfaction with the system was 80%, and the system was considered user-friendly. This article highlights the importance of limiting the number of students in collaborative activities to maintain online education and student engagement.

Kuo et al. (2015) stress that educators have suggested that EFL students may never advance their language competence without support. The inclusion of group learning and collaboration might be the best option to maintain student engagement. Based on the literature on the success of the group learning approaches, Kuo et al. argue that online collaborative learning platforms are the best alternative to in-person collaborative language learning. The study was conducted with university EL students using online-based collaborative tasks and comparing their performance with students performing similar tasks without collaboration in conventional in-person classes. According to the study results, the collaborative learning groups outperformed the non-collaborative group, and the students who were in online English collaborative classes outperformed those in the traditional in-person courses. These critical findings led me to decide to include collaborative learning in my study to increase student interaction and boost their language use and exposure to comprehensible input (Krashen, 1994). It is essential to be aware that the results of collaborative language learning will depend on individual learning styles and preferences (Carrell and Anderson, 1994; Ehrman and Oxford, 1990). Although collaboration encourages language learning, introverted students might benefit less due to higher levels of stress (Ehrman, 2008; Krashen and Terrell, 1983). Language skills can be developed when language is used to solve problems, and in collaborative activities, students can negotiate meaning to perform tasks together. Collaborative language learning is a vital part of my research (Zhao, 2016).

Ilic (2015) studied the impact of using smartphones in collaborative activities on the learning habits of L2 students. This one-year-long multiple case mixed methods study (two groups) had fifty-nine undergraduate students (N = 59) divided into two groups, one surveyed in 2011 and the other in 2015. The collaborative activities were available on the class website, accessible by computer and smartphone. Interviews with the students indicated that adding collaborative tasks to an ESL class promoted noticeable effects on students learning behaviors. Ilic claims that the mobile collaborative intervention affected the students' relationships, but he did not discuss how mobile collaborative activities improved students' language skills. There is

no doubt that social interactions can help language learning (Gass & Selinker, 2008); however, Ilic emphasizes that some students formed separate private groups and collaborated in Japanese via SNS (Social Networking Service) (p. 31). Although it is practically impossible to prevent students from interacting on other platforms and use their native language, it would be beneficial to create a private and closed chat group where students are required to use English to communicate with their peers. The instructor would monitor the conversations and interactions as the administrator of the chat group.

Chen, Carger, and Smith (2017) implemented a multiple-case study to explore the learning outcome in L2's narrative writing skills of five ELLs (2 boys and 3 girls, ages 9–13) from ELL families using tablet computers and a digital handwriting app (Penultimate). The study lasted four weeks, students wrote about their experiences, and parents were asked to help the young ELLs using the Penultimate system. According to Chen et al. (2017), the study's major logistical problem was the lack of Internet in some homes. The analysis of essays pre and post-treatment indicate a significant improvement in language production. The ELLs demonstrated a high level of engagement and satisfaction using the Penultimate app. The study required family participation and cultural integration, so the use of MALL cannot be isolated, and to regard the increase in outcome (language production) to the use of MALL is questionable.

CALL/MALL and Gamification

Amer (2010) explored how a group of forty-five (45) L2 English university students used a mobile application (Idiomobile) with a game and customizable quizzes to learn idiomatic expressions and collocations for one week (average usage of 10 hours). The results indicated that the increase in scores was directly related to the number of hours they used the program. Learners claimed that Idiomobile was very effective in helping them to learn idiomatic expressions and collocations.

CALL/MALL and Flipped Language Classrooms.

Chen and Tsai (2009) study a prototype of a location-aware PDA/WAN-based L2 English learning game (WAN - wide area network). The game requires learners to locate a book, integrates virtual objects with real scenes in the university library, and was tested by ten (10) university students. Chen and Tsai state that 90% of the students said the game was entertaining and helpful for learning English. No mention of learning gains was presented. In a 2010 published 2009 report, Chen and Tsai (2010) describe the location-aware PDA/WAN-based L2 English learning game and discuss location detection technologies (RFID, WLAN, Back-Propagation Neural Networks). It would be interesting to use a similar system with students in different countries to share their location information with classmates to locate each other on a global map.

Boticki, Wong, and Looi (2011) recruited 37 L1 Chinese primary school children to play a collaborative learning Chinese and Math character game (Chinese P-P) using smartphones. Students in the Control Group used a card-based version of the game. The results indicate that the Experimental Group was better at collaborating with their peers and their scores were significantly higher than the Control Group (see Wong and Looi, 2010).

Plonsky and Ziegler (2016) describe an analysis of CALL/MALL research corpus. The study compared quantitative results from various studies about CALL/MALL in connection with second language acquisition (SLA). The authors looked at 14 studies about the effect of various types of technology on L2 learning outcomes. The major types of technology were: translation, computer-mediated communication (CMC), and game-based language learning (GBLL). Plonsky

and Ziegler suggest that L2 learners using CALL might have better learning outcomes than those in traditional face-to-face-only contexts. Their analysis indicates significant benefits of CALL in comparison with non-CALL/MALL contexts. Nonetheless, the impact of game-based language learning was inconclusive. Plonsky and Ziegler claim that more research will be needed to clarify the efficacy of game technology for L2 learning. According to the authors, the language improvement observed with CALL/MALL may be due to the addition of L2 exposure time, not necessarily due to the type of technology used. Plonsky and Ziegler highlight that studies differ in terms of sample size, research setting, educational context, L2, types of tasks, exposure time, and testing instruments. The study stresses the shortage of studies that measure the impact of CALL compared with the addition of L2 exposure. In my study, I am comparing F2F with an EFL via videoconferences (CALL/MALL) since the time of language (L2) exposure will not be added but subtracted to understand if a computer-assisted language interaction can produce similar language outcomes.

Wang (2016) investigated a mobile-assisted learning system (Cross-device Mobile-Assisted Classical Chinese learning system) to teach classical Chinese to teenagers in a flippedclassroom approach. The participants were fifty-six students from two classrooms in Taiwan. Wang compared the test scores of students who used the CMACC system to those who did not use it. The results indicate that students in the CMACC group outperformed the students who used textbooks only. Wang observed that students who used the mobile-assisted learning system were more motivated than their counterparts. Although this study was limited to an Asian country, teenagers, and Chinese learning, it indicates the benefits of implementing collaborative and computer-assisted systems in language e-learning.

Intelligent Tutoring Language System.

Evens et al. (1997) state that in 1992 there was an intelligent tutoring system (ITS) capable of using input and output natural language to identify and analyze syntax, spelling, sentence fragmentation, and lexical ambiguity (p. 14), it was a system designed to have conversations with students of medicine to help them understand cardiovascular physiology.

Ferreira and Atkinson (2008) investigate using an intelligent tutoring system for learning a Foreign Language. They speculated about the possibility of incorporating two teaching strategies in AI systems for computer language tutoring (Dodigovic, 2005). The first strategy would be giving-answers to emulate a teacher that directs students to become aware of their errors by giving them the correct language form or indicating the error, and the second strategy is prompting-answer where the system would emulate a teacher that indirectly encourages students to become aware of their errors and correct them.

In a study about the effect of using mobile phones with an intelligent tutoring system (ITS) for language learning, Troussas, Virvou, and Alepis (2014) used an application with an ASR (automated speech recognition) component to diagnose language errors. Through collaboration, students help their peers, discuss complex problems, and solve problems. The program mimicked real instructors. According to Troussas et al., the students and teachers who evaluated the system expressed high satisfaction levels. The study lacks an evaluation of language performance gains. The results seem to confirm the usefulness of collaborative and computer-assisted learning, but it remains at the student/teacher's satisfaction level. Student satisfaction is an essential element in learning, but pre and post-test should always be used to measure the system's effectiveness in helping students improve their language skills.

Alhabbash et al. (2016) state that Intelligent Tutoring Systems (ITS) are now being designed to help students learn English grammar. The system describes and explains English grammar topics followed by automatically generated questions to stimulate students to answer. The tutoring system was adaptive to help individual students progressively advance to higher levels of grammatical complexity. The students and teachers who used the ITS reported higher satisfaction levels.

Abu Ghali et al. (2018) had students and teachers from various age groups use and evaluate an Intelligent Tutoring System (ITS) that automatically adapted to the student's level of instructions and offered instant feedback without human instructors' support. The ITS was designed to interact with students via reading (output) and writing (input). The authors concluded that students recognized the potential of ITS to help them study English grammar and suggest that ITS could be used to help language learners in listening, speaking, and writing. Programs such as Rosetta Stone (www.rosettastone.com) and Duolingo (www.duolingo.com) claim to have adaptive platforms tailored to provide lessons according to strengths and weaknesses of individual students, but their focus is more on the audio-lingual method (ALM) and repetitions than the adaptive language learning with ITS (Kerr, 2016; Loewen et al., 2019; Munday, 2016; Perlmutter et al., 2016; Teske, 2017; Lambropoulos, 2008 and 2009).

Speech Recognition and EFL.

Ahn and Lee (2016) analyzed and evaluated students' experience using a mobile-based speech recognition technology application funded by the South Korean government. The study had 302 (N = 302) middle school students, using an ASR (automatic speech recognition) prototype of the application *Speaking English 60 Junior* in their mobile phones for two weeks in and out of English classes. The results indicated that students had a positive attitude towards the

use of the application and expressed their appreciation for the instantaneous feedback. Although the authors highlight a positive potential of ASR for English learning, the study did not consider student's speech improvement. Pre and post-tests could have been used to evidence speech development. The fact that students used the ASR prototype for only two weeks, and there is no mention of the number of hours students were using the system, makes me question the results on the efficacy of ASR in language learning. Studies on ASR should help us understand the impact of ASR applications in L2 speaking. Based on the literature cited by Ahn and Lee (2016), CALL and MALL incorporated with ASR could allow language learners to improve oral competence and pronunciation because students can use the system outside the classroom, "lowering speaking anxiety." (Ahn and Lee, 2016, p. 780).

CALL/MALL and Testing.

Ally et al. (2007) describe a tutorial program accessible via web-enabled mobile devices to teach L2 English remedial grammar to adult learners. The program had 86 lessons with exercises. The authors concluded that the 100 adult learners in the study had a positive attitude about using a mobile phone to learn English grammar. Browne and Culligan (2008) used a free English language learning application, for PCs and mobile phones, with an algorithm to analyze what high-frequency words still need to be learned by the students. Once the vocabulary deficiency was identified, the study used the program *Word Engine*, a language system from Japan, to teach words using digital flashcards, language games, intercalated repetition, reading exercises, and listening materials. Ally et al. also discuss Item Response Theory (IRT) and Computer Adaptive Tests (CAT) in assessing L2 learners' lexical ability, which is essential in English placement testing. IRT and CAT are used in the TEOFL, SAT, and GRE (Oliveri and Lawless, 2018). A similar analysis about IRT and CAT is done by Hashim et al. (2017).

Wagner (2007) states that the lack of research about the use of video in L2 teaching has created a misunderstanding about the extent to which L2 listeners watch videos when taking a video test. The study investigated the behavior of test-takers on an L2 video listening test. The study had thirty-six test-takers who were video-recorded while taking a listening test to monitor the time test-takers looked at the video. The data indicate that participants looked at the video 69% of the time and looked at the video more during dialogues (67%) than lectures. It would be relevant to measure how listening comprehension was affected by the amount of time a student looked at subtitles during the test. The general impression among English instructors is that it is not advantageous for L2 students to be reading captions or subtitles while doing listening tasks. It is believed that L2 students may be hindering their listening comprehension ability when they read subtitles and consequently slowing down the comprehension process (Metruk, 2018; Napikul et al., 2018).

Chen and Chung (2008) tested an L2 English vocabulary learning system with Item Response Theory (IRT) algorithms and a learning memory cycle. The system was accessible via PDAs linked to a remote management server. The system prompted vocabulary words, generated tests, and assessed performance. The study had 15 university students using the system for five weeks, and the results revealed modest levels of improvement in vocabulary learning. Chen and Hsu (2008) tested a prototype web-enabled PDA-based reading/vocabulary system (PIMS) used by fifteen (15) L2 English university students for five weeks. The system also used Item Response Theory (IRT) algorithm that recommended English news articles to learners and automatically identified unfamiliar words for review. The study results confirmed that the system could recommend appropriate news articles to individual learners regardless of their reading abilities. There was no mention of learning outcome.

Chi-Fen and Wei-Yuan (2008) inform that automated writing evaluation (AWE) software is designed for instant output computer-generated scores and feedback on essays. According to the authors, most studies on AWE, up to 2008, focused on evaluations of language aptitude; however, Chi-Fen and Wei-Yuan's study investigated the student's perception of AWE's effectiveness as a pedagogical tool in writing classes. The study had 68 students upperintermediate level EFL university students in Taiwan, using MY Access! (Version 5.0), an AWE program (Vantage Learning, 2007; Yang, 2004). The study explored the student's perceptions of AWE effectiveness to improve writing skills. The study's findings indicate that AWE was not perceived very positively by the students in terms of improving their writing skills. However, students claimed that AWE was beneficial in the drafting process. The students also appreciated the feedback from the teacher and peers. Chi-Fen and Wei-Yuan determined that AWE as a writing coach tool without human facilitation was frustrating for students. Teachers also voiced severe concerns toward the use of AWE as a writing coach. Vendor-funded studies on AWE programs (Vantage Learning, 2007) suggest significant improvements in standardized writing tests. However, almost thirteen years after this study, AWE's use is still very limited in EFL classes at major universities and schools, and the efficacy of AWE is still being questioned (Wilson and Roscoe, 2020). It would be relevant to compare the writing assignments of ELL students using AWE with those who do not use AWE and compare pre and post-writing assignments to measure the level of improvement or lack thereof.

Baleghizadeh and Oladrostam (2010) investigated the benefits of using cellphones to record L2 English short speeches. Twenty (20) university students recorded 2-3 minute speeches on their phones to analyze spoken mistakes. Students demonstrated significantly higher grammatical accuracy than a control group (N=20) that did not use phones. Başoğlu and

Akdemir (2010) describe a six-week study on the effectiveness of a cellphone-based flashcard application (ECTACO) for L2 English vocabulary acquisition. The study was done with 30 university students using the application and a Control Group of 30 students (N= 30) that used printed flashcards. The multiple-choice pre and post-tests indicated that the experimental group significantly outscored the Control Group. The students in the experimental group claimed that learning English vocabulary on a cellphone was more effective and entertaining.

Crossley and McNamara (2013) studied automated assessment platforms related to speech, language use, and topic development. The automated system simulated human judgments of proficient speech in a second language (L2). The study analyzed 244 transcribed TOEFL speech samples. The overall variance in terms of the automated systems was 52% lower than the human rating variance. According to Crossley and McNamara, the study provides evidence for the predictive capacity of automated language assessment. Since the study used only two human raters, it can be assumed that having a larger number of human raters would improve the understanding of the variance in human judgment indices, which would provide a better comparison with automated assessment systems. Even with a complex rubric, the assessment of students' speech ability will vary substantially depending on the instructor (Berzak et al., 2018). To avoid discrepancies, having three instructors could assess the same student to get a better average of the results. Assessing speech competence is not an easy task because students may be anxious, have good listening comprehension, but not a vast vocabulary and raters may ignore grammatical errors if students communicate ideas in a logical format. Automated assessment platforms cannot consider the student's emotional status and, consequently, be less acquiescent than human raters.

Xu and Ding (2014) used two programs, the "Inputlog 4.0" and the "Camtasia 6.0" to record the writing process of twenty-four (24) Chinese EFL students. The participants had at least four years of computer experience. The authors explored L2 writers' pausing patterns in computer-assisted writing to understanding how pausing patterns would be related to writing time allocation, writing fluency, and text quality. The results suggest that while skilled writers allocated significantly less time to prewriting, they paused significantly longer than the less-skilled group. The two groups displayed no significant difference in pause frequency or duration in the composing stage. Text quality correlates positively with prewriting pause duration and writing fluency but negatively with the prewriting time. The results suggested that web-search and dictionary use positively impacted the quality of the writing activities. Xu and Ding (2014) concluded that computer-assisted L2 writing offers a distinct advantage to L2 writers using only pen-and-paper for writing; however, no data was presented to demonstrate that the study compared the effect of computer-assisted L2 to the pen-and-paper alone.

EFL and Videoconferences.

The use of videoconferences in language classes is not a new teaching strategy (Loranc-Paszylk, 2015), but it has become a trend due to the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020 (White, Zheng, and Skyrme, 2020). Looking at videoconferencing as a possible substitute for the face-to-face language classroom, McAndrew, Foubister, and Mayes (1996) describe a study done with a videoconferencing system called Hipernet (based on GBN, a privately-owned optical-fiber backbone network used to connect various Cambridge University institutions). The system was designed to establish video-mediated communication between learners and instructors. The system also allowed content sharing between participants. The authors report that students had the opportunity to work with partners remotely, via videoconference, and also worked together in

person at the same location. The study indicates no significant difference between the student's presentations using Hipernet and in-person presentations without computer assistance. The results suggest that videoconferencing is suitable to support collaborative task-based language learning (McAndrew, Foubister, and Mayes, 1996; Dörnyei, 2014; Li, 2013; Thomas and Reinders, 2010).

Coverdale-Jones (2000) states that by the end of the 1990s, the technology for videoconferencing was still unreliable; however, universities were exploring the use of videoconferences in remote presentations and lectures and studying its application to human interaction (p. 28). On the same concept of promoting student interaction, Yuping Wang (2004) claims that the software NetMeeting (a famous audio/videoconferencing and instant messaging application included with Microsoft Windows 95 to XP) was an appropriate computer-mediated communication (CMC) tool to support distance language learning via student-student and teacher-student interaction. Wang (2004) states that videoconferences have great potential in terms of written, oral, and oral-visual interaction.

In a study with ten ELE (*Español como lengua extranjera*/Spanish as a Second Language) students from an American university and ten EFL students from a Spanish university, O'Dowd (2000) asked the participants to make home videos about their cities and culture, and mail them to the students in the opposite country. The students also had three videoconferences (via Integrated Services Digital Network, a telephone line used to transmit voice and video) to discuss the topics of the videos. The students were in their classrooms as a group in their own countries. Students reported having a positive experience in language and intercultural learning via videoconferences. In a follow-up study about task-based via CMC, Wang (2006) argues that the negotiation of meaning in a desktop videoconferencing system (NetMeeting 3.01) approximates the interactions in a face-to-face L2 classroom (p. 123). The study had three university students interacting with their instructor in Chinese (L2) on-campus and five students from the distance learning program interacting with the instructor via videoconferences (five sessions). The study indicates a high frequency of communication breakdown in videoconferencing, but the author concludes that these breakdowns encouraged L2 meaning-negotiation.

Lin (2007) investigated the learners' perceptions of videoconferencing by thirty-seven college students in Northern Taiwan using videoconference activity between groups in addition to in-class discussions. In questionnaires and semi-structured interviews, students reported having a positive change in attitude and a perceived improvement in their language skills and cultural awareness. Students also claimed an improvement in confidence to use English in their presentations and discussions. Similar student perceptions were reported by Michael Marek (2008) and Vivian Wu in their research on Internet videoconferencing and EFL learning. Their findings demonstrate a positive student perception of the collaborative interactions and a self-report enhanced motivation. Students praised the instructional design, the inclusion of interesting topics, and authentic interactions with native speakers as the causes for their perceived language improvement.

In 2010, Xiao, Yang, and Zhang (2010) investigated the effects of an Internet-based desktop videoconferencing for interactions between twenty undergraduate English major Chinese students and English native-speakers in America. The Chinese students were considered intermediate English level. The English Speech class was taught by native speakers and lasted for two hours a week. The treatment group (N=10) used Skype 2.0 to talk with English native-

speakers for one hour a week. The face-to-face group (N=10) had one-to-one (one-hour) conversations with a native-speaker English instructor at the university. The results indicate a significant improvement in fluency; however, no enhancement in language complexity. Students perceived a considerable enhancement in their language fluency and said that videoconferencing "creates a comfortable, spontaneous, and less threatening environment for L2 learners" (p. 118).

In another study about students' perceptions of the advantages and disadvantages of integrating videoconferencing in the L2 classroom, Jung (2013) had university students from Korea interacting via videoconference with students from Japan, Singapore, Philippines, Hong Kong, Taiwan, and Malaysia. The study results indicate that most students perceived videoconferencing as an effective tool to improve language acquisition. Students stated that videoconferencing with students from other countries encourages cross-cultural understanding and engagement in two-way communication (see Wu, 2016).

Wu, Marek, and Chen (2013) claim that most studies on CMC benefits for EFL learning are based on questionnaires and interviews with students. Their study analyzed students' essays and pre and post-tests of oral performance. In the study, 16 Taiwanese EFL students had videoconferences discussions about culture with a native speaker from the United States. Wu et al. state that the sample size was too small for statistical analysis (N = 16; see Wu et al., 2013, p. 519); however, students' verbal scores improved on average 44.5% by the end of the study, and the essays had evidence of critical thinking. Students praised the instructional design of the class, demonstrated a positive attitude, and spoke about having enhanced their assertiveness in using English (see Marek, 2008 and 2014, June and July).

In a collaborative study between one college in the US and one in China, Lu, Goodale, and Guo (2014) had forty-five Chinese pre-service teachers and five American undergraduates participate in a 10-week online videoconference project. The results indicate that videoconference sessions with native English speakers positively impacted the English pronunciation and fluency of the Chinese students, but no significant difference was found in terms of confidence.

Concerned with the poverty of comprehensible input and output in EFL classes, Eguchi (2014) investigated cross-cultural video conferencing benefits. Eguchi asked eight Japanese and seven Mexican university EFL students to engage in uni-cultural (students from the same country) video conferencing and cross-cultural video conferencing (between Japanese and Mexican students). The number of students' utterances was measured in interactions with conationals and students from the opposing country. The findings indicate that students' language production and meaning negotiation were noticeably higher in cross-cultural discussions, which led the author to conclude that cross-cultural videoconferencing is an effective strategy to engage students in meaningful interactions.

In a study about synchronous computer-mediated communication (SCMC) used by EFL learners, Alshahrani (2016) had thirty-six (36) Saudi Arabian university EFL students interact with two native English speakers via videoconferences. Alshahrani assessed students' performance, and the findings indicated a low improvement in student's speaking proficiency but a positive attitude about videoconference as a learning tool.

In a study with two instructors and twenty-five ESL students of advanced writing classes, Vurdien (2019) highlights the benefits of using desktop videoconferencing to offer students opportunities to practice their L2 oral skills outside the classroom. Vurdien's study had the students divided into two groups, one with task-based activities via Zoom and the other with similar tasks in a face-to-face class. The findings indicate that the videoconferencing group outperformed the face-to-face group. Vurdien claims that students in the video conference group were encouraged to negotiate meaning and consequently improve their confidence and communicative competence.

El-Khatib (2020) states that due to the COVID-19 pandemic, online education is becoming the norm, and video conferencing can support distance language learning in higher education. El-Khatib looks at studies on videoconferencing systems such as desktop videoconferencing (VCM), interactive video-conferencing (VCI), and web video-conferencing (VCW), highlighting the benefits and challenges in terms of access and learning experience. Concerning previous studies about videoconferencing in higher education, El-Khatib concludes that all videoconferencing systems offer similar challenges and benefits. The major challenges are technical issues, computer illiteracy, lack of motivation, and fear of notoriety. The benefits are access to shareable content, interaction and collaboration with instructors and classmates, and opportunities to solve problems and meaning negotiation.

Considerations About the Literature.

The literature review indicated that past studies were primarily focused on understanding how to transform language learning through virtual learning environments (Von Der Emde et al., 2001). Studies have highlighted the need to find best practices in online language learning (Felix, 2004; White, 2016) and even indicated the benefits of peer-to-peer feedback and telecollaboration (Ware and O'Dowd, 2008; Belz, 2002). Mobile devices are ubiquitous in society, and the advances in speech recognition technology have led scholars to investigate the effect of MALL as an added tool in F2F language teaching (Baleghizadeh and Oladrostam, 2010). Unfortunately, most studies are limited to a short period of time and focus on student satisfaction using CALL/MALL, not measuring the language learning improvement after the treatment.

When it comes to the effectiveness of e-learning in the process of language acquisition, the literature is limited to studies that looked at self-reported student satisfaction and teachers' perceptions of how easy or difficult it is to incorporate CALL/MALL technologies into in-person language classrooms (Zou, 2014). The literature review indicates a gap in understanding how effective online synchronous videoconference platforms would be for language learning. According to Burston (2015), in about twenty years of studies about mobile-assisted language learning (MALL), from 1995-2015, "statistically reliable measures of learning outcomes are few and far between" (p. 16). Burston also claims that from the 291 studies he analyzed, only thirty-five met the minimal criteria of duration and sample size to be considered reliable, ten were executed in less than a month, and sixteen had serious design problems. Only nineteen studies consistently indicated learning outcomes of mobile-based language applications (see also Burston, 2012b). Over 400 studies were reviewed, confirming the scarcity of CALL/MALL studies that measure learning outcomes.

This literature review discussed the results of studies about online language education and some of the challenges of implementing online language teaching in ELL programs at the university level. The focus was to learn if CALL/MALL could provide effective language education to international students enrolled in ESL programs at American universities and also help EFL students in their home countries. The motivation for this study came due to informal observations of international students struggling to adapt to American values, undergo language/culture shock at Intensive English Programs (IEP). An important goal for the ELL teacher is to provide resources to students and facilitate their learning process. The benefits of online learning, especially for higher education, are inquestionable; regrettably, many online courses lack student-teacher and peer-to-peer interactions (Avery et al., 2006) that are fundamental to keep students engaged (Schapiro, 2003). Language students undergo crises and culture shock that impede the development of their second language competence. Some students from the same country of origin share living accommodations and end up speaking their mother tongue for most of their day. Students with low levels of English go through a very intense culture shock experience, and many have to return to their countries because they do not master the language neither gain the academic skills to be successful in college (Meyer, 2014). The longer students stay in an IEP, the harder it is for them to transition to college credit courses (see Amos, 2013, for an overview of the dropout dilemma of ELL students in K-12 schools).

In the case of international students, the reasons for dropouts are the exhaustion of funding, a decrease in motivation, and a growing sense of inability (Amos, 2013). English learning can be improved to reduce the time students spend in immersion ESL programs, and students must be trained for the academic demands of higher education (Kasemsap, 2017). The mission of the English as a Second Language department is to help students expedite their language learning and be successful in college. At the start of this research, it was uncertain that language learning could be done entirely online because language learning is more than acquiring vocabulary and grammar; language learning is acquiring culture, context, perspectives, and values. Because human interaction and experiences with a speech community are essential (Patrick, 2012), the EFL Videoconferencing Pilot design focused on incorporating plenty of opportunities for human interaction.
Selingo (2013) affirms that we cannot rely merely on the adoption of new technologies to reinvent higher education, which is also confirmed in the case of English as a Second Language, when different technologies are introduced to ESL/EFL courses (Abdous, M. (2015). Technologies should be used efficiently to improve access to content. Nonetheless, the most revolutionary change must happen regarding adopting the vision of teachers as personal trainers or coaches. I also appreciate the notion of peer-to-peer instruction and collaboration (Hargreaves, 1994). Based on these premises, I have been trying to use different platforms in my courses and assignments to test the effectiveness of these tools in giving my students better opportunities to learn. All of my International students have mobile devices and find themselves at ease with technology (Persson and Nouri, 2018). However, most of them have a tough time with collaboration. They value and respect the instructor; nevertheless, they do not see value in their peer's inputs. I am still testing in class and online activities to help students develop communication skills, collaboration, self-motivation, critical thinking, and social responsibility.

In face-to-face sessions, I have students help each other, and also during web conferences, I ask students to connect with a peer to learn how to participate in the discussions, but when I see that they need extra help, I offer assistance. I try to nurture collaboration and give the necessary support for my students to excel; however, I was unsure what technologies work best on language learning and how effective they are compared to only face-to-face learning. This study has helped me see that we could create a speech community for language learners to thrive through video conferencing.

Even small private universities that have seen a boom in their online and hybrid programs (Biddix, Chung, and Park, 2014) know that the trend of having one hundred or more students in one hybrid class is unsustainable. At the university hosting this study, there are more than 8000

students enrolled in hybrid graduate programs. The student enrollment increased 700% in just a couple of years. In large-sized classes where there is very little interaction with the instructors, language learning will not be effective (Morgan, 2000).

Ivy League universities have discovered that MOOC was not a silver bullet to deliver content to the masses and the low student retention numbers made them question the effectiveness of the concept (Liyanagunawardena et al., 2013, p. 218; Tello, 2007). To have a more rigorous assessment and validation and to help maintain the retention rate of the university (Coughlan, 2013), Harvard has been experimenting with SPOCs (Small Private Online Courses) (Freitas and Paredes, 2018). The main complaint is that in large-sized online classes, e-education is no different than "how-to videos" found in platforms such as YouTube, Vimeo, Vine, and Instagram, which no possibility for interaction occurs.

According to the literature reviewed here, the main topics studied in computerized language learning are CALL (computerized assisted language learning), MALL (mobile assisted language learning), MALU (mobile-assisted learning use), ASR (automated speech recognition), social media in language learning, incorporation of technology in the face-to-face language programs, hybrid language learning, collaborative language learning via online platforms, automated testing, intelligent tutoring systems, and videoconferencing.

For my study, I looked and tested several videoconferencing platforms to decide which one would work seamlessly to provide students the opportunity to actively participate in class discussions and breakout rooms, share screens and sound, and work collaboratively (Wong et al., 2012). I tested Skype (skype.com), Google Meet (meet.google.com), GoToMeeting (gotomeeting.com), Hi5 (hi5.com),Teams (Microsoft.com), and Zoom (zoom.us). I decided to use zoom because it had the most features needed, and it was reliable and user-friendly. Some of the major problems in the studies are the lack of comparison between different modes of delivery, high dependency on student satisfaction and self-reporting of language outcome, high level of informality, and low student retention levels. See the picture below:



This study focuses on a synchronous online ESL pilot program with students from South America using videoconferences. The purpose was to measure the effectiveness of such a program compared to an immersion ESL F2F program offered at a liberal arts private university in Kentucky.

In the next section, I present an overview of the most prominent theories of Second Language Acquisition and argue for the use of Krashen's Comprehension Input Theory as the theoretical framework of this study. In chapter three, the design, and execution of the study will present the adoption of the main aspects of Krashen's theory to guarantee that the Pilot EFL Program promotes opportunities for language acquisition.

Theoretical Framework

Second Language Learning/Acquisition Theories

Throughout the years, many theories have been presented to explain the process of language learning (Mitchell et al., 2013; Beretta, 1991; McLaughlin, 1987; Schumann, 1978; Spolsky, 1989). Researchers and language teachers alike have argued that many factors contribute to second language acquisition (SLA), such as motivation, personality type, target language exposure, and teaching methodology. (Gardner, 2010; Krashen, 2009a; Long, 1983; Wong, 2015). Larsen-Freeman and Long (1991) affirmed that they found more than forty theories of second language acquisition (SLA), including creolization, language change, and language learning. Theories differ in terms of language acquired or learned, various elements that impact the learner, awareness of language structures, and the importance of the context or environment (p. 287; Larsen-Freeman and Long, 2000 and 2000a).

One way of looking at these theories is to categorize them into two main groups, the theories that are focused on the environment and the theories focused on the cognitive aspects of language acquisition. The most critical SLA theories provide a background to the theory chosen as this study's theoretical framework. The first group is the environmentalist theories, such as behaviorism (Skinner), acculturation (Schumann), interaction (Long and Hatch), and sociocultural (Vygotsky), which is in the threshold of the environmentalist and the cognitivist theories. The second group of theories emphasizes the cognition processes without discarding the importance of the environment. The theories that represent the second group are the output hypothesis (Swain), the universal grammar hypothesis (UG - Chomsky), and the monitor theory (or comprehension input theory - Krashen). The latter will serve as the framework of this study (See an overview of theses theories in Apendix 3).

The Acquisition Model Theory/Monitor Model Theory in SLA.

The also called Comprehensible Input hypothesis was formulated by Stephen D. Krashen and is heavily influenced by Chomsky's theoretical premises applied to second language acquisition (Krashen, 1977, 2009a, 1985, 1987). However, Krashen is not describing the process of first language acquisition, and for him, when Chomsky's theory is applied to adult language learning, it was describing the "product" and not the process of the second language acquisition (Krashen, 2009, p. 6). Krashen also refutes the assertion that LAD diminishes its ability as the individual ages, particularly after the "critical period" (CP), stating that the older adult's apparent failure to acquire a language is due to emotional reasons, or what he calls, the "affective filter" (Dulay, Burt e Krashen, 1982, p. 112), and not necessarily because of their age (Krashen, 2009; Fromkin et al., 1974). It is important to emphasize that the CP concept was applied to language acquisition by Penfield and Roberts (1959), without much contestation by linguists (Vanhove, 2013; Muñoz & Singleton, 2011; Singleton, 1995).

Krashen's SLA theory is constituted of five (5) hypotheses: <u>1. The Acquisition-Learning</u> <u>Hypothesis</u>. Learning refers to the conscious process where the individual receives systematic teaching in a formal and explicit educational environment; acquisition refers to the unconscious mental processes that happen when an individual is constantly exposed to a language (Krashen, 1981). <u>2. The Natural Order Hypothesis</u>. Language acquisition is the result of the mental processes that are based on comprehensible input that unconsciously makes sense of the grammatical structures in a predictable sequence (Dulay et al., 1982, p. 254). 3. <u>The Monitor Hypothesis</u>. Conscious learning serves as a Monitor to filtering and editing the production of language (Krashen & Terrell, 1983). 4. <u>The Affective Filter Hypothesis</u>. Elements of anxiety and discomfort will also act as a buffer that impedes the effect of the input in the unconscious mental processes, which is called the affective filter; the less it is activated, the more efficiently the language acquisition happens (Krashen, 1987). 5. *The Comprehensible Input Hypothesis*. For Krashen, this is the most important of the five hypotheses. The acquisition of a language happens through the understanding input that is just a little higher than the learner's language level (i + 1) (Krashen & Terrell, 1983, p. 32). Krashen stresses that the input must be a comprehensible input to allow the individual to scaffold the new language elements onto the language they already know. The comprehensible input hypothesis serves as the theoretical framework of this dissertation (Krashen, 1985, 1994, 1997, 2004).

The Acquisition-Learning Hypothesis. For Krashen (1985), there is a clear distinction between learning and acquisition. Acquisition is an involuntary and unconscious process that happens when there is a need for communication. There is no need for the learner to have an intention or determination to assimilate the language; it will happen informally and without a conscious understanding of the target language's grammatical structures. The focus is to communicate, and the learner starts to "feel" when the sentences are correct but is not aware of rules that must be followed to make a correct sentence (p. 26). For acquisition to happen, the language acquirer must be exposed to the target language in a communicative context.

Acquisition happens naturally, intuitively, just like children acquire language before learning the language rules in the formal context of school (Krashen, 1985, p. 28). Learning is the conscious process that happens in formal settings, where there is an instructor that uses paralinguistic devices such as facial expressions, body language, tone, and gestures to help learners understand different aspects of the language (Najarzadegan and Dabaghi, 2017) and to develop metalinguistics awareness (Roehr-Brackin, 2018; Leow et al., 2015). For Krashen (1988), language learning results from a personal effort to understand the target language formally (Krashen, 1985).

The learner needs help from instructors or from computer-assisted language learning (CALL) applications to understand the rules of the language being learned and be able to explain the rules and structures of the language (Krashen, 2009b). Krashen highlights the importance of learning but asserts that learning will not become acquisition (Krashen, 2009a, p. 83). It is important to clarify that Krashen refers to communicative competence here, and he is not claiming that learning a particular grammatical structure does not help acquisition. For example, learners may have problems communicating verb tenses or conditionals, and once they learn how verb tenses work and how conditionals are structured in the target language, they will use the learned concepts until these structures become second nature. However, an individual's language competence may show that the acquisition of complex sentence structures generally happens before the individual can consciously explain the rules. That is to say that for Krashen, the acquisition process will result in near native-like language competence, but the learning process alone will not suffice in reaching native-like language competence (Krashen, 2009a, p. 10).

Krashen infers that language learners may only reach the competence to engage in simple conversations and will have a hesitant speech pattern because they are usually more concerned with the form than with communication, which is the opposite of the natural language acquisition where communication takes precedence over correctness (Krashen 2009a, p. 14).

There cannot be language acquisition without input in Krashen's theory, so the level of proficiency in a second language is directly related to the amount of input or language exposure (Krashen, Long, & Scarcella, 1979). In my tenure as an ESL instructor, I have seen anecdotal evidence that leads me to concur with Krashen that the amount of exposure, and its quality, will

affect language acquisition. Despite that, each language student undergoes different circumstances and has a different set of variables that will impact their language acquisition. Certainly, Krashen's theory provides a very plausible explanation of the processes of language acquisition and, at the same time, values language instruction (Krashen, 2013).

The understanding of grammar and the knowledge of the target language's linguistic structures do not produce acquisition, which is an unconscious, intuitive, and natural assimilation of a language. Language acquisition is the product of interactions within real situations with human beings, where the language acquirer actively participates in exchanging information (Krashen, 2009a). The development of the ability to communicate and understand meaning results from the acquisition process (Krashen, 2013).

According to Martins (2015), a classic example of language acquisition without formal learning is when an immigrant acquires the host country's language without formal instruction, achieving language proficiency comparable to native speakers of the language, without being able to explain the language structure (p. 5). Martins mentions that many graduates of a four-year degree in teaching English, Spanish, or French, had a good knowledge of these languages to pass their exams and get a teaching license required to teach a foreign language in schools; however, some of these graduates lack the language competence of someone who acquired the language in real-life situations (p. 5).

The Natural Order Hypothesis. Krashen's understanding is that acquiring a second language is the direct result of the comprehensible input and that the acquisition follows a "universal or natural order" (Dulay, Burt, & Krashen, 1982 p. 259). This hypothesis refers to language acquisition, not to learning. Krashen states that this hypothesis does not mean that there is a sequence of grammatical structures that students must learn in order; on the contrary, Krashen has expressed that there should be no such sequence for teaching a language (Krashen, 1992). Krashen postulates that language students will only be exposed to a limited amount of grammar in the classroom (p. 16), and he affirms that instructors should not assume that language students would acquire grammatical and linguistic structures always from the simplest to the complex. Hence, his advice is to teach grammar in context, not in a specific sequence, to help students navigate the language they are acquiring (p. 14, 16). In terms of L1, children acquire the language without being taught the structure, and only when they reach school age will they start to learn the language structures, usually from the simplest to the complex, according to Brown, R. (1977, p. 286). In the words of Krashen,

The input hypothesis runs counter to our usual pedagogical approach in second and foreign language teaching. [...] our assumption has been that we first learn structures, then practice using them in communication, and this is how fluency develops. The input hypothesis says the opposite. It says we acquire by "going for meaning" first, and as a result, we acquire structure! (Krashen, 1992, p. 21)

Krashen's understanding is that although children tend to acquire language structures from simple to complex, the acquisition of a second language does not need to follow the difficulty sequence since children and adults alike already master complex structures in their L1 and are better prepared to learn complex structures (Krashen, 1985). Krashen also claims that language instructors should be aware that the order of acquisition is not determined by the teaching sequence used in the classroom, but it will occur in a natural sequence with some individual variations (2013).

Krashen cited a study by Dulay and Burt (1974) about the order of acquisition of English morphemes by EFL children as an example of a natural order of acquisition. Nonetheless, Dulay and Burt conclude that there is no way to design a teaching strategy that would support the natural order since "as the speech product is the result of the interaction between the child and the input language, the product should reflect both, i.e., the product should not be constant if the language input varies significantly." (p. 52). Krashen could not describe in detail what the natural order is or if the natural order would be the same one for all individuals learning the target language.

For McLaughlin (1987), the only way to find evidence for this hypothesis would be with a longitudinal study with a large number of second language learners. Even with such a study, it would be difficult to establish with certainty what types of structures would be acquired first since each acquirer may be in a unique situation depending on variables that are present in their experience with the language and the types of inputs they receive (p. 35). McLaughlin concludes that what Krashen is saying is that each individual will naturally acquire some structures before others (p. 35), and instructors should not expect to discover how to teach in a perfect and natural sequence because the natural order varies from acquirer to acquirer. Another criticism from McLaughlin (1987) is that Krashen has not established a measurement to identify the level of language acquisition or devised a way to know what structures were acquired and how the acquisition happened (p. 24). McLaughlin also emphasizes that some of the variables in the natural order of acquisition may be related to the acquirer's mother tongue (L1) (p. 33). Other variables could be added to the criticism, such as interlanguage, intralanguage, intersemiotic translation, code-mixing, and fossilization (Gort, 2012).

For Krashen and Terrell, many grammar aspects will not be acquired until the acquirer has reached the proper time to use those structures to understand and communicate ideas (p. 21). Additionally, considering the element of creativity and randomness of language use, it is

virtually impractical to establish a teaching sequence that would work for all acquirers. (p. 21). Krashen's advice is that classroom activities should be targeting acquisition and must be in an environment of low stress where students will be gently encouraged to participate and incentivized to collaborate in a way that will make them be less aware of the language structures but value meaning conveyance (p. 21). Krashen and Terrell (1983) give several examples of activities that could be used in an ELL classroom to create real-life situations and incentivize input that generates acquisition. They also clarify that not all language acquirers will acquire language in the same sequence and that the hypothesis simply states that certain linguistic features will take precedence over others (p. 28).

Krashen is fully aware of the intense scrutiny his natural order hypothesis has been subject to, and he mentions studies that were looking at the acquisition order of several linguistic structures in English (Krashen, Sferlazza, Feldman, and Fathman 1976; Keyfetz-Futler 1978) and in other languages (Snow and Hoefnagel-Hohle 1978). As stated above, Krashen's definition of the natural order is not prescriptive; it may vary depending on the individual acquirer. Nevertheless, Krashen states that the natural order is usually composed of the following phases: 1. Nonverbal responses, 2. One or two-word responses, 3. Three or four-word responses, 4. Very simple sentences. 5. Longer sentences, and 6. Complex sentences and coherent speech or prose (Krashen, 1983, p. 24). Krashen also claims that grammatical correctness improves from phrase three (3) as a result of the acquisition process and as more communication happens (p. 25), meaning negotiation is required.

The Monitor Hypothesis. The Monitor hypothesis stresses the validity of the learning process and values formal language instruction. Krashen claims that it is natural and intuitive for the language acquirers to use creativity to form utterances in the new language, and instructors

must provide opportunities for students to try different combinations of words and different grammatical structures (Krashen, 1983, p. 101). Krashen understands that acquirers that are formally taught language, benefit from a language Monitor, which works every time the acquirer is producing language. As the acquirer begins to formulate utterances in their mind, they are able to check the sentences against their compendium of learned grammatical structures to correct the structure of the sentences before uttering them (Krashen, 2009a, p. 15).

The Monitor is responsible for policing the creativity and reminding the acquirer of the rules the sentences must follow to become acceptable and intelligible spoken utterances or written sentences (Krashen, 2009a, p. 16). Krashen claims that the Monitor's usage may vary depending on the situation and the personality of the acquirer (Krashen and Terrell, 1983, p. 44). The introvert acquirer or the perfectionist will overuse the Monitor, which may affect the creativity and hinder the spontaneous use of the language. On the other side of the spectrum, the extrovert acquirer and those who use language more casually will tend to underuse the Monitor and never reach the correctness required in formal situations. Krashen and Terrell affirm that in normal circumstances, the acquirer will only use the consciously learned grammar (Monitor) if three conditions are present: 1) sufficient time, 2) enough emphasis on correctness, and 3) competent knowledge of the rules (p. 16). The acquirer must also want to produce correct utterances and have proficient knowledge of the target language's grammatical structures (Krashen, 1985, p. 2). The Monitor acts just like the autocorrect software function in word processors making suggestions for corrections of grammar mistakes; but this time, the suggestions may include pronunciation, word order, syntax in speech, and spelling when writing. Consequently, the Monitor's overuse will make the speech hesitant and broken, and the speaker

will have to decide when it is appropriate to correct mistakes to communicate the message without upsetting the interlocutor.

One of Krashen's most severe critics, McLaughlin (1978), states that the Monitor hypothesis is probably the more detailed of the five Krashen's hypotheses since the Monitor would be active before and after the production of an utterance or text which places a great value on language instruction (1987, p. 19).

The Monitor hypothesis is similar to the Vygotskyan concept of inner speech (Vygotsky, 1987); however, for Krashen, the Monitor dialogues with the acquirer, helping to edit the language production (Krashen, 1979, p. 154). Krashen does not specify if the Monitor would be active in listening or reading, but it is evident that the conscious knowledge of grammar helps comprehension of speech and text. Evidence of that could be detected in comprehension mistakes and the way second language acquirers will understand the conveyed meaning in some complicated grammatical structures because they have previously learned and understood the structures. However, Krashen insists that understanding may happen even without the structures' formal knowledge (Krashen, 2009b).

Furthermore, it is extremely difficult to verify the Monitor's presence and if the speaker recalls learned grammatical structures during regular communication. We may assess the ability a learner has of recalling learned structures in a test; however, in conversation, mistakes may occur because the speaker could not recall the structure, was translating from L1 or decided to ignore the suggestions of the Monitor and compromise language correctness and precision for the benefit of fluidity (Thombury, 2006; Rose, 2020).

The Affective Filter Hypothesis. Krashen's theory has impacted language teaching since the 1980s, and with the Affective Filter hypothesis, he emphasizes Chomsky's concept that

human beings have an innate ability to acquire language or a language acquisition device (LAD) (Krashen, 1985, p. 45). Krashen (1987) stresses that the LAD does not subside with age and provides the affective filter hypothesis to explain why some adults are less successful in learning languages. I have had mature students (50+ years old) who reached almost native-like competence in over a couple of years. I also have acquaintances (50+ years old) who have lived in the United States for over 15 years, have been in ESL classes, and have impressive grammar knowledge, but their English language production is still in the low intermediate level. To say that some mature adults would not be capable of learning new languages is to ignore millions of adults that learn new languages and reach a high level of proficiency (Hartshorne, Tenenbaum, & Pinker, 2018, p. 8).

According to Hartshorne, Tenenbaum, and Pinker (2018), the performance of second language learners exposed to an average of 5 years of language immersion was similar to simultaneous bilinguals with the same exposure time, older non-immersion learners with averages of 8 years ages of exposure performed similarly to young non-immersion learners with averages of 4 years of exposure, which may indicate a slower learning process, but not necessarily a lower ability to learn the language (p. 8).

Krashen's Affective Filter hypothesis explains that adults may have more emotional impediments that hinder their acquisition of a second language (Krashen, 2009a, 2003). The affective filter is part of the unconscious process and regulates the levels of assimilation of the target language (Krashen, 1985, p. 12). The Affective Filter is an emotional apparatus responsible for several affective variables that impact the acquisition of the target language, such as anxiety, self-esteem, motivation, and sense of belonging (Krashen, 2009b, p. 8). Krashen affirms that the higher the level of the emotional variables, the lower the acquisition and vice versa, making these variables the filter that deters acquisition from happening or filtering out the comprehensible input the acquirer is exposed to (Krashen, 2009a, p. 9). Krashen and Terrell advise language instructors to create a welcoming classroom environment to counteract the affective filter or emotional variables impacting and preventing interactions of comprehensible input from facilitating language acquisition (Krashen and Terrell, 1983, p. 19-20).

Motivation or grit (Khajavy, MacIntyre, and Hariri, 2020) is valued as one of the most critical emotional variables contributing to second language acquisition. Consequently, the more motivation the acquirer has, the less impact the affective filter will have, and language acquisition will have a higher chance of success. Gardner (1990) claims that the learners' affective responses and attitudes to stimuli and context tend to severely impact their motivation to acquire a new language (Gardner, 2010, p. 175). Gardner also argues that although there are different motivation types, such as intrinsic, extrinsic, instrumental, and integrative, their effect is related to their intensity to promote language acquisition (p. 4). In other words, intrinsic motivation happens when there are no apparent external reasons to do something, and language learning is pleasurable by itself (Noels, 2001). The extrinsic motivation happens when the language learner expects some reward for engaging in the learning process (Noels, Clément, & Pelletier, 2001). The integrative motivation happens when the individual is involved in acquiring a second language due to a personal interest in the target language's people and culture (Gardner, 2001).

Dulay, Burt, and Krashen (2009a) describe motivation in three senses: 1) "instrumental motivation," when the acquirer is yearning to become proficient and to improve their living

conditions, 2) "integrative motivation," when the acquirer's goal is to become fully integrated within the host culture, and 3) "social group identification motivation," when the acquirer target is to be able to fully espouse the social identity of the speech community (p. 361). The "social group identification motivation" is the longing to become a member and belong to the social group that speaks a particular language (p. 94).

Gardner, Day, and MacIntyre (1992) suggest that the instructor's behavior may impact the motivation of the language learner and that it is fundamental that instructors find ways to keep students engaged and focused on their learning goals (Gardner, MacIntyre, and Lysynchuk, 1990, p. 54). Gardner (1990) claims that the attitude of being open to learning and the willingness to interact with members of the language community is crucial and depends on life experiences and experiences with the language (p. 47).

Krashen (1987) and Onwuegbuzie, Baley, and Daley (2000) see the overpowering effect of anxiety in acquiring a second language. Onwuegbuzie, Baley, and Daley state that international students required to enroll in ESL classes report high anxiety situations due to the requirement of passing the ESL classes to be accepted by the university in academic programs (2000, p. 217; Gajek, 2016). In my teaching experience, I have seen ESL instructors so concerned in preparing international students to enter academic programs that they assess students in terms of task completion, punctuality, participation, and content, emulating requirements of academic programs and neglecting to assess the students' language proficiency (Carey, 1993). According to Short (1993), it is virtually impossible to detach language from content and more straightforward to focus on assessing content knowledge than language proficiency, which could be responsible for ELL's poor academic performance and maybe cause anxiety (Short, 1993, p. 629). MacIntyre and Gardner (1989) highlight the function of two types of anxiety that can affect positively and negatively language acquisition (p. 252). They assert that "facilitating anxiety" functions as an endowment that contributes to language acquisition because the acquirer seeks to use complex structures in the target language. In contrast, the "debilitating anxiety" serves as an obstacle to acquisition because the acquirer fears devastate the acquisition process, and the acquirer will avoid stressful situations (Scovel, 1978, p. 139). For Scovel, the activation of these two types of anxiety will depend on the acquirer's personality (p. 139). Individuals with higher self-esteem tend to have higher facilitating anxiety (flight); individuals with low selfesteem tend to activate the debilitating anxiety (flight) (p. 139).

For MacIntyre and Gardner (1989), self-esteem can significantly impact the acquirer's motivation (p. 255; Gardner, Tremblay, & Masgoret, 1997; Masgoret and Gardner, 2003). It should be noted that Krashen emphasizes that input alone will not suffice; the acquirer must have a positive attitude or be predisposed affectively to assimilate and understand the input (Krashen, 1985, p. 3). Additionally, Krashen says that if the acquirer is emotionally rejecting the target language, the "affective filter" will block or impede the acquirer from processing the input. If the "affective filter" is high, the acquirer may even partially understand the input, but the LAD will not be activated (Krashen, 1985, p. 81).

The "affective filter" is Krashen's explanation for how individual differences between acquirers' abilities impact their success and the assertion that age would not be as important (1985, p. 90). Krashen does not provide a detailed description of how the affective filter works, but he emphasizes that motivation, self-esteem, and anxiety play significant roles in acquiring a second language (Krashen, 1977). McLaughlin (1978) claims to concur with Krashen's assertion that affective factors may contribute or hinder the acquisition of a foreign language; however,

McLaughlin criticism of the "Affective Filter Hypothesis" was delineated in three main aspects: 1) there is no need for the "Affective Filter" because there were previous theories that propose the notion that psychological factors interfere in the acquisition process, 2) there is no definition of how the "Affective Filter" works, and 3) there is no empirical evidence of the "Affective Filter" at work (McLaughlin, 1987, p. 54).

Krashen refutes McLaughlin's criticism (Krashen, 1979, p. 162) reaffirming that the idea of the "Affective Filter" must be credited to Dulay and Burt (1977), and stating that in several of his published articles, he presented empirical data supporting his hypotheses (Krashen, 1979, p. 165). In a recent study, Namaziandost, Nasri1, and Ziafar (2019) compared the language development of two groups of ELLs. Group one was called "i + 1," and the input offered was one level above the student's level, and the second group was called "i – 1," and received input one level below the student's level (p. 8). Namaziandost, Nasri1, and Ziafar claim that the test results of the study indicate that the "i + 1" group outperformed the "i -1" in language comprehension, and students in the "i +1" group demonstrated to be more motivated than the students in the "i – 1" group (p. 17). For Krashen, since acquiring a new language is a slow process, instructors must create activities where comprehensible input is provided in diminished anxiety situations. These activities should gently encourage students to use language to collaborate, and mistakes should not be corrected all the time (Krashen, 2009a, p. 7).

The Comprehensible Input Hypothesis. This hypothesis is based on the input acquirers will receive in interaction inside and outside the classroom. Krashen refers not to the formal language learning process but to the informal and unconscious process where the input stimulates the language acquisition device (2009a, p. 83). He claims that language development follows a natural order when the input is comprehensible, even if it is just above the acquirer's

linguistic competence level (Krashen, 1979, p. 164). Krashen states that comprehensible input is more than input on the level of the acquirer. The input must be comprehensible, engaging, and the activities must be intended to help students maintain their motivation and reduce anxiety (Krashen, 2009a, p. 74).

For Krashen (1987), a high level of language exposure and grammatical structure repetition exercises can be helpful; nevertheless, the acquisition will only happen when the acquirer is ready to assimilate and use such structures. The input received by the acquirers must be just above their competency level; it should be an input level "i + 1," where "i" indicates the current language capacity of the individual and "1" indicates a language competence level just above the acquirer (Krashen, 2009a). Krashen exemplifies the process in an old lecture where he teaches German with incomprehension input and then teaches the same lesson with comprehensible input (Santiago, 2015; Rounds, 2010). The difference is that in the lesson with comprehensible input, Krashen uses the context, extralinguistic information, gestures, and repetitions to guarantee that the audience will follow and understand what he is saying in the lesson even without knowing any German.

Krashen has presented ten arguments for the comprehensible input hypothesis (1985) that I am going to comment on here:

1. The Caretaker Speech Argument (Krashen, 1985) refers to the simplified language used by children caretakers, and that facilitates the acquisition process because it is focused on communication. This simplified language helps the child to understand the message by the use of extra-linguistic resources such as gestures, body-language, facial expressions (Shih, 2016), and tone of voice. The caretaker provides "i + 1," and the LAD is activated for language acquisition (Krashen, 1985, p. 84). As the child demonstrates understanding and language competence, the

complexity of the input increases naturally. Krashen urges second language instructors to utilize a similar strategy simplifying the language for maximum comprehension and then gradually increase the complexity of the language as students acquire higher levels of language competency (Krashen, 2009a, p. 24-26; Krashen, 1984; Bidarra, 2016).

2. The Silent Period Aargument (Krashen, 1985) refers to the phenomenon of acquirers being silent in the lower level of language acquisition. This phenomenon is observed frequently in children and young adults learning a second language in an immersion environment. This period may last several weeks or months until the individual is comfortable to attempt speaking the language (p. 87). Krashen states that a silent period may also occur with adults acquiring a second language, but they may attempt to use memorized sentences (Krashen, 2009a, p. 26), sometimes without understanding what they are saying and dreading the answers from their interlocutors. Krashen states that in the "silence period," acquirers of a second language remain silent but are still being exposed to the new language and building language competence through listening and reading (Krashen, 2009a, p. 26).

According to Krashen (1985), language production is the effect of acquisition, not its cause. Language production manifests itself after the acquirer is exposed to enough comprehensible input to construct their language competence (p. 80). Krashen advises instructors not to pressure students in the silent period to produce creative language to avoid increasing their anxiety and prevent them from relying on L1 rules to structure sentences in the target language (Krashen, 2009a, p. 27). In other words, premature language production tends to increase L1 interference (Newmark, 1966) and may cause language fossilization where "incorrect linguistic features become a permanent part of the way a person speaks or writes a language" (Han, 2004,

p. 19). McLaughlin (1987) calls attention to the problem of silent acquirers not providing feedback and causing interlocutors to lose interest in trying to communicate with them (p. 37).

3. The Age Differences Argument (Krashen, 1985) refers to Krashen's claims that data indicates that young children are usually more efficient in second language acquisition than adults and teenagers; however, adults and teenagers tend to acquire language faster at the beginning level due to a higher exposure to comprehensible input (p. 90). Young children may be more efficient due to a lower level of stress, less responsibilities, and a lower "affective filter." McLaughlin (1985) states that young children usually reach higher language competency levels than adults in the long run (p. 175). According to Krashen, adults tendency to stagnate in lower language levels not due to diminishing LAD ability but due to a higher "affective filter" (Krashen, 2009a).

4. The Instruction Effect Argument (Krashen, 1985) refers to the benefit of formal instruction in situations where immersion is not possible or immersion is overwhelming for students, which may be the case of beginners (p. 91). Krashen argues that language classes focused on comprehensible input would be less stressful and encourage a lower affective filter (Krashen, 2009a, p. 7).

5. The Exposure Effect Argument (Krashen, 1985, p. 92) refers to the benefits of being exposed to comprehensible input (p. 92). Krashen states that it is not the amount or how much time of language exposure that contributes to language acquisition, but how comprehensible the input is (Krashen, 2003, p. 4). Krashen argues that language exposure not necessarily "entails comprehensible input," and in such cases, the acquisition process tends to stagnate (Krashen, 2009a, p. 41). Language stagnation can happen even if the acquirer is taking language classes

where language is always explained at the same level and with little comprehensible input + 1 being provided (p. 51).

6. The Lack of Access to Comprehensible Input Argument (Krashen, 1985, p. 92) refers to situations where the individual is living in the country of the target language; however, there is a poverty of stimuli in cases where the acquirer lives with co-nationals and receives very limited comprehensible input, or children of hard of hearing parents (Krashen, 2009a, p. 63). For Krashen, the lack of comprehensible input explains delays in language acquisition and language stagnation (Krashen, 1985, p. 91).

7. The Diverse Methodologies For Language Teaching Argument (Krashen, 1985) refers to different methodologies used in language instruction focused on grammar and drillbased exercises (p. 91). Such teaching strategies offer very little comprehensible input and consequently do not encourage acquisition (p. 92). The natural approach promoted by Krashen and Terrell (1983) would be more efficient because it creates a low anxiety environment and sufficient comprehensible input through acquisition activities (p. 95).

8. The Immersion Teaching Programs Argument (Krashen, 1985, p. 94) refers to the positive effect of immersion language programs where students spend the majority of their waking hours in intensive language classes where they are exposed to comprehensible input in their interactions with instructors and classmates (p. 94). Krashen emphasizes that in many immersion programs, students are safe from ridicule when they make mistakes because they spend the majority of the day segregated from native speakers. Instructors can control the environment and provide comprehensible input according to the level of the students (Krashen, 2009a, p. 171). One of the problems in evaluating such programs' effectiveness is that input is always provided within specific contexts. Students are generally evaluated on their ability to

comprehend and assimilate the content covered and very little on their linguistic competency (p. 172). The segregation of these immersion classes facilitates the acquisition and prepares students to transition to regular academic classes where the context is not always provided and the language used is designed for native speakers, not for second language acquirers.

9. The Bilingual Programs Argument (Krashen, 1985, p. 95) refers to bilingual programs' success by providing comprehensible input. Krashen states that successful bilingual programs promote language acquisition through subject matter instruction in two languages (Krashen, 2009a, p. 170). Successful bilingual programs provide students with subject-matter instruction in their native language to help students understand the subject and then reinforce the instruction in their second language, giving them opportunities to discuss the content in both languages without translating (Krashen, 1985, p. 95). Bilingual programs that provide content mainly in the student's native language and only second language grammar-focused instruction typically emphasize translation rather than meaning negotiation and comprehensible input and consequently tend to be less successful (p. 96).

10. The Reading Hypothesis Argument (Krashen, 1985, p. 96) refers to the idea that reading can be a source of comprehensible input and profoundly help students acquire the language and improve their language production in writing and speaking (Krashen, 1984). Krashen (2004) looks at the power of reading for pleasure as an effective way to promote language acquisition (p. 37). Besides, Krashen asserts that compared to formal instruction, reading for pleasure is significantly more effective (p. 120). Krashen claims that reading for pleasure helps the individual reach a state of "flow," as theorized by Dr. Mihaly Csikszentmihalyi, a Hungarian Psychologist who postulated that the "flow" is when individuals reach a state of engagement and satisfaction for being in an activity that is at the same time challenging and exhilarating (Csikszentmihalyi, 1991, p. 71). In situations where the second language student is in the state of flow, the LAD will be activated to the fullest. Simultaneously, the individual is consciously engaged in the activity and unconsciously and effortlessly acquiring new vocabulary, grammatical structures, and language competence (Krashen, 2004, p. 147).

As mentioned above, McLaughlin (1987) and others (Abukhattala, 2012; Lightbown & Spada, 1998; Gregg, 1984; Liu, 2015; Zafar, 2011) have criticized Krashen's hypotheses due to the vagueness of his definitions and the difficulty to empirically verify the mechanisms of the acquisition process. McLaughlin (1987) also stresses the difficulty to accurately measure the level of acquisition of students (p. 55) and the difficulty to define what comprehensible input is (p. 57). Consequently, it becomes challenging to apply the expression i + 1 in the classroom, especially considering the different acquisition levels of each student. Nonetheless, Krashen's hypotheses occupy a vital place in understanding how language acquisition happens, and from the 1970s have contributed to the discussion of how instructors can assist ELLs in their journey to language acquisition.

Because of Krashen's hypotheses, teachers have emphasized the need to offer comprehensible input and create a classroom environment that diminishes the anxiety and negative feelings of acquires against the target language (Namaziandost et al., 2019; Krashen et al., 1984). Krashen (1979) affirms that his theory explains many aspects of the language acquisition processes, and since we do not have a physiological instrument to measure what is happening, his theory relies on abstractions to predict observable phenomena (p. 152). Based on Krashen's hypotheses, I designed a study that looked at the effectiveness of ELLs in two different programs, one an immersion intensive ESL and the other an independent and new program designed and executed by me with the assistance of faculty of private Liberal Arts University in the Southern of the United States of America.

The next section of this dissertation, chapter 3, will narrate the context, design, and execution of the study. The project's design took into consideration the identified shortcomings of studies analyzed in the literature review and recommendations of best practices. The Pilot Program design also considered ways to apply Krashen's Comprehension Input Theory, making sure that language learners would be exposed to comprehensible input and interact with their instructors and classmates in a manner similar to in-person language programs instigating and supporting language acquisition.

Chapter 3 - Methodology

Relevance and context of the study

The main focus of this research is the effectiveness of a synchronous online delivered ELS program in terms of providing language learning skills, creating the capacity for English learners to problem solve, develop creativity, use analytic thinking, collaborate with each other, and establish effective communication (Garrison, 2011; Davison, 2005).

My interest is to understand how effective online language learning could be, focusing on the potential benefits a program like that could create, especially for learners that do not have the means to move to an English-speaking country to further their studies. In my position of coordinator of an ESL program at a local private university in Kentucky, I realize that developing an ESL program to be delivered online could further the university's mission. I also trust that giving students in remote areas access to the English language will promote positive social changes in many communities. The typical account I receive from my international students is that English proficiency is required to be accepted in well-paid jobs in their countries. Most of my ESL students plan to return to their countries with a Diploma from a US university; they claim that this alone can enhance their chances to ameliorate their lives and the lives of their families. Employability enhances when applicants demonstrate English skills (Shafie and Nayan, 2010). In many developing countries, employers are particularly focused on hiring English-speaking personnel to help their institutions establish and maintain international relationships that will translate into business (p. 119-121).

If we want to empower ostracized communities and students in remote areas, major changes will be required, from infrastructure to pedagogy (Langer de Ramirez, 2010). Levine and Levine (2012) highlight the trend of student loan delinquency, increase alienation due to decline in full-time faculty positions, and deplete access to higher education, a trend that will impact not only American students but many communities around the world (Hager, 1998). The Delors Report (2010) embraces changes that would permeate entire communities on the belief that education can transform mankind (Boff, 1997), foster harmonious relationship, promote inclusion and work for the decline of suffering, oppression, and rivalry between groups (Delors, 2010, p. 11). The Delors Report sees globalization as a powerful force to provide comfort to people who lose their roots, land, culture, and language.

People tend to cling to elements of their identity and close themselves to different communities. The effort to find meaning in their situation without being gradually exposed to other cultures and language is not easy. Providing people with access to languages and cultures will help shape global citizens who will always search for peace and harmony (Delors, p. 17). Access to language education could be an efficient way to promote mutual understanding and international cooperation. An effective curriculum will encourage learners in the four pillars of education: learn to live together, learn to know and become a life learner, learn to experience skills in life, and learn to be a global citizen (Delors, pp. 20-23).

An important element that needs to be analyzed is the effectiveness of the face-to-face (F2F) ESL classes and online English programs, in terms of providing international students the language skills and academic training to be successful in their transition to undergraduate and graduate programs when they come to America.

This study was conducted between February and May 2020. We offered the EFL synchronous online program to Latino students in South America and the USA. I used the Michigan English Placement Test as the pre and post-tests for the study. The validity of the measuring instrument is based on the claim that the various tasks in the test are appropriate to measure the proficiency level of the test takers (Cambridge Michigan Language Assessments, 2014, p. 10; Weigle, 2000; Weyant and Chisholm, 2014).

In terms of unidimensionality and reliability (Anastasi, 1986; Cronbach, 1988) the collection of evidence of validity begun at the design of the test and is an unending process. CaMLA (Cambridge Michigan Language Assessments) claims to continuously gather random results of test-takers to maintain evidence of the appropriateness of the measuring tasks (Cambridge Michigan Language Assessments, 2014, p. 11; 2013; 2014a; 2014b; 2014c; 2015; 2015b; 2015c; 2015d; 2017; 2018; 2019; 2020; Römer, 2017; 2019). Papageorgiou, Stevens, and Goodwin (2012) compared the listening comprehension test and claimed that there is validity in terms of accurately measuring and quantifying the level of test-takers (LaFlair et al., 2015 and 2017; Verhelst et al., 2016). Having two groups of students, one who took in-person English lessons and the other synchronous online English lessons, I compared the data from all the pre

and post-tests to see if there were significant differences in the results of the two groups of students (see also Goodwin, 2017).

The results of this study will be available to the university where the study occurred and will serve for the development of a regular online EFL program. The English Proficiency Test instrument (MEPT) (Aryadoust et al., 2011; 2014; Goh and Aryadoust, 2010; Kang et al., 2016; Pearce et al., 2018 and 2019; Wagner, 2004; Walter and Hentschel, 2013 and 2014; Wang, 2006) was also chosen because it has been used by the university for the past 12 years in the placement of international students according to their English competence in the IEP (Intensive English Program).

As a result of the analysis of the instrument, I have developed a new in-house test to help the university assess the English level of its students before they come to the USA. Having the copyright of such a test will also make it possible for the ESL department to administer the test via LMS with the help of a videoconference platform and video proctoring software. I have been doing that since May of 2020. In terms of proctoring, I am researching different proctoring systems to reduce the need for live proctoring by faculty (Suvorov, 2019). Automated proctoring systems claim to authenticate the test taker's identity and monitor the test takers to guarantee the integrity and security of the test, and check of the requirements of the exam are followed (Slusky, 2020; Arnò et al., 2021; Lee et al., 2021).

The in-person ESL and the synchronous EFL mode have their distinct characteristics; I have established similar degrees of language exposure to compare the learning outcomes. I have compared the learning outcomes of students from similar mother-tongue (L1 belonging to the same language family) in the two modes of the program. Students were in a similar age group and had a similar educational background.

In terms of program design, students in both programs had access to the same learning resources. The ESL in-person students enrolled in the F2F (Control group) with eight (8) weeks of classes following the regular university summer schedule and language teaching strategies. The EFL students enrolled in the Synchronous Online Videoconference Mode (Treatment group) with eight (8) weeks of classes with videoconferences and short videos, short quizzes, group assignments over the Internet, group discussions, peer-to-peer interactions, and interviews with the instructors. The fully online mode was delivered by Zoom (zoom.us), for the video conferences, WhatsApp, and Moodle, for extra resources and homework assignments. The F2F mode was measured with the data collected by the ESL Institute using a selected group of students from the intensive ESL summer program of the university (the criteria to select students was that they had to be from a Romantic language - L1 and test in the English intermediate level).

Krashen's theory helped me decide on the types of technologies to be used to support peer-to-peer interaction, add different types of activities to maintain student's engagement, and training instructors to use a variety of pedagogical strategies during the videoconferences to ensure students opportunities to negotiate meaning with their classmates and have the support of the teachers. The design of the structure, scope, and sequence of the lessons was based on trying to make as similar as possible to the IE Program, and yet creating an interactive and engaging environment for students to be less concerned about the technology and the mechanics of English to emulate a natural language acquisition process (Krashen and Terrell, 1983).

This study will be valuable to universities that offer ESL programs, so they can have students start their English classes while still in their countries. The study will also be beneficial to students, as it will look into the evidence of English learning potential in an online environment. Other studies may follow to understand the student experience and satisfaction, the student retention rate of such a program, the student recruitment potential of reaching students in their own countries, and virtually introducing them to the university.

Interactivity

Most experts would agree that language learning is more effective in an environment where human interaction is intentional and plentiful (Kinginger, 2013). Shaw (2013) highlights the importance of interaction and collaboration in language learning in his investigation about computer-supported collaborative learning (CSCL) as a tool to improve the learning outcome of language learners. Computer assistance is definitely a good tool, but language learning happens best in connection with the linguistic community, or in other words, within the speech community (Patrick, 2002). A speech community is the most important social group. It is a group that interacts by means of speech. The speech community deepens people's social cohesion or integration in a particular social setting (Passos, 2006). Language is fundamentally learned informally and by social reinforcement in all civilizations of the world. Proficient language learners acquire the ability to maneuver the speech community, function well in society, and negotiate problems and find solutions, typically acquiring 21st-century capacities (Davis et al., 2016). Consequently, to be successful, an online delivered ESL program will need to create the means to forge a speech-community environment.

I am aware that universities have not been engaged in online language teaching at the same level as private organizations and app developers. I also understand that there is a general skepticism among faculty members in many universities about the practicality of technological alternatives to F2F teaching modes, especially when language programs are concerned. They doubt the potential to teach critical thinking through the new technologies and point out the difficulties of assessing students' progress in online courses (Walsh, 2011).

Language as a Political and Social Tool

Power struggles within communities can occur in public places, schools, and government offices, where language becomes another inability to hinder immigrant populations as they try to find ways to capitalize within the system (Tenzer and Pudelko, 2017). In the navigation at the language crossroads, we see the importance of language proficiency as the means for people to exercise power. Without the freedom to speak (communicate), an individual cannot experiment with the benefits of citizenship; he/she is no higher than a slave; language can provide the freedom to participate in a democratic, egalitarian society (Foucault & Pearson, 2001, p. 29, 61). A good example of such power struggles can be seen when the use of language is not taken into account in the identity of the immigrant population, and the dominant identity is imposed upon minorities even in education (Gibson, 2004). Gibson affirmed that even with the consciousness of identity being constructed and at the same time construed by language, several conflicts among bilingual and monolingual workers in America take place every year (p. 2).

Pilot Program Design

Language learning happens through interaction and video-lessons are not enough. The use of video lessons and prerecorded videos can generate class discussions or ensure that students have acquired the same content knowledge or context for class activities. Face-to-face language classes are effective in creating learning opportunities for language learners to develop their language skills; however, I propose that fully online synchronous language classes can be as effective as F2F classes (on-site classes), if the delivery of content is not unidirectional. This ESL synchronous course must be more than how-to-videos on platforms such as YouTube,

Vimeo, Vine, and Instagram, which do not offer the possibility of interaction between the video authors and the audience.

If language interactions are to occur, the course must be designed to provide a variety of opportunities for the language learners to interact with each other and with the instructors. Lack of interactivity is a problem that can also happen in an on-site classroom, but it can be remediated if the instructor is ready to utilize different pedagogies and teaching strategies. Peer interaction and collaboration have the potential to incentivize the use of language and promote language development (Gromik, 2012). I added the WhatsApp chat platform in the pilot design to allow students to collaborate between videoconferences (Tudini, 2010).

My goal with the Synchronous online ESL program is to build a speech community of sorts, where students will be at ease with each other and learn how to use English to negotiate their interactions as they solve problems together (Denzin and Lincoln, 2018). It is essential to highlight that there are no measurements that we can use to verify how much exposure students will have to language interactions because each student, even living in America, will have a particular housing arrangement and their contact with English speakers outside the classroom environment will vary. Moreover, the effects of interconnectivity are unknown, especially when it refers to online language learning (Brennan, 2013).

Drawing Conclusions from MOOCs

In many MOOC (Massive Open Online Courses), students have stated that because online communities have become part of their daily life, the use of web tools such as blogs, wikis, and social media platforms, are expected to promote social participation (Davis et al., 2014, p. 110). Even though students spend most of their day using their mobile devices to be connected with family, friends, and coworkers, using their devices as learning tools is still not a common practice (Ekanayake and Wishart, 2015). One of the major problems for online courses is student retention (Brennan, 2013). In order to resolve the student retention problem, the design of an online language program must facilitate the interaction between learners and instructors and incentivize persistence in the program (Sultana, 2007).

Another crucial aspect to be considered is the demographics and the individualities of the students that would successfully complete a synchronous EFL program. Again, the design of such a course should take into consideration that not all participants are persistent enough to complete online courses. We know that participants that completed MOOCs were self-motivated, lifelong learners (Christensen et al., 2014). Christensen highlights that the population of MOOC students is young, with over ninety-five percent of learners being younger than 25 years old (Christensen et al., 2014, p. 2).

MOOCs students are generally well-educated; 79% of them have a tertiary degree and usually are well-employed (p. 4). The typical student that embarks on a MOOC serves as a good parallel to an online EFL Program because he/she comes from different countries and circumstances and is seeking alternative ways to have access to higher education (Carver and Harrison, 2013).

Even in remote areas, access to the Internet is no longer a major problem for many students; nevertheless, having the language skills to navigate and comprehend new content is still a leading drawback for many students. The MOOC audience of professional people is not necessarily the same demographic that will need an EFL online program since most of Mooc's students already have enough language skills to be successful in short MOOCs and encounter the answer for their immediate needs. One of the factors that make students successful in massive open online courses is the sense of community (SoC) that is created among students through peer sourcing and group activities, which are encouraged (Chiou and Shih, 2015). Discussion boards and activities were designed into the EFL online program with the intent of building a sense of belonging (Shackelford and Maxwell, 2012).

Social Change and English Language Learning

My goal is not simply to give English learners opportunities to develop their writing skills or communication skills to function in the marketplace. My audience is comprised of students that are finishing high school or college in their own countries or graduates that wish to study abroad but lack the English skills to be accepted at undergraduate-level courses. Some students with bachelor's degrees find it hard to be accepted at universities in America due to a lack of English skills and low scores in language assessment tests (TOEFL, TOEIC, IELTS, DET). For these students, spending three semesters or more in ESL classes in America is extremely expensive and time-consuming. The increasing number of foreign adult students seeking undergraduate and graduate degrees in the US is creating a demand for alternatives that can provide learning opportunities for students that cannot reach English fluency in their own countries (Council of Graduate Schools and Educational Testing Service, 2010). In order to provide opportunities for international students other than through the TOEFL exam, universities offer ESL/ELL programs where students can take advantage of being in an immerse English environment and be prepared for entering college (Leki and Carson, 1997; Dobson et al., 2001).

While universities are noticing the adult student's demands for more interactive and upto-date technologies in all college courses, very little has been done to incorporate technologies and Internet-based tools in the ESL programs (Chang & Shih, 2007). Creating a program that could reduce the time and expenses of students in the US is undoubtedly a challenge. I am aware of the difficulty of developing a program and the need to study the benefits of such an endeavor. According to Kotter (2009), true leaders are the ones that are ready to defy the status quo and search for alternatives to reach better results. Leaders should be aware of the threat of being confined by traditions and ineffective approaches (Daeschner, 2014, p. 32).

Creating an environment where students can have the liberty to communicate their ideas will provide them access to their academic goals as they learn the language. Students will use language as an instrument in their interactions. I know firsthand that when one is learning a language, there are moments when one feels incapable, vulnerable, and unintelligent, just because of the struggle to express ideas and concepts.

Languages are meant to be learned in infancy, where family and society show a unique placid disposition to support the learner to build up vocabulary and confidence to reach language proficiency. Adult language learning is not always natural nor welcoming. There must be an openness to re-think the pertinence of traditional procedures (Daeschner, 2014, p. 18) and recreate real-life circumstances where language learners can develop their language skills without the pressure of language precision. The need to provide alternative programs is evident; apathy will result in failure (Collins, 2001). The idea of looking at an ESL program that is delivered in a hybrid or fully online mode is my attempt to rethink the validity of the F2F traditional methods of language teaching. These alternatives would offer learners a modern and effective way to recreate contexts where language interactions will be used to forge a realistic L2 learning environment.

Instructors are often blamed for the poor language-learning outcome of their students; nonetheless, the lack of real-life situational opportunities for learners to exercise their language skills is the real culprit (Mondahl and Razmerita, 2014). Pedagogical challenges and lack of opportunities for learners to practice speaking, listening, reading, and writing skills, may impede individualized feedback. These factors produce teacher frustration and student disinterest (Locastro, 2001). I stand on the premise that class activities must emulate reality in language learning, where real and mundane situations require language proficiency. I also believe that in academic and professional formal occasions, human interactions have a different set of expectations, and in these contexts, language needs to be formal and precise. A language-learning program that does not focus on creating opportunities for students to practice real-life language usage would not show respect for students (The Belmont Report, 1979).

According to Selingo (2013), universities will need to reinvent themselves to respond to the demands from students for the inclusion of interactive and technology-integrated ways to deliver content. In ESL programs offered by universities, technologies and Internet-based tools are even scarce (Chang & Shih, 2007). One possibility to incorporate technologies in the ESL programs would be to partner with companies such as Rosetta Stone (www.rosettastone.com), Babbel (www.babbel.com), Pimsleur (www.pimsleur.com), and Duolingo (www.duolingo.com), which offer interactive tools that students can use as additional resources to improve their language skills. On the Duolingo platform, for instance, teachers can create classrooms and have their students participate in activities directly target to specific language skills; they can also assign activities for students to do on their own. Unfortunately, the cost of these partnerships is high and small colleges and universities would have a difficult time adopting these tools in their budgets (Selingo, 2013). Elaine Tarone (2015) states that online interactive language courses claim to be an effective alternative to face-to-face in-class language courses; however, the lack of longitudinal studies prevents us from comprehending how beneficial and efficient computerbased language courses are compared to F2F courses (Tarone, 2015, p. 393). This is one of the
reasons for combining computer-assisted and synchronous face-to-face interactions in an online EFL program.

The skepticism about the effectiveness of using technology in language learning can be the result of an array of incidents and frustrations experienced by students and teachers (Hamilton, 2009, p. 149; Evans, 2011). I expect that this study will be followed by an investigation of participants' perspectives and benefit from their input about what technological tools and activities helped them the most in their language learning practice (Leki and Carson, 1997).

I am aware of claims that there is no way for educators to be objective and neutral in their interactions with students (see Collins, 2005, and Zaytoun, 2006). I also understand that teachers empathize with their students depending on their personal learning experiences (Stevens, et al., 2010). Having gone through the stages of acquiring L2 and L3 when I was in my twenties, I have experienced similar struggles in my students' adult language learning process. Nonetheless, I recognize that, even though the technologies available today can help students in their L2 acquisition, if not properly utilized, devices and tools may become obstacles and distractions that hinder language learning (Heflin et al., 2017).

Language Acquisition and Pedagogical Strategies.

Culture and language are social constructs (St. Clair, 2008). Consciously or unconsciously, individuals within the same community share an understanding of social concepts, rituals, and practices. The awareness of one's culture, rituals, and language becomes more evident when cultural encounters occur and individuals are drawn to societal and cultural comparisons. A simple lexicon analysis would suffice to make it clear that by the scarceness or abundance of vocabulary to describe things or concepts, a language demonstrates how important or common things and concepts are for a particular community (St. Clair, 2008). Each culture has the aptitude to physiologically perceive different objects, colors, and even emotions; nevertheless, this ability is determined and constrained by cultural values and context. Once anything is perceived, there is a need for a language to create the linguistic symbol for that, which is perceived. Things and concepts that are not perceived are filtered out by the particular language of the specific culture (St. Clair, sd., p. 140). In other words, if the culture does not perceive something, it has no need for words or symbols to represent it. In the language learning process (L2), the learner is faced with cultural encounters, he/she becomes aware of the way his/her original culture makes sense of life and is invited to step out of the constraints of the mother culture/language and embrace the boundaries of the new language/culture being acquired (Trindade, 2011).

In terms of sense of urgency to provide international students linguistic, academic, and global competencies, I aspire to see language education accessible to students around the world as a catalyst of Transformative Learning (Mezirow, 1991) and the establishment of a "consciência" that supports the emancipation of all learners, in all social strata, to attain the privileged and responsibilities of global citizens (Freire, 2000; Greening, 2017). My positionality in terms of language acquisition is that there are cases where late L2 learners obtain near native-like phonological awareness and production due to high levels of L2 exposure and motivation. Older L2 learners with a richer L1 vocabulary, particularly academic terminology, exposed to comprehensible input in a second language L2 have a high potential to excel in the L2 language learning process (Singleton and Ryan, 2004; Krashen et al., 1979; Singleton and Lengyel, 1995).

The relationship-building process that is stimulated in the classroom, being in-person classes or online synchronous environments, promotes a sense of community that helps diminish

the negative "affective filter" and facilitates the language learning process (Stevens et al., 2010; Krashen, 1987). The inclusion of technological tools to facilitate collaboration between English language students is a fundamental element to promote the effectiveness of IEP and EFL programs in English-speaking countries and beyond national borders. English can facilitate collaboration to intermediate global citizenship education (Reimers et al., 2016; Yeager et al., 2013). Collaboration resonates with the UN 2015 goals to help students become global citizens. Acquiring the English language in a diverse and multicultural environment with students from different countries will facilitate the communication between countries, expose students to different cultures, different value systems and encourage international alliances to solve humanity's challenges (Chen, 2011).

Social, cultural, and emotional barriers can be neutralized through collaboration in EFL synchronous communities each time a videoconference takes place. Encouraging meaning negotiation and cooperation (Long and Porter, 1985), an EFL synchronous program may help students master collaborative tasks and promote human ingenuity and partnership to build a global civilization invested in problem-solving.

One of the targets of this study was to measure language skills and proficiency, attitude and engagement, and not simply student satisfaction (Violante and Vezzetti, 2015). The design of this pilot program emphasized the use of interactive exercises, where the exchange of information and discussions about content become the main focus of the activities, and subsequently, language acquisition occurs subconsciously (Dulay, Burt, and Krashen, 1982). I also valued the contact with the participants and prompt reports of their interactions with other learners and instructors, mediated by technology. It was rewarding to hear that students agreed that the pilot program was helpful to enhance comprehension and generate more confidence in their language aptitude (Thurmond and Wambach, 2004).

Experimental studies have highlighted the positive effects of interactivity in developing language skills in terms of improvement in learning outcomes (Moreno and Mayer, 2005). My intention is to emphasize the necessity of interactivity and peer-to-peer collaboration in L2 learning (Long, 1996), highlighting the crucial need for meaningful and comprehensible interactions to propel the SLA process. There is no doubt that input and language exposure are critical ingredients in L1 acquisition (Long, 1990). SLA is a multifaceted cognitive process that involves the incremental development of skills, which will, with time, become unconscious and spontaneous (Pütz and Sicola, 2010).

Reading and writing skills might improve with the use of social media, mainly because students are interacting with real people (Derakhshan and Hasanabbasi, 2015). I have created groups using Facebook (facebook.com), WhatsApp (whatsapp.com), WeChat (wechat.com), Orkut (orkut.com), Nearpod (nearpod.com), Twitter (twitter.com), Telegram (web.telegram.org), and Seesaw (web.seesaw.me/) and could observe students engaged in activities and interactions outside the ESL classroom. Social media could allow students to maintain their interactions outside the classroom and encourage students to collaborate in face-to-face or remote language learning. My main concern is with the use of informal language and the amount of time to monitor interactions. Most of my students are interested in acquiring academic language, so the informal language in social media, although positive in terms of language development, has to be adapted to a more formal and academic environment. In this case, the instructor would need to monitor the conversations to require the use of formal language. Derakhshan and Hasanabbasi did not provide evidence of the benefits of social media and e-mail for language learning, but the

literature mentioned in their article helped me consider including social media as a language learning tool in my study.

It is relevant to be aware that L2 acquisition includes acculturation (Schumann, J. H. (1978a; 1978b), and the more L2 learners acculturate to the host community, the better they will develop second language competence, still maintaining L1 culture and language markers (Long, 1990, p. 653; Hammer, 2017). Interaction is essential for language proficiency (Hall et al., 2011). According to Long, second language learning cannot occur without input, and input should be negotiated in order for the linguistic, cognitive processes to develop (Long, 1996). Furthermore, the development of higher mental processes is always influenced by society and language interactions (Vygotsky, 1978). Considering that acculturation and L2 acquiring are linked together, the design of this study included topics of culture to instigate group discussions and investigate the experiences of the participants and their understanding of the American culture.

Rationale for the Quantitative Study

This research was designed to quantify language improvement in two different language teaching programs to make generalizations of the potential application of the programs to larger populations. The study used a quasi-experimental research method (causal-comparative study) because I could not randomly place subjects into the two groups (Cook and Campbell, 1979; Maciejewski, 2020). Students apply to the IEP and come to the USA to enroll in F2F classes, and the EFL subjects were recruited via Facebook and WhatsApp. The admission into the two groups was based on a pre-test Placement English Test that selected students who tested in the intermediate level of English competence. The goal was to understand the statistical correlation of variables within groups and between groups. The study compared the within-group measurements (pre and post-test) of the following variables: listening comprehension, grammar,

and vocabulary. The between-group factors were the Intensive English Program and the EFL videoconferencing. The rationale is that if no statistical differences are observed between groups, the inferred conclusion will be that both programs have equivalent potential to promote language learning gains.

Limitations of the Study and Design.

The study did not attempt to control all aspects of the L2 acquisition process; nonetheless, it provided plenty of opportunities for acculturation and language interactions through a rigorous program that included language mechanic skills and collaborative activities with other students and instructors. Being in direct contact with students and instructors of the two modes of delivery in the study (IEP-F2F and EFL-Videoconferencing) gave me a rich opportunity to learn from the subjects and instructors about issues with Internet connectivity and platform glitches that will serve as the basis to develop training resources for instructors and students.

Investigating the phenomenon of second language acquisition through this study allowed me to look at real language learning contexts to understand the participant's experiences in depth. The design illustrates the strategies used to mimic the IEP on the EFL course considering the limitations of time and interpersonal interactions of a course delivered exclusively via videoconferences and collaborative learning.

Similarities and differences between the experimental and control groups were considered not in terms of equality but in terms of proportionality and the maximum time adults were willing to participate in videoconferences twice a week for eight consecutive weeks. The results reflect a lower level of improvement but indicate that students enrolled in the EFL pilot had significant levels of language improvement. The main differences between the groups are the number of hours IEP students spend in F2F classes, 20 hours per week, while EFL videoconference students had only two hours per week.

The level of student interactivity and collaboration was higher in the videoconferencing group, students were sent to break-out rooms a couple of times in every videoconference, and students had discussions via WhatsApp on the days in between lessons. Other factors that could have been taken into account were student social and gender diversity, level of L2 exposure outside the lessons, family and work commitments, and cost of the program. These factors were not measured in this study but could be analyzed in future investigations to ascertain their impact on IEP and EFL online programs.

Subject and Recruitment.

Upon their arrival at the university for the start of the IEP Program, students on the control group were required to take the Michigan English Placement Test (EPT) to be placed in courses according to their English level. The selection of the subjects for the control group was based on their first language (L1 Spanish or Portuguese) and having gone through the IEP Program in the past five years. The ESL Institute provided the files of students from Spanish and Portuguese speaking countries in the past five years, and I asked the ESLI to randomly select 89 students from their files, and I created a database (in Microsoft Excel) with pseudonyms, gender, L1, and scores for the pre and post-tests on listening, grammar, and vocabulary. All personal data and information that could be used to identify an individual subject were omitted from the database. A separate and password-protected list of codes associated with identifiers was created to protect subjects' privacy.

The Intensive English Program (IEP) goal is to prepare its students to be successful in the academic programs they enroll in after graduating from the ESL. The program goes beyond

teaching English and preparing students to read and comprehend academic texts, listen and comprehend formal lectures, participate in class discussions and debates, make oral presentations, write academic essays and APA formatted papers. The intention of designing an English as a Foreign Language Online Synchronous Program (EFL-OS) is to reach students in their own countries to equip them with the means to improve their English skills and the opportunity to start their English academic training before coming to universities in the USA.

If universities decide to implement EFL-OS programs, I recommend that it mimics the IEP focusing on listening, speaking, reading, writing, and good use of English grammar. The expectation is that students will develop their English proficiency in real-life situations, interacting with instructors and classmates via weekly videoconferences. Also, students will learn and discuss matters of culture and society. I also expect that students who successfully complete the EFL-OS could be admitted in the Advanced level of IEPs, or continue in an EFL-OS advanced level, or take the TOEFL/IELTS tests to apply for admission into academic programs.

To investigate the learning effectiveness of the participants, in relation to the delivery mode of the ESL or EFL Program, this study focused on 176 subjects, 88 participating in each mode (face-to-face ESL and fully online synchronous EFL). The participants were selected based on the premise that they shared specific characteristics that could be compared in terms of the SLA theoretical framework of this study (Krashen, 1977). The criteria for the selection of the participants was based on their English level (since I did not offer multiple levels of the program to facilitate the comparisons), ethnicity (I wanted to have a variety of nationalities in each class to avoid students reverting to their mother tongues in-class interactions and to be able to compare the experiences across different culture and language groups), and mother tongue (L1). Some considerations have been raised about the recruitment of the participants. This being a pilot program, I wanted to take advantage of the international recruitment that is already done by the university where the study took place. The university uses independent recruiters in several countries, but in contact with the international department and with recruiting agencies, I was informed that students would not be willing to participate in a pilot project; the agents advised me that after the study was concluded and the university approved the program for students to learn English in their own countries, then recruiters would be able to advertise and recruit students, but not for a pilot program. It is important to emphasize that the F2F ESL Immersion Programs, although not always affordable to many people, offer students the opportunity to improve their language skills and get a first-hand experience in America. An extra advantage is that students who finished the program with a passing grade are not required to take an English proficiency test when applying to undergraduate and graduate courses. The traditional program includes five classes a day for four days a week, and students under an F1 student visa are required to attend classes to maintain their visa status.

In an effort to treat participants as autonomous agents, giving them ample freedom to express their feelings about the experience in the program, I encouraged participants to articulate their understanding of the experiences via private interviews and WhatsApp chats (The Belmont Report, 1979). Besides the pre and post-tests, I conducted informal interviews and asked the instructors to assess the participants' progress in the fully online mode of the program. I intend to have a follow-up study that considers the opinions and feedback from students and teachers participating in an online EFL synchronous program via videoconferences. The F2F regular program already has a system of weekly informal and formal assessments.

From the start of the pilot program, I advised students that if they were not comfortable in the fully online mode, they had the freedom to drop the class and enroll in the F2F regular ESL program at the university. The selection of the participants for the two different modes was based solely on their L1 and English level to avoid discrimination (The Belmont Report, 1979). The F2F group (control) is usually recruited via agents, social media, recruiting trips, and former students, the recruitment of the EFL online group (treatment) was done via social media, Facebook, and WhatsApp, and I asked the people interested in the program to contact their friends and family members. I had the recruitment for over two weeks, and a total of 215 students were recruited over Facebook and WhatsApp to take the pre-test to qualify to participate in the pilot program; students had to test intermediate, be available to participate in 16 lessons and extra class activities, and take a post-test. A total of 145 agreed to take the pre-test, and 113 came to a zoom meeting to take the test. Five test appointments were set every day (M-F) over a period of two weeks, and many students had problems with their Wi-Fi connection and missed the test time because they did not notice the time zone, even with multiple reminders or had personal problems.

A total of 105 students were selected; however, only 88 students were able to complete the eight weeks of the program in the treatment group. I allowed around 26 students in each of the four classes of videoconferences. Nevertheless, we ended up with an average of 22 students from each class that took the post-test. Those who did not complete the program did not receive the certificate of completion from the university. Some students dropped from the program for personal or technical reasons and missed the post-test. Four students from different L1s (not Spanish or Portuguese) were allowed to participate in the pilot to add diversity, but their tests were not included in the study. The control group was composed of 88 students that had taken the regular 8-weeks IEP at the university in the last five summers. I had no control over the selection; the students were selected based on their country of origin and L1 from a list of the students at the ESL Institute of the university where the study was done. The Criteria for selecting the control group were to be from a Spanish or Portuguese speaking country and test in the intermediate English level. More than 430 students were enrolled in the IEP in the past 5 years and about 120 were from Spanish or Portuguese speaking countries and had taken the pre-test and were classified as intermediate. I could find records of the post-test for 88 of these students. The premise of the study was to have students engaged in meaningful English language interactions and instruction to verify if there was a considerable difference between the pre and post-tests and compare between the control and treatment groups.



Recruitment and Data Collection Design Graph

Teaching Strategies and Design.

The IEP used in the control group has a teaching structure that has been in practice for over 15 years (ESLI-CU, 2017). The ESL Institute estimates that over 1800 students have completed at least one period of eight weeks in the IEP in the last 15 years, and since its creation back in 1980, the ESL program has helped students from more than 80 nationalities to improve their English language skills and successfully complete their undergraduate and graduate studies in the university or transfer to other universities around the United States (ESLI-CU, 2017). The IEP is structured with low numbers of students per class (teacher/student average ratio of 1/10), which is the norm in ESL classes at universities comparable in size to the university where the study took place (Horne, 1970; Bahanshal, 2013). Locastro (2001) claims that class size is a variable that plays a significant role in language learning. Instructors report that they have difficulties engaging every student in language classes with more than 15 students (Pedder, 2006).

According to Rosebrough and Leverett (2011), smaller size classes enable teachers to create student-centered lessons and encourage students to interact with their classmates. In a study comparing large and small language classes, Harfitt and Tsui (2015) concluded that small classes promote a higher sense of community and solidity, and students tend to support their classmates to reach higher levels of language competence. In contacts with language schools from universities of similar size, it was confirmed that the ESL typical class size is as follows: Dallas Baptist University, 8-12 students (www.dbu.edu/international/english-language-institute/); Azusa Pacific University, 3-12 students (www.apu.edu/international/alci/iep/); La Roche College, 5-25 students (www.laroche.edu/esl/); Iowa Wesleyan University 4-12 students

(www.iw.edu/esl-program/); and Campbellsville University, 4-15 students (www.campbellsville.edu/academics/programs/english-second-language/).

EFL Course Rationale.

The EFL offered two videoconference classes (1 hour each) every week for eight weeks to mimic the IEP, which offers classes in different language skills in a period of eight weeks. The EFL-OS followed the same premises of the intensive ESL program. Class participation, assignments, and homework were required to guarantee the language progress of each student. Based on the equivalence of the two programs, students were expected to have a higher performance after taking the EFL online pilot program, even though they did not have the same level of language exposure as the students in the IEP have.

A distance-learning program relies heavily on technology, which is why it is so crucial for students to have the right equipment to ensure their success. All students must have access to a computer and/or a mobile device and have a reliable Internet Connection.

The scope and sequence of the course were designed in collaboration with the instructors recruited to teach the four classes of EFL. These instructors are the leading IEP instructors at the university where the study took place and had years of experience teaching international students. I gave the instructors a seminar to train them to use Zoom, Moodle, and Canvas before recruiting students. I found solutions for most of the technical issues I encountered during the recruitment and testing phase. I had weekly conversations via zoom and in-person with the instructors to explain how to use all the features of Zoom, how to set up the meetings for student participation and interaction, and what to when students had problems with their Internet connection. In our meetings, we selected resources from the textbooks used in the IEP program and previous textbooks used by the university, but instructors were advised to

create their presentations and materials to avoid copyright infringement since we would be using the materials with students in multiple locations and multiple countries.

The instructors had the liberty to prepare PowerPoint presentations and were asked to communicate via WhatsApp with the students in their classes in the days between videoconferences providing resources and encouraging them to engage in discussions in English. Recognizing the value of using mobile devices to deliver content and encourage students to work together using L2 (Thabit and Dehlawi, 2012), I asked the instructors of the pilot EFL to include activities where students could collaborate. It is helpful to incorporate mobile apps to increase English language exposure and incentivize students to engage in conversations using English outside the classroom environment (Wang, 2016). I made a list of apps and asked the instructors in my investigation to recommend their students to use mobile apps to interact with each other outside the videoconferences. Some students typed their comments and answers on their WhatsApp group, some recorded audio, and others recorded videos. Some students added links with videos, articles from online journals, YouTube videos, and interactive games to practice the language skill discussed in the videoconference lessons (Todd and Tepsuriwong, 2008). Some students contacted me privately via WhatsApp to express how appreciative they were with the opportunity to participate in the study and how happy they were with the design of the lessons, the collaborative tasks, how helpful the instructors were, and their desire to continue in a course structured like the pilot. The following table presents the content and scope used during the eight weeks of the pilot program:

| WEEK | DAY | TOPIC | SUBTOPIC | BOOK RESOURCES | GRAMMAR FOCUS | | |
|------|----------------|------------|------------------------------------|---|--------------------------------------|--|--|
| | 1 | | Holidays & Eastivals | Grammar Explorer 2, Unit 1: Customs and Traditions (Lesson 2) | Present Tenses | | |
| | - | | nondays & restivais | World Link 2, Unit 7, Lesson B: Festivals and holidays | riesent tenses | | |
| 1 | | | | Pathways 2, Unit 6: Let's Eat! | | | |
| 1 | , | | Food | Grammar Explorer 2, Unit 3: Health and Fitness (Lesson 2 | Count/Non Count Nouns | | |
| | ^ | | FOOU | Reading Explorer 3, Unit 7, Lesson A | count/Non-count Nouns | | |
| | | | | World Link 2, Unit 2, Lesson A: Foods we like | | | |
| | | CULTURE | | Pathways 2, Unit 3: Culture and Tradition (Lesson B) | | | |
| | 1 | | Music & Art | Grammar Explorer 2, Unit 12: Art and Music (Lessons 2 & 3) | | | |
| | - | | | Grammar Explorer 2, Unit 12: Art and Music (Lesson 1) | | | |
| 2 | | | | Reading Explorer 3 , Unit 11 | Modal Verbs | | |
| | | | | CAC, 7 Playing and Watching Sports | | | |
| | 2 | | Sports | Grammar Explorer 2 , Unit 13: Sports | | | |
| | | | | Reading Explorer 3 , Unit 1 | | | |
| | | | | Grammar Explorer 2, Unit 10 lesson 2 & 3 | | | |
| | | | | CAC, 12 Job Interviews | | | |
| | | | | Pathways 2, Unit 10: Entrepreneurs and Innovators | | | |
| 3 | 1&2 | | Work & School | World Link 2, Unit 6, Lesson B: After Graduation | Infinitives, Gerunds, & Conditionals | | |
| | | | | World Link 2 , Unit 9: The World of Work | | | |
| | | | | World Link 2, Unit 1, Lesson B: School Days | | | |
| | | | | World Link 2, Unit 6, Lesson A: Starting out | | | |
| | | LIFESTYLES | | CAC, 11 Handling Stress | | | |
| | | | | Pathways 2, Unit 1: Healthy Lives & Unit 5: Inside the Brain | Quantity & Measurement | | |
| | | | | Grammar Explorer 2, Unit 3: Health and Fitness | | | |
| 4 | 182 | | Health and Fitness | Reading Explorer 3 , Unit 2 | | | |
| | | | | Reading Explorer 3 , Unit 6, Lesson A | | | |
| | | | | Reading Explorer 3, Unit 10, Lesson A | | | |
| | | | | World Link 2, Unit 2, Lesson B: Eating well | | | |
| | | | | Grammar Explorer Unit 3 Lesson 3 | | | |
| | | | | Grammar Explorer 2, Unit 4: Going Places (Lesson 2) | | | |
| | 1 | | Oceans/Marine Life | Grammar Explorer 2, Unit 9: The Natural World (Lesson 3) | | | |
| 5 | | | | Grammar Explorer 2, Unit 10: Work and Play (Lesson 1) | Prepositions | | |
| | | | | Grammar Explorer 2, Unit 10: Work and Play (Lesson 3) | | | |
| | 2 | | Water Management | Pathways 2 , Unit 4: A Thirsty World | | | |
| | | | | World Link 2, Unit 11, Lesson B: Making life better | | | |
| | | NATURE | | Grammar Explorer 2 , Unit 5: A Changing World (Lesson 1) | | | |
| | 1 | NATORE | Global Warming & Natural disasters | | Past Tenses | | |
| | | | | Grammar Explorer 2 , Unit 9 (Lesson 2) | | | |
| 6 | | | | Reading Explorer 3 , Unit 4 | | | |
| 0 | | | | Crammar Evaluates 2, Unit 9: Species Survival | | | |
| | | | Endowened Animals | Grunnin Explorer 2, Unit 6. Appearances and Benavior (Lesson 1) | Eutore Tensos | | |
| | 2 ² | | Endangered Animais | Booding Explorer 2, Unit 11: People and Places (Lesson 2) | Future Tenses | | |
| | | | | Reading Explorer 3, Unit 10, Losson P | | | |
| | | | | Rethurns 2 Unit 2: Technology Teday and Temperatu | | | |
| | | | | Grammar Evolorer 2 Unit 14: Innovations (Lesson 1) | | | |
| | | | | Pathways 2 Unit 5: Incide the Brain | | | |
| 7 | 1&2 | | AI, Transportation, & Medicine | Grammar Explorer 2 Init 5: A Changing World (Lesson 2) | Adjectives & Comparatives | | |
| | | TECHNOLOGY | | Grammar Explorer 2, Unit 3: A Changing World (Lesson 2) | | | |
| | | | | Reading Explorer 3 Init 12 | | | |
| | | | | Grammar Explorer 2 . Unit 16: Exploration (Lesson 3) | | | |
| 8 | 1&2 | | Space Exploration | Pending Evplorer 2 Init 9 | Quoted & Reported Speech | | |
| L | | | | newang explorer 5, one 5 | | | |

In the fully online format EFL program, students will be in their own countries, which translates into a significant cost reduction for them but poses some disadvantages, especially in terms of the realistic number of classes per week and the duration of the classes. The pilot program was designed with a two-hour twice a week synchronous meeting plus weekly group assignments, but since students will not be exposed to English as much outside the classroom, improvements in their language skills may not be as significant as the in-person ESL program. Moreover, the participants were tested at a minimum intermediate language proficiency level to be accepted in the online synchronous program due to the minimum required language ability to

understand instructions and be understood in a synchronous online classroom and participate in group activities.

During the study, all students were required to take the English Placement Test. After the data collection and observing how engaged the students were during the pilot, I presented an informal report of the results to the university and was allowed to start a new program called The EFL Synchronous Online Program at a reduced cost for students in their home countries. The university's recruiting agents are advertising the program in several countries, and five classes have already been offered since July 2020. Students are responsible for the tuition fee, but the university embraced my vision of making this program affordable to students in developing countries. The idea is that students enrolled in the fully online program can transfer to the IEP at any time, and those who complete the intermediate and advanced levels of the EFL Synchronous Online Program will not be required to take ESL classes when they come to the US for undergraduate or graduate programs in our university.

The fact that I went through a similar experience of learning English as an adult, gives me a very close understanding of students' experiences. However, my own ESL experience as a student was before the availability of the Internet and computer-based technologies. At the time, I was single, I had a very constrained time for learning English, a limited budget, and my ESL course was in England. My background, experiences as a second language learner, and qualifications as a researcher, gave me the passion for this project (Denzin and Lincoln, 2018). I have been interested in serving L2 learners who will pursue higher education because I earnestly believe that education can promote social change (Duke, 2004).

My experience working with students in hybrid learning formats in previous investigations during my Ph.D. helped me learn more about how a virtual environment could be used in language education (Sadler, 2012). It also helped me understand that technical issues can hinder the learning process and generate frustration for students and instructors. My understanding and training in online course design were essential assets to my research.

Data Collection

In virtue of funding and student recruitment issues, the project's design started in the Fall of 2018, but the data collection began in the Spring of 2020 and was completed by the Summer of 2020. Before the data collection phase, I designed a hybrid ESL course and used it with ESL students to verify the work of the platforms and to identify possible technical issues to be resolved to make students comfortable using the online tools and participating in videoconferences. The ESL instructors were trained to use the platforms efficiently, as they shared screens, divided students into break-out rooms, and monitor the students' collaborative tasks. Discussions with IEP faculty were held to look at diversified ways to implement group activities and apply similar pedagogical strategies already used in the in-person ESL classes in the fully online mode to establish similarities that would facilitate the comparison between the two modes of English language lessons. The reason for establishing a period of at least eight weeks of continuous classes was to provide students with language exposure over time (Yin, 2009). During the data collection, students had multiple opportunities to express their impressions of the program, and the feedback was relayed to the instructors for them to add new activities, give students more discussion time, and redesign their lesson plans. Most of the fully online synchronous sessions (videoconferences) were recorded for observation in future studies and to help train the instructors in the future. The F2F classes were visited by the researcher for observations, and a few of the observation notes are also archived for future reference.

In the literature review, most studies focused on student satisfaction and seldomly assessed students' language skills development or compared the achievement of language students using CALL/MALL to the achievements of students enrolled in traditional intensive language face-to-face programs (IEP). For this reason, I decided to design a study that would look at four groups of ELL students selected to participate in the EFL online Pilot Program for 8 weeks. All the students that participate in the treatment group (online mode), independently of the instructor, were asked to 1) watch short videos in English about the content being studied, 2) take short online quizzes, 3) work with classmates in group assignments over the Internet (where they had to collaborate and discus about the topics and tasks before coming to class), 4) take part in discussions via videoconferences (within virtual breakout rooms), 5) have peer-to-peer interactions (via WhatsApp outside the videoconference), and 6) have personal interviews with their English instructor.

Students were asked to finish online activities on their computers or smartphones before the videoconferences. Each videoconference lasted one hour, and there were two videoconferences every week for eight weeks. Students in the control group were enrolled in a face-to-face traditional IEP Program with regular class activities and homework assignments for eight weeks at a private university in the Southeast of the United States of America.

Class-participation in the control group was required; however, in the traditional IEP, students had classes of fifty minutes in five language areas four days a week for eight weeks. To measure language learning progress, I chose a well-known instrument, the Michigan EPT Testing - MEPT (Spaan et al., 2006; Barkaoui, 2015; Lin, 2017), an instrument used by many universities and IEPs since 1973 (https://michiganassessment.org/michigan-tests/m-ept/). The MEPT is a measuring instrument designed to assess English language mastery used by the

university where the study was conducted. The test is used to test arriving students and place them in the various levels of English courses offered by that institution.

As part of my administrative role in the ESL department and director of the MA TESOL Program, I strive to find ways to improve the learning experience and efficiency of our ESL (and EFL) students and communicate the findings to my MA TESOL students to make sure that the new generation of ESL/EFL instructors will be equipped to assist students in F2F or online language classes (Hubbard, 2006). Typically, the IEP students take the placement test at their arrival in America and then at the end of the eight-week program. Students that start at lower levels might stay in the program for another 8 to 16 weeks, and they will retake the test as they graduate from the ESL Program. The assessment of the control group indicates considerable progress, especially in the areas of listening and grammar; however, I did not have access to the information about students that repeated the course. In the post-test, there was a small number of students with a declined score in some of their English skills when compared to the pre-test. The decline was mainly in the reading and vocabulary tests, which was also observed in the treatment group but with a lesser frequency. I noticed that some students did not take, or the university did not have the recorded post-test scores. Even though the number of students that had a lower score was not significant, as a consequence of the examination of the data, I have suggested pedagogical and logistical measures to avoid future outliers in the post-test of the IEP. The ESL Institute now requires that the post-test be done as a condition for students to graduate from the IEP, and we will analyze the results of future ESL cohorts to see if the measures implemented are sufficient to resolve the problem and improve the outcome of the program.

Motivation, culture, and mother tongue linguistics are characteristics that highly impact ELL students (Gardner, 2010; Krashen, 2009a; Long, 1983; 2014). Extensive research has been

conducted to test the influence of personality type on second language learning (see MacIntyre & Charos, 1996; Howard, J.B., 2010; Ehrman, 2008). In my observations, more introverted students may take longer to develop their English skills when compared with extroverted students; however, introverted students usually have better grammar and pronunciation in terms of proficiency.

To minimize the linguistic variants in this study, all the participants were from the same language family (Romance languages - Stein-Smith, 2018), in this case, Portuguese and Spanish. In a normal IEP, students are not separated by culture and linguistic characteristics. To mimic that multicultural, multilingual environment and avoid restricting students' exposure to other cultures and accents, I allowed a very small number of students from Asia and Africa to participate in the control group; however, the tests from these students were not included in the analysis.

Under the assumption that online activities would be helpful to ELLs, online tools focusing on vocabulary and grammar were recommended to the students. To make sure that students were exposed to comprehensible input (Krashen, 2009a) and would have plenty of opportunities to speak during the lessons, the lessons were designed with short teacher-led instructions followed by a group discussion in break-out rooms. The instructor visited the breakout rooms to make sure students are on task. Whenever possible, MA TESOL students and visiting faculty would help in the break-out rooms. Students could contribute to the discussion, engage with their classmates, and augment their exposure to the English language. Students were invited to a WhatsApp chatroom for activities outside the classroom environment where they could ask questions directly to the instructor and classmates about the topics discussed in the previous lessons and the topic of the next videoconference. Language acquisition happens in an environment of human interaction within the speech community (Patrick, P. 2012). The videoconferences and chat rooms provided students with resources that helped them interact with the instructor and their classmates to develop their language skills. During the study, I noted that not all online resources are created equal and that some can help students, and some hinder their language development. For instance, the use of virtual reality games (Bonner and Reinders, 2018; Cook et al., 2019) and other online interactive activities during the videoconferences did not work very well, and instructors were forced to switch to other activities to maintain student engagement and participation.

During the recruitment of the students, I used the LMS Canvas because to use Moodle, I would have to add all the participants as students in the university system, and it would require the assistance of the Admissions Department, and it would influence the way the university manages and measures student's applications. I used the free version of Canvas (<u>https://canvas.instructure.com/</u>), and there I created teaching resources to be used by the students to complement the videoconference lessons. I also created a WhatsApp group to advise the candidates about how the tests would be administered via zoom conferences and Canvas, about the consent forms, and to answer questions about the structure and content of the course. Once the recruitment was completed, students were divided into four groups based on their availability and the availability of the instructors.

Two groups had videoconferences on Mondays and Wednesdays, the lower intermediate group had their meetings from 6-7 pm EST, and the high intermediate met from 7-8 pm EST. The other two groups met on Tuesdays and Thursdays from 6-7 pm (low intermediate) and 7-8 pm (high intermediate). Each instructor had one low intermediate group and one high intermediate. I created four new WhatsApp groups, one for each class, and invited the selected

students to join the groups. Most of the students that were not selected were unresponsive, missed the pre-test, even after I sent several reminders and offered alternative times for testing, and a few tested too low or too high in the test.

Both instructors reported that the groups were very homogeneous and that the student participation was very high in both groups. The content, topics, and teaching resources were the same for all groups, but the instructors stated that they tried to simplify the language when interacting with the lower intermediate groups. The discussions in the breakout rooms, according to the instructors, were very inclusive and lively. I was a guest at some of the videoconferences and watched the recorded videoconferences. I attest that the lessons were very interactive, and every student was encouraged to participate in the class discussions and the breakout rooms. Instructors visited the breakout rooms to ensure the students were engaged in the discussions, were on task, and offered assistance.

The design of the lesson was based on the concept that intermediate and advanced students will develop independence and language skills by using the language in communication in a learner-centered classroom (Kaymakamoglu, 2018; Benson, 2012; Philominraj et al., 2017; Blake, 2008a), which is the goal of the IEP at the university where the study was executed. The goal was to maintain a ratio of teacher talk time (TTT) and student talk time (STT) of around 30% to 70% (Kareema, 2015) to maximize student participation, creating opportunities for comprehensible input and meaning negotiation through listening, speaking, and reading (Krashen, 2009b; Fernámdez-García, and Martínez-Arbelaiz, 2002).

Although in some lessons teachers have to use more time to explain some concepts, in my observations of the in-person IEP classes and the EFL videoconferences, teachers resolutely

find strategies to maintain students engaged in conversations to increase STT (student talk time) and language use (Kareema, 2015; Sudiran and Vieira, 2017; Berk, 2012).

It must be noted that in videoconferences, there is a longer transition time required for students to be transferred from the main conference to the breakout rooms and back, and sometimes due to their Internet connection or the type of device being used, it may take a couple of minutes for them to enter the room and be ready to engage with their classmates. In face-to-face environments, the transition time is shorter, but students can hear the conversations from other groups due to the room size, which does not happen in the videoconferences. In terms of listening, the fact that students need to learn how to lower their voices and filter out competing stimuli (Gilakjani and Ahmadi, 2011; El-dali, 2017) might have positive effects that unfortunately cannot be reproduced effectively in a videoconference.

In chapter four, I present the results of the data collected from the Pilot EFL Program and the EIP and compare the results of the pre and post-tests of the treatment and control groups to determine if there were significant statistical differences in language improvement within and between the two groups. The results will be presented and analyzed to investigate (RQ1) the differences in the pre-post language learning outcomes within a fully online synchronous EFL program and within an in-person ESL program, and (RQ2) how the learning outcome of students in a fully online synchronous EFL program compares to that of students in an in-person ESL program.

Chapter 4 - Results and Findings

The primary objective of this study was to examine the efficacy of an EFL program delivered via videoconferences to students living in their own countries, compared to an ESL

IEP (Intensive Immersion Program). The intention of the study was to answer the following research questions:

- RQ1. Are there significant differences in the pre-post language learning outcomes within a fully online synchronous EFL program and within an in-person ESL program?
- RQ2. Is the learning outcome of students in a fully online synchronous EFL program comparable to that of students in an in-person ESL program?

It was hypothesized that (1) the learning outcome of students in a fully online synchronous EFL program is similar to that of students in an in-person ESL program, and 2. there is no significant difference in the language learning outcomes between the two programs.

The control group (in-person instruction) was composed of 88 students from Spanish and Portuguese-speaking countries in South America that took the IEP offered by a private university in Kentucky in the past five years. Students in the control group had eight weeks of in-person English classes. The experimental group (online instruction) was composed of 88 students who participated in the EFL pilot course offered to Spanish and Portuguese-speaking students in Latin America. The course was offered free of charge via zoom conferences twice a week for 8 eight weeks. The students were recruited over Facebook and WhatsApp.

Both groups of students were assessed before and after the interventions using the Michigan EPT Testing - MEPT (Spaan et al., 2006), an instrument designed to assess English language mastery used by many universities since 1973 (https://michiganassessment.org).

Descriptive Statistics

The descriptive statistics of the <u>Listening pre and post-tests</u> for the Control and Experimental Groups are presented in Table 1. The results from the Listening pre-test indicate that the two groups did not start from the same level. The average score for the Listening pre-test of the Control Group was 58.50 (M = 58.50, SD = 12.18), and an average of 40.23 (M = 40.23, SD = 21.88) on the Listening pre-test for the Experimental Group. The Listening post-test for both groups indicate an increase in the outcome for both groups, the Control Group post-test average was 68.81 (M = 68.81, SD = 9.26), and the post-test average result of the Experimental Group was 56.14 (M = 56.14, SD = 21.07). The Listening post-test results indicate an outcome increase in both groups, 10.3 points for the Control Group and 15.9 points for the Experimental Group. A difference of 5.6 higher for the Experimental Group.

Table 1

Descriptive Statistics for the Listening Pre and Post tests

| | CG (IEP) | CG (IEP) and EG (EFL) | | | | |
|---------------------------|----------|-----------------------|----------|--------------|--|--|
| | control | | experime | experimental | | |
| | Pre List | Post List | Pre List | Post List | | |
| Mean | 58.50 | 68.81 | 40.23 | 56.14 | | |
| 95.0% Lower CL for Median | 60.00 | 70.00 | 25.00 | 50.00 | | |
| 95.0% Upper CL for Median | 65.00 | 77.00 | 45.00 | 65.00 | | |
| Median | 60.00 | 70.00 | 35.00 | 55.00 | | |
| Standard Deviation | 12.18 | 9.26 | 21.88 | 21.07 | | |

The descriptive statistics of the <u>Grammar pre and post-tests</u> for the Control and Experimental Groups are presented in Table 2. The results from the Grammar pre-test indicate that the two groups did not start from the same level; however, the difference does not appear to be significant. The average score for the Grammar pre-test of the control group was 62.65 (M =65.65, SD = 12.12), and an average of 57.99 (M = 57.99, SD = 20.12) on the Grammar pre-test for the Experimental Group. The Grammar post-test for both groups indicate an increase in the outcome for both groups, the Control Group Grammar post-test average was 72.67 (M = 72.67, SD = 7.88), and the Grammar post-test average result of the Experimental Group was 65.32 (M =65.32, SD = 19.07). The Grammar post-test results indicates an outcome increase in both groups, 10.02 points for the Control Group and 7.33 points for the Experimental Group, a difference of

2.7 points higher for the Control Group.

Table 2

Descriptive Statistics for the Grammar Pre and Post tests

| | CG (IEP) and EG (EFL) | | | | | | |
|-------------------------|-----------------------|-----------|-----------|-----------|--|--|--|
| | control | | experimen | tal | | | |
| | Pre Gram | Post Gram | Pre Gram | Post Gram | | | |
| Mean | 62.65 | 72.67 | 57.99 | 65.32 | | | |
| 95.0% Lower CL for Mean | 60.08 | 71.00 | 53.73 | 61.28 | | | |
| 95.0% Upper CL for Mean | 65.21 | 74.34 | 62.25 | 69.36 | | | |
| Median | 64.00 | 73.00 | 58.50 | 67.00 | | | |
| Standard Deviation | 12.12 | 7.88 | 20.12 | 19.07 | | | |

The descriptive statistics of the <u>Vocabulary pre and post-tests</u> for the Control and Experimental Groups are presented in Table 3. The results from the Vocabulary pre-test indicate that the two groups did not start from the same level; however, the difference is not significant. The average score for the Vocabulary pre-test of the control group was 64.07 (M = 64.07, SD =11.76), and an average of 62.92 (M = 62.92, SD = 20.86) on the Vocabulary pre-test for the Experimental Group. The Vocabulary post-test for both groups indicate an increase in the outcome for both groups, the Control Group Vocabulary post-test average was 73.06 (M = 73.06, SD = 9.86), and the Vocabulary post-test average result of the Experimental Group was 70.15 (M =70.15, SD = 18.69). The Vocabulary post-test results indicate an outcome increase in both groups, 8.99 points for the Control Group and 7.23 points for the Experimental Group, a difference of 1.76 points higher for the Control Group.

Table 3

| | CG (IEP) and EG (EFL) | | | | | | |
|-------------------------|-----------------------|------------|--------------|------------|--|--|--|
| | control | | experimental | | | | |
| | Pre Vocab | Post Vocab | Pre Vocab | Post Vocab | | | |
| Mean | 64.07 | 73.06 | 62.92 | 70.15 | | | |
| 95.0% Lower CL for Mean | 61.58 | 70.97 | 58.50 | 66.19 | | | |
| 95.0% Upper CL for Mean | 66.56 | 75.15 | 67.34 | 74.11 | | | |
| Median | 65.00 | 75.00 | 67.00 | 73.00 | | | |
| Standard Deviation | 11.76 | 9.86 | 20.86 | 18.69 | | | |

| Descriptive Statistics | for th | he Vocal | bulary P | re and | l Post tests |
|------------------------|--------|----------|----------|--------|--------------|
|------------------------|--------|----------|----------|--------|--------------|

It is important to note that the pre-test for the Control Group does not appear to be equal to the pre-test of the Experimental Group in the Listening and in the Grammar assessments; however, the pre-test Vocabulary assessment appears to be equal for both groups. It is also important to highlight that when compared to the post-test results, the differences in learning outcome increase are not consistent and not unidirectional among the groups and variables tested. The Control Group had a higher increase in Grammar from pre to post-tests, but on the Listening, the Experimental Group had a higher increase in outcome from pre to post-test. In terms of Vocabulary, both groups appear to start from similar levels and the difference in learning outcome increase from pre to post-tests between the two groups does not appear to be statistically significant.

Statistical Differences Between Control and Experimental Groups Pre-Tests

In virtue of the observable differences between the Control and Experimental Groups and the pre and post-tests, it was determined the need to test the data for statistically significant differences between the Control and Experimental groups on the pre-tests only to compare the starting point of the Control Group to the Experimental Group in the three variables assessed (Listening, Grammar, and Vocabulary). To test for statistically significant differences between the Control and Experimental groups (pre-test), an independent-samples t-test was run. The group statistics shown on table 4 confirm that there is a difference between Control and Experimental pre-tests, a large difference in Listening (CG - M = 58.50, EG - M = 40.23), a small difference in Grammar (CG - M = 62.65, EG - M = 57.99), and a non-significant difference in Vocabulary (CG - M = 64.07, EG - M = 62.92).

Table 4

| Pre-test Group S | Statistics |
|------------------|------------|
|------------------|------------|

| Group Statistics | | | | | | | | |
|------------------|--------------|----|---------|----------|---------|--|--|--|
| | CG and EG | Ν | M | SD | SE | | | |
| Pre List | control | 88 | 58.5000 | 12.18441 | 1.29886 | | | |
| | experimental | 88 | 40.2273 | 21.87883 | 2.33229 | | | |
| Pre Gram | control | 88 | 62.6477 | 12.11633 | 1.29161 | | | |
| | experimental | 88 | 57.9886 | 20.12004 | 2.14480 | | | |
| Pre Vocab | control | 88 | 64.0682 | 11.76279 | 1.25392 | | | |
| | experimental | 88 | 62.9205 | 20.85705 | 2.22337 | | | |
| | | | | | | | | |

The independent t-tests (table 5) indicates that the only statistically difference between the two groups' pre-tests is observed on the Listening, where a statistically significant difference is presented (p < .001), the observed results on Grammar pre-test indicate that the two groups are close to being equal (p = .064), and the same test indicates that on Vocabulary pre-test, the two groups are equal (p = .65). These conclusions were made based on the p value > .05 as the threshold for equality of variances between variables. This indicates that the probability of the two groups not being equal in Vocabulary pre-test scores is not statistically significant since p >.05. For Grammar, the two groups are not truly different because the difference of the magnitude observed is about .06 or 6%, which could be explained by random chance. The results for Listening, nonetheless, indicate a significant probability for the two groups being different and further considerations will be made for that variable.

Table 5

Independent Samples Test (CG and EG Pre-tests)

Independent Samples Test

| | | Levene's Test for t-test for Equality of Means Equality of Variances | | | | | | | | |
|-------------|-----------------------------------|--|-------|-------|-------|------|-------|------|-------|-------|
| | | F | р. | Т | df | р | d | SE | 95% | 5 CI |
| | | | | | | | | | Lower | Upper |
| Pre List | Equal variances not assumed | 35.087 | <.001 | 6.845 | 136.2 | .000 | 18.27 | 2.67 | 12.99 | 23.55 |
| Pre Gram | Equal variances not assumed | 35.780 | <.001 | 1.861 | 142.8 | .065 | 4.65 | 2.50 | 290 | 9.61 |
| Pre Vocb | Equal variances not assumed | 37.908 | <.001 | .450 | 137.3 | .654 | 1.5 | 2.55 | -390 | 6.20 |

Research Questions

The first research question guiding the study was focused on investigate the differences in the pre-post language learning outcomes within a fully online synchronous EFL program and within an in-person ESL program. In other words, the study aims to determine if there was an increase in language learning from pre to post-tests within both groups (control and experimental) for Listening, Grammar, and Vocabulary. To verify the increase in learning outcomes a factorial mixed model analysis with two level within/repeated factor (pre and posttests) and two-level between factor (in-person and videoconferences) was conducted via the General Linear Model – Repeated Measures task in SPSS. The analysis allowed me to distinguish between the effects of the two different interventions over time to test the gains in outcomes of Listening, Grammar, and Vocabulary. The same analysis was replicated for each of the three dependent variables (Listening, Grammar, and Vocabulary). Based on table 6 of the descriptive statistics of the Control and Experimental Groups <u>on</u> <u>pre and post Listening tests</u>, the Listening pre-test average for the Control Group was 58.50 (M = 58.50, SD = 12.18), and the post-test was 68.81 (M = 68.81, SD = 9.26). The Listening pre-test average for the Experimental Group was 40.23 (M = 40.23, SD = 21.88), and the post-test was 56.14 (M = 56.14, SD = 21.07).

Table 6

Descriptive GLM Repeated Measures CG and EG – Listening Pre and Post

| Descriptive Stats - GLM Rptd M - CG & EG – Pre & Post Listening | | | | | | | | |
|---|--------------|-------|-------|-----|--|--|--|--|
| | CG and EG | M | SD | Ν | | | | |
| Pre List | control | 58.50 | 12.18 | 88 | | | | |
| | experimental | 40.23 | 21.88 | 88 | | | | |
| | Total | 49.36 | 19.89 | 176 | | | | |
| Post List | control | 68.81 | 9.26 | 88 | | | | |
| | experimental | 56.14 | 21.07 | 88 | | | | |
| | Total | 62.47 | 17.43 | 176 | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | |

The Box's Test of Equality of Covariance Matrices indicates that the observed covariance of the dependent variables is less than 0.01 (p < .001), suggesting that the assumption of homogeneity of variance assumption was not met. For this reason, a Multivariate Test was used, and the results of the Wilk's Lambda Test, indicates that there was a significant difference between the pre-scores and the post scores for Listening in both groups (p < .001), and the direction suggests a significant increase in Listening post-tests for the two interventions, inperson ESL and EFL via videoconferences. It is important to note also that there was a significant interaction between treatment and time (p < .001), and the effect size was statistically significant ($\eta^2 = .059$), indicating that the effect size for pre and post-test scores for Listening was great ($\eta^2 = .59$) for both treatments (IEP and EFL videoconferences); however, a small effect size for the type of treatment was observed ($\eta^2 = .061$), due to only 6% of the variance explaining the increase in Listening outcome by the type of treatment, which indicates that the effect size for type of treatment is about ten times smaller than the difference coming from pre to post-test (see table 7).

Table 7

| effect | | Value | F | df | р | η_p^2 | Observed |
|----------|---------------|-------|--------|-------|-------|------------|--------------------|
| | | | | | | | Power ^c |
| factor 1 | Wilks' | .413 | 247.45 | 1.000 | <.001 | .587 | 1.000 |
| | <u>Lambda</u> | | | | | | |
| factor * | Wilks' | .939 | 11.30 | 1.000 | .001 | .061 | .917 |
| Irtmnt | Lambda | | | | | | |

Multivariate Tests – CG and EG – Listening Pre and Post-Tests.

In terms of finding a significant difference between pre and post-tests in Listening, the answer was yes. In other words, both programs, the IEP and the EFL Videoconferences produced a significant increase in student Listening learning (outcome).

The second research question (RQ2) is to investigate how the learning outcome of students in a fully online synchronous EFL program compares to that of students in an in-person ESL program. To determine if there is a difference in Listening learning increase between the Control and the Experimental Groups overtime, the Test of Between-Subjects was used (table 8). The Between-Subjects test indicates that there is a significant increase in the Listening skills overtime in both groups, but the increase is different between Control and Experimental (p = < .001). That is to say that the main effect of group showed that there was a statistically significant difference in mean Listening skills increase between intervention groups F(1, 174) = 40.71, p < .001, partial $\eta^2 = .19$. Knowing that the difference between the two groups is statistically significant, we can look at the descriptive statistics (table 6) to identify where the differences are.

The net gain in Listening skills for the Control Group was 10.31 points, and the net gain for the Experimental Group was 15.91 points. The Experimental Group had a significantly higher increase than the Control Group in terms of Listening skills, even though the Experimental Group started at a lower overall level of Listening competence.

Table 8

Test of Between-Subjects Effects - Listening

Tests of Between-Subjects Effects – Listening

| Measure: MEASURE_1 | | | | | | | | | |
|-------------------------------|------------|-----|------------|---------|------|------------|--|--|--|
| Transformed Variable: Average | | | | | | | | | |
| Source | SS | df | MS | F | р | η_p^2 | | | |
| Intrcpt | 1100626.39 | 1 | 1100626.39 | 2127.13 | .000 | .924 | | | |
| Trtmnt | 21064.57 | 1 | 21064.57 | 40.71 | .000 | .190 | | | |
| Error | 90031.54 | 174 | 517.42 | | | | | | |

a. Computed using alpha = .05

Based on table 9 of the descriptive statistics of the Control and Experimental Groups on pre and post Grammar tests, the Grammar pre-test average for the Control Group was 62.65 (M =62.65, SD = 12.12), and the post-test was 72.67 (M = 72.67, SD = 7.88). The Grammar pre-test average for the Experimental Group was 57.99 (M = 57.99, SD = 20.12), and the post-test was 65.32 (M = 65.32, SD = 19.07).

Table 9

Descriptive GLM Repeated Measures CG and EG – Grammar Pre and Post

| Descriptive Stats - GLM Rptd M - CG & EG - Pre & Post Grammar | | | | | | | | |
|---|-----------|---------|-------|-----|--|--|--|--|
| | CG and EG | М | SD | N | | | | |
| Pre Gram | control | 62.65 | 12.12 | 88 | | | | |
| | experimnt | 57.99 | 20.12 | 88 | | | | |
| | Total | 60.3182 | 16.72 | 176 | | | | |
| Post Grammar | control | 72.67 | 7.88 | 88 | | | | |
| | experimnt | 65.32 | 19.07 | 88 | | | | |
| | Total | 68.99 | 15.01 | 176 | | | | |

The Box's Test of Equality of Covariance Matrices indicates that the observed covariance of the dependent variables is less than 0.01 (p < .001), suggesting that the assumption of homogeneity of variance assumption was not met. For this reason, a Multivariate Test was used, and the results of the Wilk's Lambda Test indicates that there was a significant difference between the pre-scores and the post scores for Grammar in both groups (p < .001), and the direction suggests a significant increase in Grammar post-tests for the two interventions, inperson ESL and EFL via videoconferences. It is important to note also that there was an interaction between treatment and time (p < .001), and the effect size was statistically significant ($\eta^2 = .55$), indicating that the effect size for pre and post-test increase scores for Grammar was significant ($\eta^2 = .55$) for both treatments (IEP and EFL videoconferences); however a weak effect size for the type of treatment (η^2 =.028), due to only 2% of the variance explaining the increase in Grammar outcome by the type of treatment, which indicates that the effect size of the type of treatment is about 25 times smaller than the difference coming from pre to post-test (see table 10).

Table 10

Multivariate Tests – CG and EG – Grammar Pre and Post-Tests.

| Multivariate Tests - CG and EG Grammar Pre and Post" | | | | | | | | |
|--|--------|-------|------------------|-------|-------|------------|--------------------|--|
| Effect | | Value | F | df | р | η_p^2 | Observed | |
| | | | | | | | Power ^c | |
| factor1 | Wilks' | .452 | 211.07 | 1.000 | <.001 | .548 | 1.000 | |
| | Lambda | | | | | | | |
| factor1 * | Wilks' | .972 | 5.0 ⁹ | 1.000 | .025 | .028 | .611 | |
| Treatmnt | Lambda | | | | | | | |

Multivariate Tests - CG and EG Grammar Pre and Post^a

a. Design: Intercept + Treatmnt

Within Subjects Design: factor1

b. Exact statistic

In terms of finding a significant difference between pre and post-tests in the two groups, the answer was yes. In other words, both programs, the IEP and the EFL Videoconferences produced a significant increase in student Grammar learning (outcome).

The second research question (RQ2) is to investigate how the learning outcome of students in a fully online synchronous EFL program compares to that of students in an in-person ESL program. To determine if there is a difference in Grammar learning increase between the Control and the Experimental Groups overtime, the Test of Between-Subjects was used (table 11). The Between-Subjects test indicates that there is a significant increase in the Grammar skills overtime in both groups, but the increase is different between Control and Experimental (p < .001). That is to say that the main effect of group type showed that there was a statistically difference in mean for the Grammar skills increase between intervention groups F(1, 174) = 6.94, p < .009, partial $\eta^2 = .04$. Knowing that there is a difference between the two groups, though not statistically significant, we can look at the descriptive statistics (table 9) to identify where the differences are. The net gain in Grammar skills for the Control Group was 10.02 points, and the net gain for the Experimental Group was 2.7 points. The Experimental Group had a lower increase than the Control Group in terms of Grammar skills; however, the Experimental Group started at a lower overall level of Grammar competence.

Table 11

| Tests of Between-Subjects Effects – Grammar | | | | | | | |
|---|-----------|-----|-----------|--------|-------|------------|-----------------------------|
| Measure: MEASURE_1 | | | | | | | |
| Transformed Variable: Average | | | | | | | |
| Sourc | SS | df | MS | F | р | η_p^2 | Observed Power ^a |
| e | | | | | | Ĩ | |
| Intrcpt | 1471511.6 | 1 | 1471511.6 | 3217.9 | <.001 | .949 | 1.000 |
| Trtmnt | 3174.0 | 1 | 3174.0 | 6.9 | .009 | .038 | .745 |
| Error | 79568.9 | 174 | 457.3 | | | | |
| a | | 0. | | | | | |

Test of Between-Subjects Effects - Grammar

a. Computed using alpha = .05

Based on table 12 of the descriptive statistics of the Control and Experimental Groups on pre and post Vocabulary tests, the Vocabulary pre-test average for the Control Group was 64.07 (M = 64.07, SD = 11.76, and the post-test was 73.06 (M = 73.06, SD = 9.86). The Vocabulary pre-test average for the Experimental Group was 62.92 (M = 62.92, SD = 20.86), and the posttest was 70.15 (M = 70.15, SD = 18.69).

Table 12

Descriptive GLM Repeated Measures CG and EG – Vocabulary Pre and Post

| Descriptive S | st <u>ats - GLM Rpi</u> | ta M - CG & EC | s - Pre & Post | Vocabulary |
|---------------|-------------------------|----------------|----------------|------------|
| | CG and EG | М | SD | Ν |
| Pre Vocab | control | 64.07 | 11.76 | 88 |
| | experimnt | 62.92 | 20.86 | 88 |
| | Total | 63.49 | 16.89 | 176 |
| Post Vocab | control | 73.06 | 9.86 | 88 |
| | experimnt | 70.15 | 18.69 | 88 |
| | Total | 71.60 | 14.97 | 176 |
| | | | | |

State CIM Pretd M CC & EC Dra & Dost Vooabul

The Box's Test of Equality of Covariance Matrices indicates that the observed covariance of the dependent variables is less than 0.01 (p < .001), suggesting that the assumption of homogeneity of variance assumption was met. The Multivariate - Wilk's Lambda Test, indicates that there was a non-significant difference between the pre-scores and the post scores for Vocabulary in both groups (p < .001), and the direction suggests a significant increase in Vocabulary post-tests for the two interventions, in-person ESL and EFL via videoconferences. It is important to note also that there was a statistically significant interaction between treatment and time (p > .001), and the effect size is significantly large ($\eta^2 = .53$), indicating that the effect size for pre and post-test scores for Vocabulary was statistically significant ($\eta^2 = .53$) for both treatments (IEP and EFL videoconferences); however, an extremely small effect was observed

for the type of treatment (η^2 =.013), due to only 1% of the variance explaining the increase in Vocabulary outcome by the type of treatment, which indicates that the effect size is over 53 times smaller than the difference coming from pre to post-test (see table 13).

Table 13

Multivariate Tests – CG and EG – Grammar Pre and Post-Tests.

| Multivariate | e Tests - CG a | ind EG Voc | abulary P | re and Po | <i>ost^a</i> | | |
|--------------|----------------|------------|-----------|-----------|------------------------|------------|--------------------|
| Effect | | Value | F | df | p | η_p^2 | Observed |
| | | | | | | | Power ^c |
| factor1 | Wilks' | .465 | 199.91 | 1 | <.001 | .535 | 1.000 |
| | Lambda | | | | | | |
| factor1 * | Wilks' | .987 | 2.36 | 1 | .126 | .013 | .333 |
| Treatmnt | Lambda | | | | | | |

a. Design: Intercept + Treatmnt

Within Subjects Design: factor1

b. Exact statistic

c. Computed using alpha = .05

In terms of finding a significant difference between pre and post-tests in Vocabulary, the answer was yes. In other words, both programs, the IEP and the EFL Videoconferences produced a significant increase in student Vocabulary learning (outcome).

The second research question (RQ2) is to investigate how the learning outcome of students in a fully online synchronous EFL program compares to that of students in an in-person ESL program. To determine if there is a difference in Vocabulary learning increase between the Control and the Experimental Groups overtime, the Test of Between-Subjects was used (table 14). The Between-Subjects test indicates that there is a significant increase in the Vocabulary skills overtime in both groups, but the increase is different between Control and Experimental (p < .001). That is to say that the main effect of group type showed that there was no statistical difference in mean for the Vocabulary skills increase between intervention groups F(1, 174) =
.75, p < .39, partial $\eta^2 = .004$. Knowing that the difference between the two groups is statistically non-significant we can look at the descriptive statistics (table 12) to identify where the differences are. The net gain in Vocabulary skills for the Control Group was 8.99 points and the net gain for the Experimental Group was 7.23 points. The Experimental Group had a nonsignificant lower increase than the Control Group in terms of Vocabulary skills, and both groups started at almost the same level of Vocabulary competence.

Table 14

Test of Between-Subjects Effects - Vocabulary

Tests of Between-Subjects Effects - Vocabulary

Measure: MEASURE_1

| Transform | ned Variable: Av | verage | | | | | | |
|-----------|------------------|--------|------------|---------|-------|------------|-----------|--------------------|
| Source | Type III Sum | df | M Square | F | Sig. | η_p^2 | Noncent. | Observed |
| | of Squares | | | | | | Parameter | Power ^a |
| Incrept | 1606095.82 | 1 | 1606095.82 | 3339.37 | <.000 | .950 | 3339.37 | 1.000 |
| Trtmnt | 362.07 | 1 | 362.07 | .75 | .397 | .004 | .753 | .139 |
| Error | 83686.61 | 174 | 480.96 | | | | | |

a. Computed using alpha = .05

The profile plots for Listening, Grammar, and Vocabulary pre and post-tests (graph 1, 2 and 3) presented below indicate the increase in language learning (outcome) within and between Control and Experimental Groups.

Graph 1 – Profile Plots – Listening



Graph 2 – Profile Plots – Grammar



Graph 3 – Profile Plots – Vocabulary



The following table presents a summary of the findings within each group in terms of learning outcome increase from pre to post-tests, and the findings between groups in terms of differences of learning outcome increase between the tso groups, the IEP (in-person) and EFL Videoconferenceing Pilot (online).

| | Summary of the Within and Between Effects | | | | |
|---------------------------------|---|------------|--------------------|--|--|
| | | Pre - Post | Online – In-person | | |
| Listening | p-value | .0011 | .0012 | | |
| | Effect size (η^2) | .59 | .19 | | |
| Grammar | p-value | .0011 | .0092 | | |
| | Effect size (η^2) | .55 | .04 | | |
| Vocabulary | p-value | .0011 | .39 | | |
| | Effect size (η^2) | .54 | .004 | | |
| ¹ Pre < Posr | | | | | |
| ² Online < In-person | | | | | |

In chapter five, I discuss the implications of the results of the data analyses from the comparisons between pre- and post-tests within and between the Pilot EFL Program and the EIP groups. The chapter discusses the considerations about the language competence increase in the three language skills analyzed, the implications of the theoretical framework utilized, the limitations of the study, and the recommendations for future research.

Chapter 5 – Conclusions and Recommendations

In this research, I investigated the similarities between an Intensive English Program (IEP) and an EFL videoconferences pilot based on the following research questions:

• RQ1. Are there significant differences in the pre-post language learning outcomes within a fully online synchronous EFL program and within an in-person ESL program?

• RQ2. Is the learning outcome of students in a fully online synchronous EFL program comparable to that of students in an in-person ESL program?

According to the results of the pre and post-tests for students in the two programs, the analysis indicated that the students' post-test scores in Listening, Grammar, and Vocabulary were significantly higher for both groups, the IEP and the EFL Videoconferencing. The results suggested that the two programs had similar learning outcomes.

Synthesis of the Findings

To examine the efficacy of an EFL program delivered via videoconferences, students were required to take pre and post-tests in the areas of Listening, Grammar, and Vocabulary. The study also had students from an ESL IEP (Intensive Immersion Program) take the same pre and post-test to compare the students' learning outcomes from the two groups after the two interventions.

In relation to the first research question, RQ1, about the differences in the pre-post language learning outcomes within a fully online synchronous EFL program and within an inperson ESL program, the results indicate that in Listening and Grammar, students in the Experimental Group started from a lower level of competence. However, in Vocabulary, both groups started from a similar level of competence.

Even though the starting level of the two groups was different (Listening pre-test average of 58.50 for the IEP Group and 40.23 for the EFL Group), in Listening, the post-test scores were significantly higher after the two interventions, a 17.6% increase for the IEP Group and a 39.6% increase for the EFL Group. The conclusion is that both programs promoted a statistically significant increase in Listening competence.

It is vital to emphasize that the Grammar scores were significantly higher after the two interventions even though the starting level of the two groups was different. The Grammar pretest average was 62.65 for the IEP Group and 57.99 for the EFL Group. There was an increase of 16% for the IEP Group and 13% for the EFL Group in the Grammar post-test. The conclusion is that both programs promoted a statistically significant increase in Grammar competence.

In the Vocabulary pre-test, the students in both groups scored very close, demonstrating a similar level of competency before the interventions. The Vocabulary pre-test average was 64.07 for the IEP Group and 62.92 for the EFL Group. In Vocabulary, there was an increase of 14% for the IEP Group and 11.5% for the EFL Group. The conclusion is that both programs promoted a statistically significant increase in Vocabulary competence.

In relation to the second research question, RQ2 Is the learning outcome of students in a fully online synchronous EFL program comparable to that of students in an in-person ESL program? The results indicate that although both groups had significant learning outcome improvement after the interventions, in Listening and Grammar, students in the Experimental Group started from a lower level of competence. In Vocabulary, both groups started from a similar level of competence in Listening and Grammar, and then look at the language outcome considering that the IEP Group had 12.5 times more in-class time than the EFL Group.

The EFL Videoconferencing Group pre-test Listening scores were considerably lower than the IEP in the pre-test, but there was a higher increase in the post-test of the EFL Group compared to the IEP Group. An increase of 5.6 points higher for the EFL Group. It is imperative to mention that some students in the EFL Group experienced technical issues during the Listening pre-test, and some mentioned being stressed because it was their first time taking an English language test on the computer. Krashen affirmed that language acquisition could be compromised when the stress level is elevated (Krashen, 1998, p. 179), and indeed, students will have a lower Listening comprehension performance if they are unfamiliar with the technology during a test. The students in the IEP took a pencil and paper test with their cohort, and the audio was played on high-quality speakers in the testing site.

The EFL Videoconferencing Group post-test Grammar scores were lower than the IEP in the pre-test (4.66 points difference between groups on the pre-test), and there was a moderately higher increase in the Grammar post-test of the IEP Group than the EFL Group. A difference of 2.7 point increase higher for the IEP Group over the EFL Group was observed. Although the IEP in-class time is 12.5 times higher than the EFL, the grammar competence increase difference between groups is of a low magnitude. The similarity in Grammar outcome increase between the two groups could indicate that a higher level of language use, interaction, and collaboration facilitates the improvement of language learning (Shaw, 2013). It is relevant to point out that the students in the IEP had 33 hours of Grammar in-class instruction (in a 200 hours in-class time program), while the EFL students had 16 hours of in-class (videoconferences with instruction and class activities). The EFL Pilot was focused on Grammar, but the design of the lessons included short instructor-led presentations combined with group activities and collaboration to promote language use and comprehensible input (Patrick, 2002; Krashen and Terrell, 1983, p. 20).

The Vocabulary post-test indicated a similar increase between groups. The EFL Videoconferencing Group Vocabulary post-test scores were marginally lower than the IEP in the pre-test (1.15 points difference between groups on the pre-test), and there was a similar increase in the Vocabulary post-test of the EFL Group compared to the IEP Group. A difference of 1.76 point increase higher for the IEP Group over the EFL Group was observed. Even though there is a difference in vocabulary competence increase between groups, the results indicate that the difference is significantly low and should not be considered. Similarly to grammar, the fact that the vocabulary outcome between the two groups was so close could be attributed to a higher level of language use, interaction, and collaboration that happened in the EFL Pilot Program (Shaw, 2013). The mentioned similarities in terms of Vocabulary might also be attributed to subjects' L1 (mother tongue) being Portuguese and Spanish, and the fact that Latin languages have a high level of word cognate with English (Rabinovich et al., 2018).

It is vital to stress that the design of the EFL Videoconferencing program included pedagogical strategies and course objectives similar to the IEP. However, considering that the pilot program was only one course of two hours of videoconferences per week and the IEP has five courses (Listening, Grammar, Reading, Writing, and Speaking), and twenty-five hours a week of in-person classes, the differences in learning outcome were not statistically significant, and the conclusion was that the EFL Online Program is a viable option for international students to learn English from their home countries.

Implications for Online Language Learning

The literature review indicated that over 400 studies were primarily focused on understanding how to innovate language learning with the use of virtual learning tools and platforms (Von Der Emde et al., 2001). Previous studies highlighted the need for best practices in online language learning (Felix, 2004; White, 2016) and indicated the benefits of peer-to-peer feedback and telecollaboration (Ware and O'Dowd, 2008; Belz, 2002). Unfortunately, most studies were limited to a short period of time, focused on student satisfaction using CALL/MALL, and did not measure the language learning improvement after the treatment (Burston, 2015).

The literature review also highlighted that studies were limited to looking at self-reported student language improvement, student satisfaction, and teachers' perceptions of the benefits of adding CALL/MALL technologies into in-person language classrooms (Zou, 2014). The literature review indicated a gap in understanding how effective online synchronous videoconference platforms would be for language learning.

In this study, an EFL synchronous online pilot program was designed to use videoconferences to provide English language instruction and promote language interaction and collaboration. My intent went beyond learning if CALL/MALL could benefit language education to international students enrolled in ESL programs at American universities, and it was focused on helping EFL students in their home countries and analyzing the potential of learning language via videoconferences in comparison with immersion programs.

The mission of English as a Second Language departments is to help students expedite their language learning and be successful in college. This study has confirmed that language acquisition can happen entirely online if human interactions are synchronous and a sense of a speech community is stimulated (Patrick, 2012).

The results of this study have confirmed that IEP students have a significant improvement in their language skills. The study also confirmed that the EFL videoconferencing students were able to participate in live discussions, collaborate, and use English to communicate with each other. There were some technological problems, but the language competence improvement of students in the EFL Pilot Program was comparable to the students in the inperson IEP. This reiterates the potential for creating a speech community and a welcoming language learning environment for students to develop their language skills remotely.



Looking at the main problems identified in the Literature Review (above), this study confirmed that an EFL videoconferencing program promotes student engagement, was designed to encourage collaboration, used a formal and informal language to help students in their academic goals, utilized a well-known measuring instrument to measure the effectiveness of such a program and compared to an immersion ESL immersion program.

Implications for the Theoretical Framework

In the design of the EFL Pilot Program, elements from the theoretical framework were intentionally considered, in particular, the Affective Filter Hypothesis, and the Comprehensive Input Hypothesis. The results of the study indicate that Krashen's hypothesis that emotional impairments, such as high anxiety levels, low self-esteem, absence of motivation, and low social bond (Krashen, 2009b, p. 8), might hinder the acquisition of a second language (Krashen, 2009a, 2003). However, students may deflect these obstacles when language instructors' strategies and the design of a program create a welcoming language learning environment and promote interactions of comprehensible input that enables language acquisition (Krashen and Terrell, 1983, p. 20).

Krashen (1987) affirmed that a high level of language exposure and grammatical structure repetition exercises could be helpful if the language acquirer is ready to use such grammatical structures in real-life situations. The input must be just above the competency level ("i + 1") of the acquirer (Krashen, 2009a). Krashen also defends that context, extralinguistic

information, gestures, and repetitions make the input comprehensible (Santiago, 2015; Rounds, 2010). The design and execution of the EFL Pilot Program account for comprehensible input intercalating short audio-visual teacher presentations and collaborative activities for students to be exposed to comprehensible input and produce comprehensible output (Swain, 1995 and 2006, see appendix 5).

Krashen defends that the more a language acquirer is exposed to comprehensible input, the more she will acquire the second language (Krashen, 1985, p. 92). The study results confirm Krashen's argument that language exposure without comprehensible input might not produce language acquisition (Krashen, 2009a, p. 41). In the case of the EFL Pilot students, the intentional encouragement of comprehensible input may be the reason for the significant increase in language competence observed.

In Krashen's argument on lack of access to comprehensible input (Krashen, 1985, p. 92), he reasons that poverty of stimuli and comprehensible input may occur even when the second language learner lives in the L2 host country but does not interact with L2 speakers because h/shee is surrounded by co-nationals and family (Krashen, 2009a, p. 63). Students in the EFL Videoconferencing Program were in their home country, but due to the use of diverse methodologies, the creation of a low anxiety environment, and many opportunities for comprehensible input, language acquisition was stimulated through acquisition activities (Krashen and Terrell, 1983, p. 95).

Recommendations for Future Studies.

Limitations of the Study and Design.

The study did not attempt to control all aspects of the L2 acquisition process. However, the EFL pilot course was designed for students to use the English language in interactions that

included language mechanic skills, collaborative activities, and plenty of comprehensible input. My conversations with students and instructors of the two modes (IEP-F2F and EFL-Videoconferencing) allowed me to learn about problems with Internet connectivity, platform glitches, and online activities that will help me develop training resources for instructors and avoid similar problems in the future.

In future studies, I plan to look at other variables such as students' social and gender diversity, age, level of L2 exposure outside the lessons, family and work commitments, and knowledge of other languages to ascertain the impact of these variables on IEP and EFL online programs.

Another element that I could not investigate is the inclusion of gamification in an online EFL program. The fact that students were working full-time and some had problems with their Internet connection prevented me from including games and interactive activities for multiple players (Berns et al., 2013). Gamification might be a very engaging element in online EFL, and a future study could investigate the learning effects, issues, and best practices (Melchor-Couto, 2019).

My goal with the Synchronous online ESL program was to build a speech community of sorts, where students would be at ease with each other and learn how to use English to negotiate meaning and solve problems together (Denzin and Lincoln, 2018). Students in the four classes of the pilot program developed friendships and were communicating outside the videoconferences, but it was not possible to measure if the concept of speech community was accomplished in this pilot program; so further studies should be developed to create a measuring instrument to confirm the relationship to second language learning.

Teaching Strategies and Design.

The IEP (Control group) has a teaching structure that has been in practice for over 15 years (ESLI-CU, 2017). During the study, it became clear that there is a need for studies that compare language teaching strategies and program structures to verify if teaching language in separate skills, such as grammar, speaking, listening, reading, and writing, is as effective as combine language skills in the same course. A further study could also focus on analyzing the ratio of teacher talk time (TTT) and student talk time (STT) to verify if the reduction of TTT contributes to higher language learning.

Social Change and Language Learning

My goal was to provide international students with the opportunity to learn English in their home countries as an alternative for those that cannot afford to come to the USA for an extended period in IEPs. In this study, I created a program that can reduce the time and expenses of students applying to universities in English-speaking countries.

This study had the support of Campbellsville University, and after seeing the students' engagement, the university allowed me to start a new program called The EFL Synchronous Online Program at a reduced cost for students in their home countries. The university is recruiting students for the program in several countries, and five classes have been offered since July 2020. Students are responsible for the tuition fee, but the university embraced my vision of making this program affordable to students in developing countries. Students enrolled in the fully online program can transfer to the IEP at any time, and those who successfully complete the intermediate and advanced levels of the EFL Synchronous Online Program will not be required to take ESL classes when they come to the US for undergraduate or graduate programs in the university. With the mission of helping students escape poverty and promote significant social change in their communities (Duke, 2004), many graduates of an EFL Synchronous Videoconferencing Program can become agents of social change, they will have access to better-paid jobs, and will invest in the development of their communities (Daniel, Kanwar & Uvalic-Trumbic, 2009).

My initial interest in this study was to understand how effective online language learning could be. After the study, I understand the practicality of an EFL Videoconferencing program and the potential for many English learners to have the means to further their education (Jung, 2013). I also recognize that an EFL online program can support the mission of Christian universities, as it reaches students in remote areas and promotes positive social changes in many communities.

References

- Abdous, M. (2015). Trends in podcast download frequency over time, podcast use, and digital literacy in foreign language and literature courses. *International Journal of Distance Education Technologies (IJDET)*,13(2), 15-33. https://doi.org/10.4018/IJDET.2015040102
- Abdous, M., Camarena, M., & Facer, B. (2009). MALL technology: Use of academic podcasting in the foreign language classroom. *RECALL Journal*, 21(1), 76–95. http://journals.cambridge.org
- Abdous, M., Facer, B., & Yen, C- J. (2012). Academic effectiveness of podcasting: A comparative study of integrated versus supplemental use of podcasting in second language classes. *Computers & Education*, 58(1), 43–52. http://www.sciencedirect.com
- Abu Ghali, M. J., Abu Ayyad, A., Abu-Naser, S. S., & Abu Laban, M. (2018). An intelligent tutoring system for teaching English grammar. *International Journal of Academic Engineering Research*, 2(2), 1-6.
- Abukhattala, I. (2012). Krashen's five proposals on language learning: Are they valid in Libyan EFL classes? *English Language Teaching*, 6(1),128-131. https://doi.org/10.5539/elt.v6n1p128
- Acton, W. (1979). Second language learning and perception of attitude. [Unpublished doctoral dissertation] University of Michigan. Perception of Lexical Connotation: Professed
 Attitude and Sociocultural Distance in Second Language Learning. Acton, William
 Robert 1979

- Ahn, T., & Lee, S. (2016). User experience of a mobile speaking application with automatic speech recognition for eFL learning. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 47(4), 778-786. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjet.12354
- Alemi, M., Sarab, M., & Lari, Z. (2012). Successful learning of academic word list via MALL:
 Mobile Assisted Language Learning. *International Education Studies*, 5(6), 99-109.
 http://www.ccsenet.org
- Alhabbash, M. I., Mahdi, A. O., & Naser, S. S. A. (2016). An Intelligent Tutoring System for Teaching Grammar English Tenses. *European Academic Research*, 4(9), 7743-7757. www.euacademic.org
- Al-Imarah, A. & Shields, R. (2019). MOOCs, Disruptive innovation and the future of higher education: A conceptual analysis. *Innovations in Education and Teaching International*, 56(3), 258-269. https://doi.org/10.1080/14703297.2018.1443828
- Al-Jarf, R. S. (2005). The effects of online grammar instruction on low proficiency EFL college students' achievement. *Asian EFL Journal*, 7(4), 166-190.
- Al-Jarf, R. S. (2012). Mobile technology and student autonomy in oral skill acquisition. In J.
 Díaz-Vera (Ed.), *Left to my own devices: Learner autonomy and mobile-assisted language learning innovation and leadership in English language teaching* (pp. 105–130). Bingley, UK: Emerald Group.
- Allan, S. (2007). Podcasts and embedded audio to support language learning. *Warwick Interactions Journal*, 30 (2), 1-12.
- Alshahrani, A. (2016). Communicating authentically: Enhancing EFL students' spoken English via videoconferencing. *CALL-EJ*, *17*(2), 1-17.

- Al-Shehri, S. (2011a). Context in our pockets: Mobile phones and social networking as tools of contextualising language learning. *Proceedings 10th World Conference on Mobile and Contextual Learning (mLearn)* (pp. 278-286). Beijing, China: Beijing Normal University. http://mlearn.bnu.edu.cn/source/Conference_Procedings.pdf
- Al-Shehri, S. (2011b). Mobile social networking in language learning: A transformational tool.
 International Journal of Mobile Learning and Organisation, 5(3-4), 345-359.
 http://inderscience.metapress.com
- Al-Sofi, Bakr. (2021). Students' perceptions of the effectiveness of using smartphone applications in enhancing vocabulary acquisition. *International Journal of English Linguistics*, 11(1), 110-124. https://doi.org/10.5539/ijel.v11n1p110.
- Altbach, P. (2016). *Global perspectives on higher education*. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Amemiya, S., Hasegawa, K-I., Kaneko, K., Miyakoda, H., & Tsukahara, W. (2007). Long-term memory of foreign-word learning by short movies for iPods. *Proceedings of the 7th IEEE International conference on advanced learning technologies* (pp. 561-563). Los Alamitos, CA: IEEE Computer Society. http://ieeexplore.ieee.org
- Amer, M. (2010). Idiomobile for learners of English: A study of learners' usage of a mobile learning application for learning idioms and collocations. [Ph.D dissertation], Indiana University of Pennsylvania. http://dspace.lib.iup.edu
- Ameriks, Y. (2009). Investigating validity across two test forms of the Examination for the
 Certificate of Proficiency in English (ECPE): A multi-group structural equation modeling
 approach. [Doctoral dissertation]. Teachers College, Columbia University, New York,
 NY.ECPE

https://proxy.lib.umich.edu/login?url=https://search.proquest.com/docview/304882257?a ccountid=14667

- Amos, J. (2013). The English learner dropout dilemma: New report examines consequences, causes, and solutions to high dropout rate among English language learners. *Alliance for Excellent Education*, 13(5).
- Anaraki, F. (2009). A Flash-based mobile learning system for learning English as a second language. Proceedings International Conference on Computer Engineering and Technology. Singapore (pp. 400-404). http://www.journal.au.edu
- Anastasi, A. (1986) Evolving concepts of test validation, *Annual Review of Psychology*, 37, 1-15. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ps.37.020186.000245
- Anderson, T., Hwang, W- Y., & Hsieh C- H. (2008). A study of a mobile collaborative learning system for Chinese language learning. *Proceedings of International Conference on Computers in Education* (pp. 217-222). Taipei, Taiwan. http://ncu.academia.edu
- Anthony, A. (2008). Output strategies for English-Language Learners: Theory to practice. *The Reading Teacher*, *61*(6), 472-482.
- Arnò, S., Galassi, A., Tommasi, M., Saggino, A., & Vittorini, P. (2021). State-of-the-art of commercial proctoring systems and their use in academic online exams. *International Journal of Distance Education Technologies (IJDET)*, 19(2), 41-60.

Arnold, P. (2012). Open educational resources: The way to go, or "mission impossible" in (german) higher education? In L. Stillman, T. Denision, A. Sabiescu, & N. Memarovic (Eds.). CIRN 2012 Community Informatics Conference: 'Ideals meet Reality.' Monash Centre Prato Italy 7-9 November 2012.

- Aryadoust, V., & Goh, C. (2014). Predicting listening item difficulty with language complexity measures: A comparative data mining study. *CaMLA Working Papers*, 2014-02, Ann Arbor, MI. MET.
- Aryadoust, V., Goh, C., & Lee, O. K. (2011). An investigation of differential item functioning in the MELAB listening test. *Language Assessment Quarterly*, 8(4), 361-385. MELAB.
- Atanasova, I. (2019). Copyright infringement in digital environment. *Economics & Law*, *1*(1), 13-22.
- Avery, R. J., Bryant, W. K., Mathios, A., Kang, H., & Bell, D. (2006). Electronic course evaluations: Does an online delivery system influence student evaluations? *The Journal* of Economic Education, 37(1), 21–37. https://doi.org/10.3200/JECE.37.1.21-37
- Azabdaftari, B. (2013). On the implications of Vygotskian concepts for second language teaching. *Iranian Journal of Language Teaching Research*, *1*(2), 99-114.
- Azabdaftari, B., & Mozaheb, M. (2012). Comparing vocabulary learning of EFL learners by using two different strategies: Mobile learning vs. flashcards. *The EUROCALL Review*, 20(2), 47-59. http://www.eurocall-languages.org/review/20_2/index.html
- Baggaley, J. (2013). Reflection MOOC rampant. *Distance Education*, *34*(3), 368-378. (Open and Distance Learning Association of Australia, Inc.).
- Baggaley, J. (2014). Reflection Online learning: A new testament. *Distance Education*, *35*(1), 133-140. (Open and Distance Learning Association of Australia, Inc.).

Bahanshal, D. A. (2013). The effect of large classes on English teaching and learning in Saudi secondary schools. *English Language Teaching*, 6(11), 49-59. http://dx.doi.org/10.5539/elt.v6n11p49

- Bakhtin, M. (1981). *The dialogic imagination: Four essays by M. M. Bakhtin*. Austin: University of Texas Press.
- Baleghizadeh, S., & Oladrostam , E. (2010). The effect of mobile assisted language learning
 (MALL) on grammatical accuracy of EFL students. *MEXTESOL Journal*, 34(2), 77-86.
 http://www.efltasks.org
- Barkaoui, K. (2015). The characteristics of the Michigan English Test reading texts and items and their relationship to item difficulty. *CaMLA Working Papers*, 2015-02, Ann Arbor, MI. MET.
- Başoğlu, E., & Akdemir, O. (2010). A comparison of undergraduate students' English vocabulary learning: Using mobile phones and flash cards. *Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology*, 9(3), 1-7.
- Begum, R. (2011). Prospect for cell phones as instructional tools in the EFL classroom: A case study of Jahangirnagar University, Bangladesh. *English Language Teaching*, 4(1), 105-115. Canadian Center of Science and Education.
- Belmont Report (1979). The Belmont Report: Ethical principles and guidelines for the protection of human subjects of research. www.hhs.gov/ohrp/humansubjects/guidance/belmont.html
- Belz, J.A. (2002). Social dimensions of telecollaborative foreign language study. *Language Learning and Technology*, 6(1), 60-81.
- Benson, P. (2012). Learner-centered teaching. *The Cambridge Guide to Pedagogy and Practice in Second Language Teaching*, 30-37.
- Beretta, A. (1991). Theory construction in SLA: Complementarity and opposition. *Studies in Second Language Acquisition, 13*, 493-511.

- Berk, R. A. (2012). Top 20 strategies to increase the online response rates of student rating scales. *International Journal of Technology in Teaching and Learning*, 8(2), 98-107.
- Berns, A., Gonzalez-Pardo, A., & Camacho, D. (2013). Game-like language learning in 3-D virtual environments. *Computers & Education*, 60(1), 210-220.
- Berry, J. W. (2019). *Acculturation*. Cambridge, MA: Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/9781108589666
- Berry, J. W., Trimble, J., & Olmedo, E. (1986). Assessment of acculturation. In W. Lonner & J.
 W. Berry (Eds). *Field Methods Cross-Cultural Research and Methodology Series*.
 London: SAGE Publications. (pp. 291-348).
- Bervell, B., Arkorful, V. (2020). LMS-enabled blended learning utilization in distance tertiary education: Establishing the relationships among facilitating conditions, voluntariness of use and use behaviour. *International Journal of Education Technology in Higher Education, 17*(6), 2-16. https://doi.org/10.1186/s41239-020-0183-9
- Berzak, Y., Katz, B., & Levy, R. (2018). Assessing language proficiency from eye movements in reading. Cornell University Library (arXiv:1804.07329), Cornell University, Ithaca, NY: MET.
- Bidarra, J. (2016). Transmedia storytelling as an educational strategy: A prototype for learning english as a second language. *International Journal of Creative Interfaces and Computer Graphics (IJCICG)*,7(2), 56-67. https://doi.org/10.4018/IJCICG.2016070105
- Billingham, S. (Ed.). (2018). Access to success and social mobility through higher education: A curate's egg? (Great Debates in Higher Education), Emerald Publishing Limited. https://doi.org/10.1108/978-1-78743-836-120181001

Birdsong, D. (1994). Asymmetrical knowledge of ungrammatically in SLA theory. *Studies in Second Language Acquisition*, 16(4), 463-473. From http://www.jstor.org/stable/44487782

- Birdsong, D., & Vanhove, J. (2016). Age of second language acquisition: Critical periods and social concerns. In E. Nicoladis & S. Montanari (Eds.), *Language and the human lifespan series. Bilingualism across the lifespan: Factors moderating language proficiency* (p. 163–181). American Psychological Association. https://doi.org/10.1037/14939-010
- Blake, R. (2000). Computer mediated communication: A window on L2 Spanish interlanguage. Language Learning & Technology, 4(1), 111-125. http://llt.msu.edu/vol4num1/blake/default.html
- Blake, R. J. (2008a). Brave new digital classroom. http://ebookcentral.proquest.com.libproxy.bellarmine.edu/lib/bellarmineebooks/detail.action?docID=547784
- Blake, R., Wilson, N., Cetto, M., & Pardo-Ballester, C. (2008). Measuring oral proficiency in distance, face-to-face, and blended classrooms. *Language Learning & Technology*, 12(3), 114-127.
- Blois, M. M. (2004). A busca da qualidade na educação à distância no Brasil, situação atual e algumas reflexões (The search for quality in distance higher education in Brazil's current situation and some reflections). *Revista Iberoamericana De Educación a Distancia*, 7(1), 97-111. http://search.proquest.com/docview/1440019719?accountid=6741
- Bluestone, K. (2009). Acculturation, interpersonal networks, and the learner's sense of self: The effects of social relationships on second language learning. *Working Papers in TESOL and Applied Linguistics*, 9(2), 135-164.

Bodah, E. (2016). Handbook of research on foreign language education in the digital age. In Challenges and perspectives of language education technology in Brazil: From confronting native language loss to implementing EFL classes (pp. 59-82). Information Science Reference. https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-5225-0177-0.ch004

Boff, L. (1997). Cry of the earth, cry of the poor. New York: Orbis Books.

- Bogardus, E.S. (1925). Measuring social distance. Journal of Applied Sociology 9, 299-308.
- Bohlke, D. (2020). Reading explorer 3. Cengage learning.
- Bo-Kristensen, M., Ankerstjerne, N., Neutzsky- Wulff, C., & Schelde, H. (2009). Mobile city and language guides: New links between formal and informal learning environments. *Electronic Journal of Elearning*, 7(2), 85-92.
- Bonner, E., & Reinders, H. (2018). Augmented and virtual reality in the language classroom: Practical ideas. *Teaching English with Technology*, 33-35.
- Borau, K., Ullrich, C., Feng, J., & Shen, R. (2009). Microblogging for language learning: Using Twitter to train communicative and cultural competence. In M. Spaniol, Q. Li, R. Klamma, & R. Lau (Ed s.), *Advances in Web-Based Learning ICWL 2009*(5686), 78-87. Heidelberg: Berlin: Springer-Verlag.
 http://www.carstenullrich.net/pubs/Borau09Micr oblogging.pdf
- Boticki, I., Wong, L-H., & Looi, C-K. (2011). Designing content-independent mobile learning technology: Learning fractions and Chinese language. *Proceedings 10th World Conference on Mobile and Contextual Learning (mLearn)* (pp. 130-137). Beijing: Beijing Normal University. http://mlearn.bnu.edu.cn
- Bourdieu, P. (1977). The economics of linguistic exchanges. *Social Science Information*, *16*(6), 645-668.

Brennan, K. (July, 2013). In connectivism, No one can hear you scream: A guide to understanding the MOOC novice. *Hybrid Pedagogy*. http://hybridpedagogy.org/inconnectivism-no-one-can-hear-you-scream-a-guide-to-understanding-the-mooc-novice/

- Broadband Commission for Sustainable Development. (2018). 2025 targets: Connecting the other half. https://broadbandcommission.org/Documents/publications/wef2018.pdf
- Broadband Commission for Sustainable Development. (2019). *The state of broadband 2019*. BCSD. http://reports.broadbandcommission.org/state-of-broadband-2019/contents/
- Brooks, F., & Donato, R. (1994). Vygotskyan approaches to understanding foreign language learner discourse during communicative tasks. *Hispania*, 77(2), 262-274. https://doi.org/10.2307/344508.
- Brown, H. D. (1980). The optimal distance model of second language acquisition. *TESOL Quarterly*, *14*(2), 157-164. https://doi.org/10.2307/3586310
- Brown, H. D. (1997). Cognitive and affective characteristics of good language learners. In: C. A.
 Henning (ed.), *Proceedings of the Los Angeles Second Language Research Forum*. Los
 Angeles. UCLA, Department of English, TESL.
- Brown, H. D. (2000). Principles of language learning and teaching. (5 ed.). New York: Pearson Longman.
- Brown, M. (2012). Tablet computing to cultivate Japanese EFL digital literacy: A study on video production in the classroom. In J. Colpaert, A. Aerts, W- C. Vivian Wu, & Y- C. Joni Chao, (Eds.), *The Medium Matters (Proceedings 15th International CALL Conference)*.
- Brown, M., Castellano, J., Hughes, E., & Worth, A. (2012). Integration of iPads in a Japanese university's freshman curriculum. *Proceedings of the JALT CALL Conference 2012*. http://journal.jaltcall.org

- Brown, R. (1977). *A first language: The first stages*. (6 ed.). Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Browne, C., & Culligan, B. (2008). Combining technology and IRT testing to build student knowledge of high frequency vocabulary. *The JALT CALL Journal*, 4(2), 3-16. http://www.jaltcall.org
- Burston, J. (2012a). Mobile language learning: Getting IT to work. In J. Burston, F. Doa, & D.
 Tsagari, (Eds.), *Foreign Language Instructional Technology* (pp. 81-99). Nicosia,
 Cyprus: University of Nicosia Press.
- Burston, J. (2012b). Mobile-assisted language learning: A Selected annotated bibliography of implementation studies 1994-2012. *Language, Learning & Technology, 17*(3), 157-224. http://llt.msu.edu/issues/october2013/burston.pdf
- Burston, J. (2015). Twenty years of MALL project implementation: A meta-analysis of learning outcomes. *RECALL*,27(01), 4-20. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0958344014000159
- Butgereit, L., & Botha, A. (2009). Hadeda: The noisy way to practice spelling vocabulary using a cell phone. In P. Cunningham & M. Cunningham (Eds.) *IST- Africa 2009 Conference Proceedings* (pp. 1-7). http://researchspace.csir.co.za
- Butgereit, L., Botha, A., & Van Niekerk, D. (2010). Using cellphones to improve language skills: The Hadeda Project. *E-Infrastructures and E-Services on Developing Countries Lecture Notes of the Institute for Computer Sciences, Social Informatics and Telecommunications Engineering, 38*, 11-19. http://researchspace.csir.co.za
- Calderon, A., & Mathies, C. (2013). Institutional research in the future: challenges within higher education and the need for excellence in professional practice. *New Directions For Institutional Research*, 2013(157), 77-90. https://doi.org/10.1002/ir.20040

- CaMLA. (2014). *Comparing the paper-based and computer-based CaMLA EPT*. Ann Arbor, MI. MICHIGAN EPT - Technical Reports.
- CaMLA. (2014a). *ECCE 2010-2013 technical review*. Ann Arbor, MI. ECCE Technical Reports.
- CaMLA. (2014b). Linking the common European framework of reference and the CaMLA English Placement Test: Technical report. Ann Arbor, MI. MICHIGAN EPT - Technical Reports.
- CaMLA. (2014c). *Linking the common European framework of reference and the MET writing test*. Ann Arbor, MI. MET - Technical Reports.

CaMLA. (2014d). MET 2009-2013 technical review. Ann Arbor, MI. MET - Technical Reports.

- CaMLA. (2015). A practical guide to investigating score reliability under a generalizability theory framework. CaMLA Working Papers, 2015-01, Ann Arbor, MI. ECPE
- CaMLA. (2015b). *CaMLA speaking test development report*. Ann Arbor, MI. CAMLA Speaking Test - Technical Reports.
- CaMLA. (2015c). *Linking the common European framework of reference and the CaMLA speaking test.* Ann Arbor, MI. CAMLA Speaking Test - Technical Reports.
- CaMLA. (2015d). *MELAB 2011–2014 technical review*. Ann Arbor, MI. MELAB Technical Reports.
- CaMLA. (2017). Linking the common European framework of reference and the Michigan English Language Assessment Battery. Ann Arbor, MI. MELAB - Technical Reports.
- Carey, P. A. (1993). A review of psychometric and consequential issues related to performance assessment. TOEFL Monograph Series. Princeton, NJ: Educational Testing Service.

- Carne, P., Jenkins, R., & Johnson, S. S. (2015). Grammar explorer 2. National Geographic Learning.
- Carrell, P.L. & Anderson, N.J. (1994). Styles and strategies in second language acquisition. *Paper presented at the TESOL Convention*, Baltimore. MD, USA.
- Carver, L. & Harrison, L. (2013). MOOCs and democratic education. *Liberal Education*, 99(4), 20-27.
- Caswell, T., Henson, S., Jensen, M., & Wiley, D. (2008). Open educational resources: Enabling universal education. *International Review of Research in Open and Distant Learning*, 9(1), 1-11.
- Cavus, N., & Ibrahim, D. (2008). MOLT: A mobile learning tool that makes learning new technical English language words enjoyable. *International Journal of Interactive Mobile Technologies*, 2(4), 38-42.
- Cavus, N., & Ibrahim, D. (2009). M-Learning: An experiment in using SMS to support learning new English language words. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 40(1), 78-91.
- Chai, C., L. Wong, L., & King, R. (2016). Surveying and modeling students' motivation and learning Strategies for mobile-assisted seamless Chinese language learning. *Journal of Educational Technology & Society, 19*(3), 170-180.
- Chan, W-M., Chen, I., & Döpel, M. (2008). Learning on the move: Applying podcasting technologies to foreign language learning . *Paper presented at CLaSIC 2008, Singapore,* Singapore.
- Chan, W-M., Chen, I., & Döpel, M. (2011). Podcasting in foreign language learning: Insights for podcast design from a developmental research project. In M. Levy et al. (Eds.),

WorldCALL: International Perspectives on Computer-Assisted Language Learning (pp. 19-37). New York, NY: Routledge.

- Chan, W-M., Chi, S- W., Chin, K- N., & Lin, C- Y. (2011). Students' perceptions of and attitudes towards podcast-based learning: A comparison of two language podcast projects. *Electronic Journal of Foreign Language Teaching*, 8(1), 312-335. http://eflt.nus.edu.sg
- Chang, C-K., & Hsu, C-K. (2011). A mobile-assisted synchronously collaborative translationannotation system for English as a foreign language (EFL) reading comprehension. *Computer Assisted Language Learning*, 24(2), 155-180. http://www.tandfonline.com
- Chang, S. & Shih, T. K., (2007). Development of a web-based system for diagnosing student learning problems on English tenses. *Journal of Distance Education Technologies*, 5(4), 80-98.
- Chapelle, C. (2009). The relationship between second language acquisition theory and computerassisted language learning. *The Modern Language Journal*, *93*, 741-753. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-4781.2009.00970.x
- Chapman, M., & O'Boyle, J. (2013). Planning time in speaking tests: how does it help? Conference Proceedings of MexTESOL: MexTESOL 2013 Annual International Conference. Queretarro, Mexico: MET.
- Chapman, M., Collins, C. Dame, B. A., & Elliott, H. (2014). A discourse variable approach to measuring prompt effect: Does paired task development lead to comparable writing products. *Cambridge English: Research Notes*, 55, 22-28. ECPE.
- Chase, B. T. (2018). *Pathways 2: Listening, speaking, and critical thinking*. National Geographic Learning.

- Chen, C. J. (2014). Using concept mapping instruction in mobile phone to learning English. *Creative Education*, 5(1), 4-6.
- Chen, C. K., & Almunawar, M. N. (2019). Cloud Learning Management System in Higher
 Education. In P. Ordez De Pablos, D. L. Miltiadis, X. Zhang (Eds.), *Opening Up Education for Inclusivity Across Digital Economies and Societies* (pp. 29-51). Hershey,
 PA: IGI Global.
- Chen, C-M., & Chung, C-J. (2008). Personalized mobile English vocabulary learning system based on item response theory and learning memory cycle. *Computers & Education*, 51(2), 624-645.
- Chen, C-M., & Hsu, S- H. (2008). Personalized intelligent mobile learning system for supportive effective English learning. *Educational Technology and Society*, *11*(3), 153-180.
- Chen, C-M., & Li, Y-L. (2010). Personalized context-aware ubiquitous learning system for supporting effective English vocabulary learning. *Interactive Learning Environments*, 18(4), 341-364.
- Chen, C-M., & Tsai, Y-N. (2009). Interactive location-based game for supporting effective English learning. 2009 International Conference on Environmental Science and Information Application Technology 3(1), 523-526.
- Chen, C-M., & Tsai, Y-N. (2010). Interactive location-based game for supporting effective English learning. *International Journal of Intelligent Information Technology Application, 3*(1), 44-50.
- Chen, C-M., Li, Y-L., & Chen, M-C. (2007). Personalised context- aware ubiquitous learning system for supporting effective English vocabulary learning. *7th International Conference on Advanced Learning Technologies (ICALT 2007)*, Niigata, Japan.

- Chen, I., & Chang, C. (2011). Content presentation modes in mobile language listening tasks:
 English proficiency as a moderator. *Computer Assisted Language Learning*, 24(5), 451-470. https://doi.org/10.1080/09588221.2011.577749
- Chen, I-J., Chang, C-C., & Yen J-C. (2012). Effects of presentation mode on mobile language learning: A performance efficiency perspective. *Australasian Journal of Educational Technology*, 28, 122-137.
- Chen, N. S., Hsieh, S. W., & Kinshuk (2008). Effects of short- term memory and content representation type on mobile language learning. *Language Learning & Technology*, 12(3), 93–113. http://llt.msu.edu/vol12num3/chenetal.pdf
- Chen, N., & Banerjee, J. (2014). The Examination for the Certificate of Competency in English revision project: Maintaining score meaning. *Cambridge English: Research Notes*, 55, 16-21. ECCE.
- Chen, T. S., Chang, C. S., Lin, J. S., & Yu, H. L. (2009). Context-aware writing in ubiquitous learning environments. *Research and Practice in Technology Enhanced Learning*, 4(1), 61–82.
- Chen, Y. (2011). Becoming global citizens through bilingualism: English learning in the lives of university students in China. *Education Research International*, 2011. https://doi.org/10.1155/2011/805160
- Chen, Y., Carger, C. L., & Smith, T. J. (2017). Mobile-assisted narrative writing practice for young English language learners from a funds of knowledge approach. *Language Learning & Technology*, 21(1), 28–41.

- Cheng, S., Hwang, W. Y., Wu, S., Shadiev, R., & Xie, C. (2010). A mobile device and online system with contextual familiarity and its effects on English learning on campus. *Educational Technology & Society*, 13(3), 93–109. http://www.ifets.info
- Cheon, H. (2003). The viability of computer mediated communication in the Korean secondary EFL classroom. *Asian EFL Journal*, 5(1), 1-61. http://asian-efljournal.com/march03.sub2hc.pdf
- Chi, S- W., & Chan, W- M. (2011). Learning beyond the classroom: Language podcast as supplementary learning material. *Ubiquitous Learning: An International Journal*, 3(2), 21-40.
- Chiang, M- H. (2012). Effects of reading via Kindle. In J. Colpaert, A. Aerts, W. C Vivian Wu, & Y. C Joni Chao (Eds.), The medium matters (Proceedings 15th International CALL Conference) (pp. 176-179).
- Chi-Fen, E., & Wei-Yuan, E. (2008). Beyond the design of automated writing evaluation:
 Pedagogical practices and perceived learning effectiveness in EFL writing classes.
 Language Learning & Technology, 12(2), 94-112.
- Chin, K-N., Lin, C-Y., & Chan, W-M. (2010). Mobile learning Podcasting for Chinese language learning. In D.B. Xu, J. Da, & P. Zhang, (Eds.), Conference Proceedings of the Sixth International Conference and Workshops on Technology and Chinese Language Teaching (pp. 26– 34). Columbus, OH: National East Asian Language Resource Center, Ohio State University.
- Chiou, Y. & Shih, T. (2015). Auto grouping and peer grading system in massive open online courses (MOOC). International Journal of Distance Education Technologies, 13(3), 25-43. IGI Global.

Choe, A. T. (2016). A critical review of Pimsleur language learning programs. *Hawaii Pacific University TESOL Working Paper Series 14, 108-120.*

Chomsky, N. (1957/2002). Syntactic Structures. 2nd ed. Berlin/New York: Mouton de Gruyter.

Chomsky, N. (1959). A review of B. F. Skineer's verbal behavior. Language, 35(1), 26-58.

Chomsky, N. (1965/2015). Aspects of the theory of syntax: 50th anniversary edition. Cambridge, MA/London, England: MIT Press.

Chomsky, N. (1975). Reflections on language. New York, Pantheon Books.

Chomsky, N. (2006). Language and mind. 3 ed. Cambridge, MA: Cambridge University Press.

Christensen, G., Steinmetz, A., Alcorn, B., Bennett, A., Woods, D., & Emanuel, E. (2014). The MOOC phenomenon: Who takes massive open online courses and why? *JBS International*.

http://m4ed4dev.linhost1.jbsinternational.com/sites/default/files/the_mooc_phenomenon.

- Christopher, M. M., Thomas, J. A., & Tallent-Runnels, M. K. (2004). Raising the bar: Encouraging high level thinking in online discussion forums. *Roeper Review*, 26(3), 166-171. https://doi.org/10.1080/02783190409554262
- Clark, D. (April 25, 2013). *MOOCs: Who's using MOOCs? 10 different target audiences*. http://donaldclarkplanb.blogspot.com.br/2013/04/moocs-whos-using-moocs-10different.html?utm_source=dlvr.it&utm_medium=twitter
- Clarke, P., Keing, C., Lam, P., & McNaught, C. (2008). Using SMSs to engage students in language learning. In E. R. Weipp & J. Luca (Eds.). Proceedings of World Conference on Educational Multimedia, Hypermedia and Telecommunications (pp. 6132–6141).

Vienna, Austria: AACE (Association for the Advancement of Computers in Education). www.cuhk.edu.hk/clear/download/paper/CKLMcN_EM_08.pdf

- Coelho, D. (2015). Furthering higher education possibilities through massive open online courses. In *Learning theories supporting massive open online courses* (pp. 125-149).
 Information Science Reference. https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-4666-8279-5.ch006
- Collins, J. (2001). Good to great: Why some companies make the leap and others don't. New York: Harper Collins Publishers.
- Collins, P. H. (2005). Black sexual politics: African Americans, gender, and the new racism. New York: Routledge.
- Cook, M., Lischer-Katz, Z, Hall, N., Hardesty, J., Johnson, J., McDonald, R., & Carlisle, T.
 (2019). Challenges and strategies for educational virtual reality: Results of an expert-led forum on 3D/VR technologies across academic institutions. *Information Technology and Libraries*, 25-48.
- Cook, T. D., & Campbell, D. T. (1979). *Quasi-experimentation: Design & analysis issues in field settings*. Boston, MA: Houghton Mifflin.
- Coughlan, S. (2013, September 24). Harvard plans to boldly go with 'SPOCS.' BBC Business News. http://www.bbc.com/news/business-24166247
- Council of Graduate Schools and Educational Testing Service. (2010). The Path Forward: The Future of Graduate Education in the United States. Report from the Commission on the Future of Graduate Education in the United States. Princeton, NJ: Educational Testing Service.

- Coverdale-Jones, T. (2000) The use of video-conferencing as a communication tool for language learning: Issues and considerations. International Association for Language Learning (IALL). *Journal of Language Learning Technologies*, 32(1), 27-40
- Cronbach, L. J. (1988) Five perspectives on the validity argument, in H. Wainer and H.I. Braun (Eds.) *Test Validity*. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates. (pp. 3–18).
- Crossley, S., & McNamara, D. (2013). Applications of text analysis tools for spoken response grading. *Language Learning & Technology*, *17*(2), 171–192.
- Csikszentmihalyi, M. (1990). *Flow, The psychology of optimal experience*. New York, NY: Harper Perennial.
- Cunninghame, I. (2017). The role of higher education in facilitating social mobility. International Studies in Widening Participation, 4(1), 74-85. The University of Newcastle, Australia
- Daeschner, S. (2014). And they said it couldn't be done: Transforming a school district into a learning organization. Louisville, KY: Butler Books.
- Daniel, J., Kanwar, A., & Uvalić-Trumbić, S. (2009). Breaking higher education's iron triangle: Access, cost, and quality. Change, 41(2), 30-35.
- Daniels, J. (2017). Professional learning in higher education: Making good practice relevant. International Journal for Academic Development, 22(2), 170-181. https://doi.org/10.1080/1360144X.2016.1261352
- Datta, A., Bhatia, V., Noll, J., & Dixit, S. (2019). Bridging the digital divide: Challenges in opening the digital world to the elderly, poor, and digitally illiterate. *IEEE Consumer Electronics Magazine*, 8(1), 78-81. https://doi.org/10.1109/MCE.2018.2867985
- Davis, H., Dickens, K., León Urrutia, M., Sánchez Vera, M. del M., & White, S. (2014). MOOCs for Universities and Learners: An analysis of motivating factors. In *Proceedings of the*

6th International Conference on Computer Supported Education. Barcelona: SCITEPRESS.

https://eprints.soton.ac.uk/363714/1/DavisEtAl2014MOOCsCSEDUFinal.pdf

- Davis, K., Zorwick, M., Roland, J., & Wade, M. (2016). Using debate in the classroom: Encouraging critical thinking, communication, and collaboration. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Davison, C. (2005). Information Technology and Innovation in Language Education. Hong Kong: Hong Kong University Press.
- Dawkins, P., Hurley, P., & Noonan, P. (2019). Rethinking and revitalising tertiary education in Australia. Mitchell Institute, Melbourne. www.mitchellinstitute.org.au
- De Araujo, A. A. (2012). Access to higher education in Brazil. Higher Education Studies, 2(1), 32-37. http://search.proquest.com/docview/1059518190?accountid=6741
- Delbanco, A. (2013). MOOCs of hazard: Will online education dampen the college experience? Yes. Will it be worth it? Well... Education New Republic. http://www.newrepublic.com/article/112731/moocs-will-online-education-ruinuniversity-experience
- Delors, J., Al Mufti, I., Amagi, I., Carneiro, R., Chung, F., Geremek, B., Gorham, W.,
 Kornhauser, A., Manley, M., quero, M., Savane, M., Singh, K., Stavenhagen, R., Suhr,
 M., & Nanzhao, Z. (2010). *Learning: The treasure within Report to UNESCO of the International Commission on Education for the Twenty-first Century*. Paris: UNESCO.
 (pp. 1-46).

- Demouy, V., & Kukulska-Hulme, A. (2010). On the spot: Using mobile devices for listening and speaking practice on a French language programme. *The Journal of Open, Distance and E-learning*, 25(3), 217-232. https://doi.org/10.1080/02680513.2010.511955
- Denzin, N. K., & Lincoln, Y. S. (Eds.), (2018). *The Sage handbook of qualitative research*. Los Angeles: SAGE Publications.
- Derakhshan, A., & Hasanabbasi, S. (2015). Social networks for language learning. *Theory and Practice in Language Studies*, *5*(5), 1090-1095. Academy Publication. http://dx.doi.org/10.17507/tpls.0505.25
- Derakhshan, A., & Kaivanpanah, S. (2011). The impact of text messaging on EFL freshmen's vocabulary learning. *EUROCALL*, 39-47.
- Dobson, B., Han, I., & Yamashiro, A (2001). MELAB/computer-based TOEFL study. Ann Arbor, MI. MELAB - Technical Reports.
- Dodigovic, M. (2005). Artificial intelligence in second language learning: Raising error awareness. (Second Language Acquisition, 13). Buffalo: Multilingual Matters.
- Dörnyei, Z. (2014). Researching complex dynamic systems: "Retrodictive qualitative modeling" in the language classroom. *Language Teaching*, *47*, 80-91. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0261444811000516
- Dos Santos, A. I. (2011). *Open educational resources in Brazil: State-of-the-art, challenges and prospects for development and innovation*. Moscow: UNESCO Institute for Information Technologies in Education.
- Doughty, C. J., & Long, M.H. (Eds.). (2005). *Handbook of second language acquisition*. Malden, MA: Blackwell.

- Drossel, K., Eickelmann, B., & Vennemann, M. (2020). Schools overcoming the digital divide:
 In depth analyses towards organizational resilience in the computer and information
 literacy domain. *Large-scale Assessments in Education*, 8(9), 1-19.
 https://doi.org/10.1186/s40536-020-00087-w
- Drysdale, E. S. H. (1969). The theory of alienation in the 1844 manuscripts of Karl Marx. [Doctoral dissertation, Louisiana State University]. LSU Historical Dissertations and Theses, (1585). https://digitalcommons.lsu.edu/gradschool_disstheses/1585
- Duff, P., & Uchida, Y. (1997). The negotiation of teachers' sociocultural identities and practices in postsecondary EFL classrooms. *TESOL Quarterly 31*, 451-486.
- Duke, C. (2004). 'University' for all in the 21st century?. Adults Learning, 15(7), 11-13.
- Dulay, H. C., & Burt, M. K. (1974). Natural sequences in child second language acquisition. Language Learning 24, 37-53.
- Dulay, H. C., Burt, M. K., & Krashen, S. D. (1982). *Language two*. Oxford: Oxford University Press (Kindle Edition).
- Dulay, H., & Burt, M. (1977). Remarks on creativity in language acquisition. In M. Burt, H. Dulay, & M. Finocchiaro (Eds.). *Viewpoints on English as a second language*. New York: Regents. (pp. 95-126).
- Eguchi, M. (2014). The effect of cross-cultural videoconferencing on EFL learners' English production. *Global Partners in Education Journal*, 4(1), 5-5. www.gpejournal.org/index.php/GPEJ/article/view/76/pdf
- Ehrman, M. & Oxford, R. (1990). Adult learning styles and strategies in an intensive training setting. *Modern Language Journal* 74 (3), 311-327.
- Ehrman, M. E. (2008). Personality and good language users. In: C. Griffiths (Ed.), *Lessons from good language learners*. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, pp. 61-72.
- Ekanayake, S. Y., & Wishart, J. (2015). Integrating mobile phones into teaching and learning: A case study of teacher training through professional development workshops. British Journal Of Educational Technology, 46(1), 173-189. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjet.12131
- El-dali, M. (2017). L2 listening comprehension: Is it a language problem or a listening problem? *English Linguistics Research, 6*(1), 14-37. Sciedu Press.

https://doi.org/10.5430/elr.v6n1p14

- El-Khatib, A. S. (2020). Aulas por videoconferência: Uma solução para o distanciamento social provocado pela COVID-19 ou um grande problema? (Videoconferencing classes: A solution to the social distance caused by COVID-19 or a big problem?), SSRN Electronic Journal. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3614176
- Ellis, R. (1997). *Second language acquisition*. Oxford: Oxford University Press. http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S0272263197231074
- England, L. (1983). A reliability analysis of the professed difference in attitude questionnaire (PDAQ) for a sample of ESL students at the University of Illinois. *TESOL Quarterly*, *17*(2), 312-313. https://doi.org/10.2307/3586661
- English as a Second Language Institute Campbellsville University (ESLI-CU). (2017). ESL programs overview, [unpublished]. (A collaborative work by Giordano, A., Hooker, T., Matheny, M., Detherage, J., Top, A., & Trindade, E. available in pdf, upon request, at the ESLI Campbellsville, KY).
- Ercikan, K., Asil, M., & Grover, R. (2018). Digital divide: A critical context for digitally based assessments. *Education Policy Analysis Archives*, 26(51), 1-24.

- Evans, M. (2011). *Foreign-language learning with digital technology*. (Education and digital technology). London: Continuum.
- Evens, M., Chang, R. C., Lee, Y. H., Shim, L. S., Woo, C. W., & Zbang, Y. (1997). CIRCSIM-Tutor: An intelligent tutoring system using natural language dialogue. In *Fifth Conference on Applied Natural Language Processing: Descriptions of System Demonstrations and Videos* (pp. 13-14).
- Felix, U. (2004). A multivariate analysis of secondary students' experience of web-based language acquisition. *ReCALL*, *16*(1), 237-249.
- Fernámdez-García, M. & Martínez-Arbelaiz, A. (2002). Negotiation of meaning in nonnative speaker-nonative speaker synchronous discussions. *CALICO Journal*, 19(2), 279-294.
 (Computer Assisted Language Instruction Consortium) Equinox Publishing Ltd.
- Ferreira, A., & Atkinson, J. (2008, December). Designing a feedback component of an intelligent tutoring system for foreign language. In *International Conference on Innovative Techniques and Applications of Artificial Intelligence* (pp. 277-290). Springer, London.
- Feryok, A. (2013) Teaching for learner autonomy: The teacher's role and sociocultural theory, *Innovation in Language Learning and Teaching*, 7(3), 213-225. https://doi.org/10.1080/17501229.2013.836203
- Figueiredo, E. K. P., & Freitas, G. L. (2018). The democratization of information access and in global society. *Infociência*, *3*(1), 98-114.
- Firth, A., & Wagner, J. (1997). On discourse, communication, and (some) fundamental Concepts in SLA research. *The Modern Language Journal*, 81(3), 285-300. https://doi.org/10.2307/329302

Foucault, M., & Pearson, J. (Ed). (2001). Fearless speech. Los Angeles, California: Semiotext(e).

- Fraser, K. & Ryan, Y. (2013). Could MOOCs answer the problems of teaching required skills in Australian tertiary programs? *Australian Universities Review*, 55(2), 93-98.
- Frawley, W., & Lantolf, J. P. (1985). Second language discourse: A Vygotskyan Perspective. *Applied Linguistics*, 6(1), 19-44. https://doi.org/10.1093/applin/6.1.19

Freire, P. (2000). Pedagogy of the oppressed. New York: The Continuum International Publishing Group. (30th Anniversary Edition). https://libcom.org/files/FreirePedagogyoftheOppressed.pdf

- Freire, P. (2014). *Pedagogia da esperança: Um reencontro com a pedagogia do oprimido*. SãoPaulo: Editora Paz e Terra.
- Fromkin, V., Krashen, S., Curtiss, S., Rigler, D., & Rigler, M. (1974). The development of language in genie: A case of language acquisition beyond the "critical period." *Brain and Language*, 1(1), 81-107. https://doi.org/10.1016/0093-934X(74)90027-3
- Gabarre, C., & Gabarre, S. (2010). An innovative assessment method for real world learning:
 Learner created content with a cell phone, YouTube and an LMS. *Proceedings of Global Learn Asia-Pacific 2010 Global Conference on Learning and Technology, Penang, Malaysia*, 1202-1210.
- Gabarre, S., & Gabarre, C. (2009a). Using cell phones in the language class: A preliminary look at some of the possibilities. *The 6th Malaysia International Conference on Languages, Literatures, and Cultures* (pp. 729-740). Putrajaya, Malaysia: Department of English, University Putra Malaysia.
- Gabarre, S., & Gabarre, C. (2009b). Delivering pull and push content with SMS, MMS and an LMS in a foreign language course. *Proceeding of ICEL 2009 International Conference* on E- Learning. Shah Alam, Malaysia.

- Gabarre, S., & Gabarre, C. (2010a). Utilizing mobile phones as a language learning tool. In T. B.
 Hoon, Y. M. Fung, & Y. N. Thai (Eds.), *Language learning: Challenges, approaches and collaboration* (pp. 92-118). Saarbrücken, Germany: VDM.
- Gabarre, S., & Gabarre, C. (2010b). Shooting short videos in French with mobile phones. *Flinders University Languages Group Online Review*, 4(2), 93-108.
- Gajek, E. (2016). Mobile technologies as boundary objects in the hands of student teachers of languages inside and outside the university. *International Journal of Mobile and Blended Learning (IJMBL)*,8(2), 85-92. https://doi.org/10.4018/IJMBL.2016040107
- Gamage, D., Perera, I., & Fernando, S. (2020). MOOCs lack interactivity and collaborativeness: Evaluating MOOC platforms. *International Journal of Engineering Pedagogy*, 10(2), 94-111. https://doi.org/10.3991/ijep.v10i2.11886
- Gao, L. (2006). Toward a cognitive processing model of MELAB reading test item performance. Spaan Fellow Working Papers in Second or Foreign Language Assessment, 4, 1-40. Ann Arbor, MI. MELAB.
- Gardner, R. C. (1990). Attitudes, motivation, and personality as predictors of success in foreign language learning. In T. Parry & C. Stansfield (Eds.), *Language aptitude reconsidered* (pp. 179-221) Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Gardner, R. C. (2001). Integrative motivation and second language acquisition. *Motivation and Second Language Acquisition*, 23(1), 1-19.
- Gardner, R. C. (2010). *Motivation and second language acquisition: The socio-educational model*. New York: Peter Lang.
- Gardner, R. C., Day, J. B., & MacIntyre, P. D. (1992). Integrative motivation, induced anxiety, and language learning in a controlled environment. *Studies in Second Language*

Acquisition, 14(2), 197-214. Cambridge University Press.

https://doi.org/10.1017/s0272263100010822

- Gardner, R. C., MacIntyre, P. D., & Lysynchuk, L. M. (1990). The affective dimension in second language programme evaluation. *Language, Culture and Curriculum, 3*(1), 39-64. https://doi.org/10.1080/07908319009525072
- Gardner, R. C., Tremblay, P., & Masgoret, A.M. (1997) Towards a full model of second language learning: An empirical investigation. *The Modern Language Journal*, *81*, 344-362. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-4781.1997.tb05495.x
- Garrison, R., & Kanuka, H. (2004). Blended learning: Uncovering its transformative potential in higher education. *Internet and Higher Education*, 7(1), 95-105.
- Gass, S. M., & Selinker, L. (2008). Second language acquisition: An introductory course. 3 Ed.Mahwaw, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Gass, S., & Varonis, E. (1994). Input, Interaction, and Second Language Production. *Studies in Second Language Acquisition*, *16*(3), 283-302.

https://doi.org/10.1017/S0272263100013097

- Gass, S., MacKey, A., & Pica, T. (1998). The role of input and interaction in second language acquisition: Introduction to the special issue. *The Modern Language Journal*, 82(3), 299-307. Special Issue. National Federation of Modern Language Teachers Associations. Wiley.
- Gibson, K. (2004). English only court cases involving the US workplace: the myths of language use and the homogenization of bilingual workers' identities. University of Hawaii. http://www.hawaii.edu/sls/wp-content/uploads/2014/09/Gibson.pdf

- Gilakjani, A. P., & Ahmadi, M. R. (2011). A study of factors affecting EFL learners' English listening comprehension and the strategies for improvement. *Journal of Language Teaching and Research*, 2(5), 977-988. Finland: Academic Publisher. https://doi.org/10.4304/jltr.2.5.977-988
- Gitsaki, C. (2014). Post-Secondary students using the iPad to learn English: An impact study. *International Journal of Mobile and Blended Learning (IJMBL)*,6(4), 53-74. https://doi.org/10.4018/ijmbl.2014100104
- Glass, C. R., Shiokawa-Baklan, M. S., & Saltarelli, A. J. (2016), Who takes MOOCs? (chapter 3)
 In S. J. Blackmon, C. H. Major, J. F. Ryan, & G. Crisp (Eds.), *MOOCS and higher* education: Implications for institutional research: New Directions for Institutional Research, Number 167. John Wiley & Sons. (pp. 41-55).
- Gluchmanova, M. (2018). LMS portal Moodle in technical professional language teaching. *Technology Education Management Journal*, 7(1), 188-192. https://doi.org/10.18421/TEM71-23
- Goh, C., & Aryadoust, V. (2010). Investigating the construct validity of the MELAB listening test through the Rasch Analysis and correlated uniqueness modeling. *Spaan Fellow Working Papers in Second or Foreign Language Assessment*, 8, 31-68. Ann Arbor, MI. MELAB.
- Goodwin, S. (2017). Locus of control in L2 English listening assessment. [Doctoral dissertation], Georgia State University, Atlanta, GA. MET. https://scholarworks.gsu.edu/alesl_diss/37
- Goos, M. (2004). Learning Mathematics in a Classroom Community of Inquiry. *Journal for Research in Mathematics Education*, *35*(4), 258-291. https://doi.org/10.2307/30034810

Gort, M. January, 2012). Code-Switching Patterns in the Writing-Related Talk of Young Emergent Bilinguals. *Journal of Literacy Research*, 44(1), 45-75. https://doi.org/10.1177/1086296X11431626

Greening, J. (2017). Unlocking talent, fulfilling potential: A plan for improving social mobility through education. Manchester, England: Department for Education.
 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/improving-social-mobility-through-education

- Gregg, K. R. (1984). Krashen's monitor and Occam's Razor. *Applied Linguistics*, 5(2), 79-100. https://doi.org/10.1093/applin/5.2.79
- Griffiths, C. (2004). Language learning strategies: Theory and research. AIS St. Helens, *Centre* for Research in International Education, 1-25.
- Gromik, N. (2012). Cell phone video recording feature as a language-learning tool: A case study. *Computers & Education, 58*(1), 223-230. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2011.06.013
- Hager, M. (1998). How `demographic fatigue' will defuse the population bomb. Newsweek, 132(18), 12-34.
- Halachev, P. (2009). E-learning effectiveness. Paper presented at the *Interactive Computer Aided Learning International Conference, Austria. Conference ICL-2009*: Kessel University
 Press. www.icl-conference.org/dl/proceedings/2009/program/pdf/Contribution_065.pdf
- Hall, J., Hellermann, J., Doehler, S. P., & Olsher, D. (Eds.). (2011). L2 interactional competence and development. Bristol, UK: Multilingual Matters.

Halliday, M. (1978). Language as a social semiotic. London: Edward Arnold.

- Hammer, K. (2017). They speak what language to whom?!: Acculturation and language use for communicative domains in bilinguals. *Language & Communication*, 56, 42-54. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.langcom.2017.04.004
- Hamzah, M. (2004). Facilitating second language acquisition (SLA) in a computer-mediated communication (CMC) learning environment. *Internet Journal of e-Language Learning & Teaching*, 1(1), 15-24. http://www.eltrec.ukm.my/iJeLLT
- Han, Z. (2004). Fossilization in adult second language acquisition (Second Language Acquisition vol. 5). Buffalo, NY: Multilingual Matters LTD.
- Harfitt, G. J., & Tsui, A. B. M. (2015). An examination of class size reduction on teaching and learning processes: A theoretical perspective. *British Educational Research Journal*, 41, 845-865. https://doi.org/10.1002/berj.3165
- Hargreaves, A. (1994). *Changing teachers, changing times: Teachers' work and culture in the postmodern age*. New York, NY: Teachers College Press.
- Harrington, A. (2010). Problematizing the hybrid classroom for ESL/EFL students. *The Electronic Journal for English as a Second Language*, *14*(3), 1-13.
- Harrington, A. (2012). Computer-mediated communication across cultures. In *Language abilities and culture clashes in cyberspace* (pp. 414-428). https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-60960-833-0.ch026
- Hartshorne, J. K., Tenenbaum, J. B., & Pinker, S. (2018). A critical period for second language acquisition: Evidence from 2/3 million English speakers. *Cognition*, 177(1), 263-277. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cognition.2018.04.007

- Hashim, H., Yunus, M. M., Embi, M. A., & Ozir, N. A. M. (2017). Mobile-assisted language learning (MALL) for ESL learners: A review of affordances and constraints. *Sains Humanika*, 9(1-5), 45-50. https://doi.org/10.11113/sh.v9n1-5.1175
- Hatch, E. M. (1978). Discourse analysis and language acquisition. In E. M. Hatch (Ed.). *Second language acquisition: A book of readings*. Rowley, MA: Newbury. (pp. 401-435)
- Heflin, H., Shewmaker, J., & Nguyen, J. (April, 2017). Impact of mobile technology on student attitudes, engagement, and learning. Computer & Learning, 107(2), 91-99. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2017.01.006
- Heift, T., & Schulze, M. (2015). Tutorial computer-assisted language learning. *Language Teaching*, 48(4), 471-490. Cambridge University Press. https://www.doi.org/10.1017/S0261444815000245
- Horne, K. M. (1970). Optimum class size for intensive language instruction. *The Modern Language Journal*, 54, 189-195. https://doi.org/10.2307/321979
- Howard, J.B., 2010. Extraversion and Oral Proficiency in ESL [Master's dissertation]. Louisiana State University, Louisiana.
- Hsu, L. (2013). English as a foreign language learners' perception of mobile assisted language learning: A cross-national study. *Computer Assisted Language Learning*, 26(3), 197-213. https://doi.org/10.1080/09588221.2011.649485
- Hubbard, P. (2006). *Teacher education in CALL* (Language learning and language teaching, v.14). Amsterdam: John Benjamins Pub.
- Huber. A. (2018). Whatever Happened to the CALL Revolution? *Hirao School of Management Review*, 8(1), 31-39. http://doi.org/10.14990/00003054

Hughes, J., Douglas, N., & Morgan, J. R. (2021). World link 2. Cengage Learning.

- Hurd, S. (2000) Distance language learners and learner support: Beliefs, difficulties and use of strategies. *Links and Letters 7: Autonomy in L2 Learning*, 61-80.
- Hurd, S. (2002) Taking account of affective learner differences in the planning and delivering of language courses for open, distance and independent learning. *Subject Center 2002 Conference Proceedings: Open University*.
- Hymes, D. (1974). *Foundations in sociolinguistics: An ethnographic approach*. Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press.

Ilic, P. (2015). The effects of mobile collaborative activities in a second language course. International Journal of Mobile and Blended Learning (IJMBL), 7(4), 16-37. https://doi.org/10.4018/IJMBL.2015100102

International Telecommunication Union (ITU). (2019). Measuring digital development facts and figures 2019.

https://www.itu.int/en/ITU-D/Statistics/Documents/facts/FactsFigures2019.pdf

- Jarvis, H., & Achilleos, M. (2013). From computer-assisted language learning (CALL) to mobile-assisted language use (MALU). *TESL-EJ*, *16*(4), 1-18.
- Johnson, J., & Lim, G.(2009). The influence of rater language background on writing performance assessment. *Language Testing*, 26(4), 485-505. MELAB.
- Johnson, M. (2004). Vygotsky's sociocultural theory and second language learning. In A philosophy of second language acquisition. London: Yale University Press. (pp. 129-169). http://www.jstor.org/stable/j.ctt1npz5q.12
- Jung, M. (2013). Videoconferencing improves students' language learning in the EFL classroom. *TESOL Journal*, 4(4), 743-751. https://doi.org/10.1002/tesj.112

- Kang, T., Arvizu, M., Chaipuapae, P., & Lesnov, R. (2016). Reviews of academic English listening tests for non-native speakers. *International Journal of Listening*, 33(1), 1-38.
 MICHIGAN EPT.
- Kapsargina, S., & Olentsova, J. (2020a). Experience of using LMS Moodle in the organization of independent work of bachelors in teaching a foreign language. In *International Scientific Conference "Far East Con"* (ISCFEC 2020) (pp. 537-544). Atlantis Press.
- Kapsargina, S., & Olentsova, J. (2020b). Reasonability of using LMS Moodle tests as a form of control in teaching a foreign language for students of secondary vocational education. In New Silk Road: Business Cooperation and Prospective of Economic Development (NSRBCPED 2019). Advances in Economics, Business, and Management Research, 131, 811-815. Atlantis Press.
- Kasemsap, K. (2017). Multiculturalism and technology-enhanced language learning. In *Mastering technology-Enhanced language learning, computer-Assisted language learning, and mobile-Assisted language learning* (pp. 157-180). Information Science Reference. https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-5225-1882-2.ch010
- Kaymakamoglu, S. E. (2018). Teachers' beliefs, perceived practice and actual classroom practice in relation to traditional (teacher-centered) and constructivist (learner-centered) teaching (note 1). *Journal of Education and Learning*, 7(1), 29-37.
- Keeley, T. (2014). The importance of self-identity and ego permeability in foreign culture adaptation and foreign language acquisition. *Kyushu Sangyo University (Business Review)*, 25(1), 65-104.
- Kelley, J. P. (1982) Interlanguage variation and social/psychological influences within a developmental stage. [Unpublished MA thesis]. UCLA TESL Program.

Kerr, P. (2016). Adaptive learning. ELT Journal, 70(1), 88-93. https://doi.org/10.1093/elt/ccv055

- Khajavy, G. H., MacIntyre, P. D., & Hariri, J. (2020). Grit and mindset in language learning. A closer look at grit and language mindset as predictors of foreign language achievement. *Studies in Second Language Acquisition, 42*(2), Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0272263120000480
- Khaliliaqdam, S. (2014). ZPD, scaffolding, and basic speech development in EFL context. *Procedia – Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 98, 891-897. Elsevier Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.03.497
- Kim, Y., Tracy-Ventura, N., & Jung, Y. (2016). A measure of proficiency or short-term memory? Validation of an elicited imitation test for SLA research. *The Modern Language Journal*, 100(3), 655-673. http://www.jstor.org/stable/44135012
- Kinginger, C. (Ed.) (2013). Social and cultural aspects of language learning in study abroad. Amsterdam, NLD: John Benjamins Publishing Company.
- Kotter, J. (2009). What leaders really do. *IEEE Engineering Management Review*, 37(3), 18-28.
 [from first published Kotter, J. P. (1999). What Leaders really do. USA: Harvard Business Review]. https://doi.org/10.1109/emr.2009.5235494.
- Kovtun, L., Khmanova, N., & Raitskaya, L. (2018). Language shock in e-learning environment [Conference session]. 11th Annual International Conference of Education, Research, and Innovation, Seville, Spain, https://doi.org/10.21125/iceri.2018.1911
- Krashen, S. (1982). *Principles and practices in second language acquisition*. Oxford: Pergamon Press Inc. (Internet edition 2009 - www.researchgate.net/publication/242431410)
- Krashen, S. D. & Terrell, T.D. (1983). *The natural approach: Language acquisition in the classroom*. Hayward, CA: Alemany Press.

- Krashen, S. D. (1977). Some issues relating to the monitor model. In H. D. Brown, C. Yorio, &
 R. Crymes (Eds.) *Teaching and Learning English as a Second Language: On TESOL*.
 1977. Washington: TESOL. (144-158).
- Krashen, S. D. (1979). A response to McLaughlin, was monitor model: Some methodological considerations. *Language Learning*, 29(1), 151-167.
- Krashen, S. D. (1981). Second language acquisition and second language learning. Oxford, GB: Pergamon Press. (First Internet edition 2002).
- Krashen, S. D. (1984). Writing, research, theory, and applications. Beverly Hills, CA: Laredo Publishing/Pergamon.
- Krashen, S. D. (1985). *The input hypothesis: Issues and implications*. 4 ed. London/New York: Longman.
- Krashen, S. D. (1988) Second Language Acquisition and Second Language Learning. Prentice-Hall International.
- Krashen, S. D. (1994). The input hypothesis and its rivals. In N. Ellis (Ed.) *Implicit and Explicit Learning of Languages*. London: Academic Press (pp. 45-77).
- Krashen, S. D. (1998). Comprehensible output? System, 26(2), 175-182.
- Krashen, S. D. (2003) *Explorations in language acquisition and use: The Taipei lectures.*Portsmouth, NH: Heinemann.
- Krashen, S. D. (2004). *The power of reading: Insights from the research*. Portsmouth, NH: Heinemann.
- Krashen, S. D. (2009a) Principles and practice in second language acquisition. University of Southern California. Pergamon Press. Internet edition. (first edition 1982) http://www.sdkrashen.com/content/books/principles_and_practice.pdf

- Krashen, S. D. (2009b). The comprehension hypothesis extended. In T. Piske & M. Young-Scholten (eds.) *Input matters in SLA*. Bristol: Multilingual Matters. (pp. 81-94).
- Krashen, S. D. (2013). The case for non-targeted, comprehensible input. *Journal of Bilingual Education Research & Instruction*, 15(1), 102-110.
- Krashen, S. D. (Jun, 1984). Krashen responds to Faltis. *TESOL Quarterly*, *18*(2), 357-359. www.jstor.com/stable/3586706
- Krashen, S. D., Long, M., & Scarcella, R. (1979) Age, rate, and eventual attainment in second language acquisition. *TESOL Quarterly* 13, 573-582.
- Krashen, S. D., Terrell, T. D., Ehrman, M. E., & Herzog, M. (1984). A theoretical basis for teaching the receptive skills. *Foreign Language Annals*, 17(4), 261.
- Krashen, Stephen (1977). Some issues relating to the monitor model. In H. Brown, C. Yorio, & R. Crymes (Eds.). *Teaching and learning English as a second language: Trends in research and practice: On TESOL '77: Selected papers from the eleventh annual convention of teachers of English to speakers of other languages, Miami, FL, April 26 May 1, 1977.* Washington, DC: TESOL. (pp. 144–158).
- Krasulia, A. (2018). Student's perceptions of educational value and effectiveness of integrating electronic gadgets (mobile phones\tablets) with teaching-learning activities in an English as a foreign language classroom. [Master's thesis, The University of Tartu: Faculty of Social Sciences]. https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/187733089.pdf
- Kukulska-Hulme, A., Lee, H., & Norris, L. (2017). Mobile learning revolution: Implications for language ledagogy. In: C. A. Chapelle, and S. Sauro (Eds.). *The Handbook of Technology and Second Language Teaching and Learning*. (pp. 217-233). Oxford: Wiley & Sons.

- Kuo, Y., Chu, H., & Huang, C. (2015). A learning style-based grouping collaborative learning approach to improve EFL students' performance in English courses. *Educational Technology & Society*, 18(2), 284-298.
- Kusumaningputri, R. (2020). Exposure to Englishes in listening classrooms: The perspectives of Indonesian ESL learners. *JEELS (Journal of English Education and Linguistics Studies)*, 7(1), 49-68.

https://www.jurnal.iainkediri.ac.id/index.php/jeels/article/download/1628/958

- LaFlair, G. T., & Staples, S. (2017). Using corpus linguistics to examine the extrapolation inference in the validity argument for a high-stakes speaking assessment. *Language Testing*, 34(4), 451-475. MELAB.
- LaFlair, G. T., Staples, S., & Egbert, J.(2015). Variability in the MELAB speaking task: Investigating linguistic characteristics of test-taker performances in relation to rater severity and score. *CaMLA Working Papers*, 2015-04, Ann Arbor, MI. MELAB.
- Lai, C., Gu, M., Gao, F., Wan, J., & Yung, S. (2020). Motivational mechanisms of ethnic minorities' social media engagement with mainstream culture. *Journal of Multilingual* and Multicultural Development, 50(4), 1-17.
- Lambropoulos, N. (2008). Intelligent information technologies. In Culture-Based language learning objectsL a CALL approach for a ubiquitous world. Information Science Reference. https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-59904-941-0.ch116

Lambropoulos, N. (2009). Learning culture and language through iCTs. In *Culture-Based language learning objects* (pp. 255-273). Information Science Reference. https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-60566-166-7.ch015

- Langer de Ramirez, L. (2010). *Empower English language learners with tools from the web*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin.
- Lantolf, J. & Appel, G. (Eds.) (1994). *Vygotskian approaches to second language research*. New Jersey: Ablex Publishing Corporation.
- Lantolf, J. & Thorne, S. L. (2007). Sociocultural theory and second language learning. In. B.VanPatten & J. Pinker, S. (1995). *The language instinct: How the mind creates language*.New York: Harper Perennial Collins.
- Larsen-Freeman, D., Long, M. (1991). *An introduction to second language acquisition research*. London: Longman.
- Larsen-Freeman, D., Long, M. (2000). Second language acquisition and applied linguistics. Annual Review of Applied Linguistics, 20, 165-181.
- Larsen-Freeman, D., Long, M. (2000a). *Teaching Techniques in English as a Second Language*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Leakey, J. (2011). Evaluating computer-assisted language learning. http://ebookcentral.proquest.com.libproxy.bellarmine.edu/lib/bellarmineebooks/detail.action?docID=1055616

- Lee, L. (2004). Learners' perspective on networked collaborative interaction with native speakers of Spanish in the US. Language *Learning & Technology*, 8(1), 83-100. http://llt.msu.edu/vol8num1/lee/
- Lee, S., Lim, G., & Basse, R. (2021). The effect of additional time on the quality of argumentation in L2 writing assessment: A mixed-methods study. *Language Assessment Quarterly*. ECPE.

- Leite, A. D. (2009). Energy in Brazil: Towards a renewable energy dominated system. London: Earthscan.
- Leki, I. & Carson, J., (Spring, 1997). Completely different worlds: EAP and the writing experiences of ESL students in university courses. *TESOL Quarterly*, *31*(1), pp. 39-69.

Lenneberg, E.H. (1967). Biological foundations of language. New York: Wiley.

- Leow, R., Cerezo, L., & Baralt, M. (Eds.). (2015). A psycholinguistic approach to technology and language learning.
- Levine, A., & Levine, M. (2012). Toward universal higher education, maybe. American Journal Of Orthopsychiatry (Wiley-Blackwell), 82(3), 437-446. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1939-0025.2012.01173.x
- Levy, M. (2009). Technologies in use for second language learning. *The Modern Language Journal*, 93, 769-782. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-4781.2009.00972.x
- Lewin, T. (2013) Online classes fuel a campus debate. *The New York Times*. http://massiveopenonlinecourses-repository.yolasite.com/resources/13_06-19-13-Tamar%20Lewin-Online%20Classes%20Fuel%20a%20Campus%20Debate-NYT.pdf
- Li, G. (2013). Effects of a technology-enriched, task-based language teaching curriculum on Chinese elementary students' achievement in English as a foreign language. *International Journal of Computer-Assisted Language Learning and Teaching (IJCALLT)*,3(1), 33-49. https://doi.org/10.4018/ijcallt.2013010103
- Liaw, S. (2008). Investigating students' perceived satisfaction, behavioral intention, and effectiveness of e-learning: A case study of the Blackboard system. *Computers & Education*,51(2), 864-873. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2007.09.005

- Lightbown, P., & Spada, N. (1998). *How languages are learned*. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Lim, G. (2009). Prompt and rater effects in second language writing performance assessment. [Doctoral dissertation], University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI. MELAB. https://deepblue.lib.umich.edu/bitstream/handle/2027.42/64665/limgs_1.pdf
- Lim, G. (2010). Investigating prompt effects in writing performance assessment. Spaan Fellow
 Working Papers in Second or Foreign Language Assessment, 8, 95-115. Ann Arbor, MI.
 MELAB.
- Lim, G. (2011). The development and maintenance of rating quality in performance writing assessment: A longitudinal study of new and experienced raters. *Language Testing*,28(4), 543-560. MELAB.
- Lin, C. (2017). Working with sparse data in rated language tests: Generalizability theory applications. *Language Testing*, 34(2), 271-289. ECPE.
- Lin, C. C. (2007). EFL college students' perceptions of videoconferencing-assisted English learning. *Taiwan English Teaching & Learning*, 31(1), 77-116.
- Lin, T., & Lan, Y. (2015). Language learning in virtual reality environments: Past, present, and future. *Educational Technology and Society*, 486-497.
- Liou, H. (2009). Encyclopedia of distance learning, second edition. In *Computer-Assisted language learning in East Asia* (pp. 377-388). Information Science Reference. https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-60566-198-8.ch057
- Liu, M. (2015). A critical review of Krashen's input hypothesis: Three major arguments. Journal of Education and Human Development, 4(4), 139-146.

- Liyanagunawardena, T., Adams, A. & Williams, S. (2013). MOOCs: A systematic study of the published literature 2008-2012. *The International Review Of Research In Open And Distance Learning*, 14(3).
- Lloyd, P. & Fernyhough, C. (Eds.) (1999). Lev Vygotsky, Critical assessments. New York: Routledge.
- Locastro, V. (2001). Large classes and student learning. *TESOL Quarterly*, 35(3), 493-496. https://doi.org/10.2307/3588032
- Loewen, S., Crowther, D., Isbell, D. R., Kim, K. M., Maloney, J., Miller, Z. F., & Rawal, H. (2019). Mobile-assisted language learning: A Duolingo case study. *ReCALL: The Journal* of EUROCALL, 31(3), 293-311. Cambridge university Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0958344019000065
- Long, M. H. (2014). Second language acquisition and task-based language teaching. Oxford: Wiley/Blackwell.
- Long, M. H. (1981). Input, interaction and second language acquisition. In: H. Winitz (Ed.). *Native language and foreign language acquisition: Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences.* (v. 379). New York, NY: The New York Academy of Sciences, 1981. (pp. 259 -278).
- Long, M. H. (1983a). Linguistic and conversational adjustments to non-native speakers. *Studies in Second Language Acquisition, 5*, 177-194.
- Long, M. H. (1983b). Native speaker/non-native speaker conversation and the negotiation of comprehensible input. *Applied Linguistics*, *4*, 126-141.

- Long, M. H. (1996). The role of the linguistic environment in second language acquisition. In:W. Ritchie; T. Bhatia (Eds.). *Handbook of second language acquisition*. San Diego:Academic Press. v. 2. (pp. 413-468).
- Long, M., & Porter, P. (1985). Group work, interlanguage talk, and second language acquisition. *TESOL Quarterly*, 19(2), 207–228. https://doi.org/10.2307/3586827
- Loranc-Paszylk, B. (2015). Videoconferencing as a tool for developing speaking skills. In M.
 Pawlak and E. Waniek-Klimczak (Eds.), *Issues in Teaching, Learning and Testing Speaking in a Second Language, Second Language Learning and Teaching*. (pp. 189-203). Https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-38339-7_12
- Loucky, J. (2010). Comparing foreign language learners' use of online glossing programs. *International Journal of Virtual and Personal Learning Environments*, 1(4), 31-51. https://doi.org/10.4018/jvple.2010100103
- Lu, R., Goodale, T. A., & Guo, Y. (2014). Impact of videoconference with native English speakers on Chinese EFL learners' oral competence and self-confidence. *Open Journal of Social Sciences*, 2(2), 54-60.
- Lu, Y. (2005). A validation study of the ECCE NNS and NS examiners' conversational styles from a discourse Analytic perspective. *CaMLA Working Papers*, 3, 73-100. Ann Arbor, MI.ECCE.
- Ma, Y., & Garcia-Murillo, M. A. (2018). Understanding international students from Asia in American universities. Switzerland: Springer International Publishing.
- Maciejewski, M. L. (2020). Quasi-experimental design. *Biostatistics & Epidemiology*, 4(1), 38-47.

MacIntyre, P. D., & Gardner, R. C. (1989). Anxiety and second-language learning: Toward a theoretical clarification. *Language learning*, 39(2), 251-275. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-1770.1989.tb00423.x

- MacIntyre, P. D., & Gardner, R. C. (1994), The effects of induced anxiety on three stages of cognitive processing in computerized vocabulary learning. *Studies in Second Language Acquisition*, 16(1), 1-17. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0272263100012560
- MacIntyre, P.D., Charos, C., (1996). Personality, attitudes, and affect as predictors of second language communication. *J. Lang. Social Psychol.* 15(1), 3-26.
- MacMillan, F., Walter, D., & O'Boyle, J. (2014). Investigating grammatical knowledge at the advanced level. *Cambridge English: Research Notes*, 55, 7-12. ECPE.
- Maleki, A. (2005). A new approach to teaching English as a foreign language: The bottom-up approach. *Asian EFL Journal, 3*, 1-8.
- Marczak, M. (2013). *Communication and information technology in (Intercultural) language teaching*. Newcastle upon Tyne: Cambridge Scholars Publishing.
- Marek, M. W. (2008). Internet videoconferencing to improve EFL learning. Paper presented at the *Conference on English Teaching and Global Communication* (Changhua City, Taiwan, March 8, 2008). https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED501102.pdf
- Marek, M. W. (2014, June). The Integration of technology and language instruction to enhance EFL learning. Keynote address presented at the TELL-SIG Conference, Taichung, Taiwan. http://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED545477.pdf
- Marek, M. W., & Wu, W. C. V. (2014, July). Creating sustainable task-based CALL instructional design. Paper presented at the XVIth CALL Research conference in Antwerp, Belgium.

Markova, T., Glazkova, I., & Zaborova, E. (2017). Quality issues of online distance learning.
Paper presented at the 7th International Conference on Intercultural Education
"Education, Health and ICT for a Transcultural World", EDUHEM 2016, 15-17 June
2016, Almeria, Spain. Published by Elsevier Ltd. This is an open access article under the
CC BY-NC-ND license. *Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences, 237*, 685-691.
Available online at:

https://ojs.ukrlogos.in.ua/index.php/logos/article/download/4063/3997

- Martín-Monje, E., & Bárcena, E. (Eds.). (2014). *Language MOOCs: Providing learning, transcending boundaries*. Warsaw Poland: De Gruyter Open.
- Martins, V. L. (2015). O lúdico no processo ensino-aprendizagem da língua inglesa. *Revista Científica Intr@ciência*, 10, 1-21. Guarujá, São Paulo.
- Marx, K. (1964). *Early writings*. Translated and edited by T. B. Bottomore. New York: McGraw-Hill Book Company.
- Masgoret, A. M. & Gardner, R.C. (2003). Attitudes, motivation and second language learning: meta-analyses of studies by Gardner and associates. In Z. D-myei (Ed.) *Attitudes, orientations and motivations in language learning* (The Best of Language Learning Series). Oxford: Blackwell.
- McAndrew, P., Foubister, S.P., & Mayes, T. (1996). Videoconferencing in a language learning application. *Interacting with Computers*, 8(2), 207-217. https://doi.org/10.1016/0953-5438(96)01028-4
- McLain, P., Miller, B., Saulter, R., & Stucker, J. R. (2018). Creating a listening test to track young learners' language development. Poster presented at the 2018 Midwest Association of Language Testers Conference, Madison, Wisconsin. MET GO!

McLaughlin, B. (1978). The monitor model: Some methodological considerations. *Language Learning* 28(2), 309-332. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-1770.1978.tb00137.x

McLaughlin, B. (1985). Second-language acquisition in childhood: Volume 2, School-age children. New Yourk, NY: Psychology Press - Taylor & Francis Group.

McLaughlin, B. (1987). Theories of second language learning. London: Edward Arnold.

- Melchor-Couto, S. (2019). Virtual worlds and language learning. *Journal of Gaming and Virtual Worlds*, 29-43.
- Metruk, R. (2018). The effects of watching authentic English videos with and without subtitles on listening and reading skills of EFL learners. *EURASIA Journal of Mathematics*, *Science and Technology Education*, 14(6), 2545-2553.
- Meyer, K. A. (2014). Student engagement in online learning: What works and why. *ASHE higher education report*, 40(6), 1-114. https://doi.org/10.1002/aehe.20018
- Mezirow, J. (1991). Transformative dimensions of adult learning. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Michigan English Test References (https://michiganassessment.org/research/research-database/)

Michigan Language Assessment. (2018). Development of the MET Go! Speaking test. Ann

Arbor, MI. MET GO! - Technical Reports.

- Michigan Language Assessment. (2018). Development of the MET Go! Writing test. Ann Arbor, MI. MET GO! - Technical Reports.
- Michigan Language Assessment. (2019). Development of the MET Go! Listening and reading tests. Ann Arbor, MI. MET GO! Technical Reports.
- Michigan Language Assessment. (2019). Revising the MET. Ann Arbor, MI. MET Technical Reports.

- Michigan Language Assessment. (2020). ECCE 2019 test report. Ann Arbor, Michigan. ECCE -Test Reports.
- Michigan Language Assessment. (2020). ECPE 2019 test report. Ann Arbor, Michigan. ECPE -Test Reports.
- Michigan Language Assessment. (2020). MET 2019 test report. Ann Arbor, Michigan. MET -Test Reports.
- Michigan Language Assessment. (2020). MET Go! 2019 test report. Ann Arbor, Michigan. MET GO! Test Reports.
- Michigan Language Assessment. (2020). MYLE 2019 test report. Ann Arbor, Michigan. MYLE - Test Reports.
- Miller, B., Slisz, L., McLain, P., Saulter, R., & Stucker, J.R. (2019). Beyond the test score:
 Developing listening test feedback and activities to empower young learners and teachers of English. *Poster presented at the 2019 Language Testing Research Colloquium*, Atlanta, Georgia. MET GO!
- Miller, P. (2011). *Theories of developmental psychology* (5th ed.). New York, NY: Worth Publishers.
- Mitchell, R., Myles, F., & Marsden, E. (2013). *Second language learning theories*. (3rd ed.). London/New York: Routledge.

Moll, L. C., Diaz, S., Estrada, E., & Lopes, L. M. (2017). Making contexts: The social construction of lessons in two languages. In *Cross-cultural literacy: Ethnographies of communication in multiethnic classrooms* (pp. 339-366). Taylor and Francis. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781351237109

- Mondahl, M., & Razmerita, L. (2014). Social media, collaboration and social learning a casestudy of foreign language learning. Electronic Journal of E-learning, 12(4), 339-352.
- Monfared, A., & Khatib, M. (2018). English or Englishes?: Outer and expanding circle teachers' awareness of and attitudes towards their own variants of English in ESL/EFL teaching contexts. *Australian Journal of Teacher Education (Online)*, 43(2), 56-75. http://dx.doi.org/10.14221/ajte.2018v43n2.4
- Moreno, R. & Mayer, R. (2005). Role of guidance, reflection, and interactivity in an agent-based multimedia game. *Journal of Education Psychology*, *97*(1), 117-128.
- Muho, A., & Kurani, A. (2011). The role of interaction in second language acquisition. *European Scientific Journal*, 16(1), 44-54.
 https://doi.org/10.19044/esj.2011.v16n0p%25p
- Munday, P. (2016). The case for using Duolingo as part of the language classroom experience. *RIED: Revista Iberoamericana de Educación a Distancia*, 19(1), 83-101. https://doi.org/10.5944/ried.19.1.14581
- Muñoz, C., & Singleton, D. (2011). A critical review of age-related research on L2 ultimate attainment. *Language Teaching*, 44(1), 1-35. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0261444810000327.
- Naciri, A., Baba, M. A., Achbani, A., & Kharbach, A. (2020). Mobile Learning in Higher
 Education: Unavoidable Alternative during COVID-19. *Aquademia*, 4(1), 1-2, ep20016.
 Veritas. https://doi.org/10.29333/aquademia/8227
- Najarzadegan, S. & Dabaghi, A. (2017). Effective nonverbal communications and English language classrooms. *Research in English Language Pedagogy*, 2(2), 109-118.

- Namaziandost, E., Nasri1, M., & Ziafar, M. (2019). Comparing the impacts of various inputs (i+1 & i-1) on pre-intermediate EFL learners' reading comprehension and reading motivation: The case of Ahvazi learners. *Asian-Pacific Journal of Second and Foreign Language Education*, 4(13), 1-20. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40862-019-0079-1
- Napikul, S., Cedar, P., & Roongrattanakool, D. (2018). The effects of film subtitles on English listening comprehension and vocabulary. *International Journal of Applied Linguistics* and English Literature, 7(6), 104-111.
- Newman, F. & Holzman, L. (1993). Lev Vygotsky: Revolutionary scientist. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Newmark, L. (1966). How not to interfere with language learning. (Language learning: The individual and the process). *International Journal of American Linguistics* 32(1), 77-83.
- Nicolson, M. (2011). Language teaching in blended contexts. Edinburgh: Dunedin Academic Press.
- Nishijima, M., Ivanauskas, T. I., & Sarti, F. M. (2017). Evolution and determinants of the digital divide in Brazil (2013 2017). *Telecommunications Policy* 41(1), 12 24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.telpol.2016.10.004
- Noels, K. A. (2001). New orientations in language learning motivation: Towards a model of intrinsic, extrinsic, and integrative orientations and motivation. In Z. Dörnyei & R.
 Schmidt (Eds.). *Motivation and Second Language Acquisition* (pp. 43-68). Honolulu, HI: University of Hawaii Second Language Teaching and Curriculum Centre.
- Noels, K., Clément, R., & Pelletier, L. (2001). Intrinsic, extrinsic, and integrative orientations of French Canadian learners of English. *Canadian Modern Language Review*, 57(3), 424-442.

- O'Dowd, R. (2000). Intercultural learning via videoconferencing: A pilot exchange project. *ReCALL*, *12*(1), 49-61. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0958344000000616
- O'Grady, W. (2012). Language acquisition without an acquisition device. *Language Teaching*, *45*(1), 116-130. Cambridge University Press.

https://doi.org/10.1017/S026144481000056X

- OECD (2014). *Education at a Glance, 2014*. OECD Publishing. http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/eag-2014-en.
- Oliveri, M. E., & Lawless, R. (Eds.). (2018). The validity of inferences from locally developed assessments administered globally. *ETS Research Report Series*, 2018(1), 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1002/ets2.12221
- Onwuegbuzie, A., Bailey, P., & Daley, C. (1999). Factors associated with foreign language anxiety. *Applied Psycholingustics*, 20, 217-239.

https://doi.org/10.1017/S0142716499002039

- Ortega-Auquilla, D. P., Hidalgo, C., & Heras-Urgiles, G. E. (2019). The Facilitative Role of the Interaction Hypothesis: Using Interactional Modification Techniques in the English Communicative Classroom. *Polo Del Conocimiento*, 4(3), 3-23. https://doi.org/10.23857/pc.v4i3.913
- Orwell, C. (2012). Can mass higher education work? Prospero, 18(4), 30-36.
- Owens, J. & St Croix, T. (2020) Engines of social mobility? Navigating meritocratic education discourse in an unequal society. *British Journal of Educational Studies*, 68(4), 403-424. https://doi.org/10.1080/00071005.2019.1708863
- Papageorgiou, S. (2010). Setting cut scores on the common European framework of reference for the Michigan English Test. Ann Arbor, MI. MET - Technical Reports.

Papageorgiou, S., Stevens, R., & Goodwin, S. (2012). The relative difficulty of dialogic and monologic input in a second-language listening comprehension test. Language Assessment Quarterly, 9(4), 375-397.

MET.http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/15434303.2012.721425

- Pappano, L. (2012, November 2). The year of the MOOC. The New York Times. http://www.nytimes.com/2012/11/04/education/edlife/massive-open-online-courses-aremultiplying-at-a-rapid-pace.html?pagewanted=all
- Parajuli, K. (2016). Mobile Learning Practice In Higher Education in Nepal. Open Praxis, 8(1),
 41-54. International Council for Open and Distance Education.
 http://dx.doi.org/10.5944/openpraxis.8.1.245.
- Park, H. (2015). Handbook of research on cross-Cultural approaches to language and literacy development. In Using culturally and linguistically diverse electronic storybooks in eSL teacher education (pp. 209-237). Information Science Reference. https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-4666-8668-7.ch009
- Park, T. (2006).Detecting DIF across different language and gender groups in the MELAB using the logistic regression method. Spaan Fellow Working Papers in Second or Foreign Language Assessment, 4, 81-96. Ann Arbor, MI. MELAB.
- Passos, M. (2006). Bloomfield and skinner: Speech-community, functions of language, and scientific activity. The Journal of Speech-Language Pathology and Applied Behavior Analysis, 2(1), 76-96.
- Patrick, P. (2002). The speech community. In J. K. Chambers, P. Trudgill, & N. Schlling-Estes (Eds.), *The handbook of language variation and change* (pp. 573-598). Oxford: Blackwell.

- Payne, M., York, C., & Fagan, J. (1974). Changes in measured social distance over time. *Sociometry*, *37*(1), 131-136. https://doi.org/10.2307/2786473
- Pearce, S., McLain, P., & Clark, T. (2019). Familiarizing standard-setting panelists with the CEFR: A three-step approach to attaining a shared understanding of just-qualified candidates. Poster presented at the 2019 Language Testing Research Colloquium, Atlanta, Georgia. MET GO!.
- Pearce, S., McLain, P., Clark, T., & Haines, S. (2018). Linking the MET Go! and the common European framework of reference. Ann Arbor, MI. MET GO! Technical Reports.
- Pedder, D. (2006). Are small classes better? Understanding relationships between class size, classroom processes, and pupil's learning. Oxford Review of Education, 32(2), 213-234. http://www.jstor.org/stable/4618655
- Penfield, W. & Roberts, L. (1959) Speech and brain mechanisms. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Perlmutter, L., Fiannaca, A., Kernfeld, E., Anand, S., Arnold, L., & Cakmak, M. (2016). Automatic adaptation of online language lessons for robot tutoring. In *International Conference on Social Robotics* (pp. 660-670). Springer, Cham.
- Persson, V., & Nouri, J. (2018). A systematic review of second language learning with mobile technologies. *International Journal of Emerging Technologies in Learning*, 13(2), 188-210.

https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/0778/fe3b8b38d40b56c74c1c153866c5724ab96e.pdf

Peterson, M. (2009). Learner interaction in synchronous CMC: A Sociocultural perspective. *Computer Assisted Language Learning*, 22(4), 303-321.

- Philominraj, A., Jeyabalan, D., & Vidal-Silva, C. (2017). Visual Learning: A Learner Centered Approach to Enhance English Language Teaching. *English Language Teaching*, 10(3), 54–62.
- Pinnegar, S. & Teemant, A. (2019). Schumann's acculturation model: Variability summary C. InB. Allman (Ed.), *Principles of Language Acquisition*. EdTech Books.
- Piotrowski, J., Basse, R., Miller, B., & Pearce, S. (2019). Approaches to scoring task completion in speaking performances. Poster presented at the 2018 Midwest Association of Language Testers Conference, Madison, Wisconsin. MET GO!.
- Piquer-Píriz, A. M., & Alejo-González, R. (2016). Applying Cognitive Linguistics: Identifying some current research foci (figurative language in use, constructions and typology).
 Review of Cognitive Linguistics. 14(1), 1-20. *Published under the auspices of the Spanish Cognitive Linguistics Association*. https://doi.org/10.1075/rcl.14.1.01piq
- Plonsky, L., & Ziegler, N. (2016). The CALL-SLA interface: Insights from a second-order synthesis. *Language learning & Technology*, 20(2), 17-37.
- Plough, I. Briggs, S. Van Bonn, S. (2010). A multi-method analysis of evaluation criteria used to assess the speaking proficiency of graduate student instructors. *Language Testing*, 27(2), 235-260. GSI-OET.
- Plough, I., & Bogart, P. (2008). Perceptions of examiner behavior modulate power relations in oral performance testing. *Language Assessment Quarterly*, 5(3), 195-217. GSI-OET.
- Plough, I., Banerjee, J., & Iwashita, N. (2018). Interactional competence: Genie out of the bottle. *Language Testing*, 35(3), 427-445. ECPE.
- Plough, I., MacMillan, F., & O'Connell, S. (2011). Changing tasks/changing evidence: A comparative study of two speaking proficiency tests. In G. Granena, J. Koeth, S. Lee-

Ellis, A. Lukyanchenko, G.P. Botana, & E. Rhoades (Eds.), *Selected proceedings of the* 2010 Second Language Research Forum, Somerville, MA: Cascadilla Proceedings Project 91-104. Somerville, MA. ECPE.

- Prince, P. (2014). Engaging language learners through technology integration. In *Theory and practice in computer-Assisted vocabulary learning* (pp. 276-297). Information Science. https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-4666-6174-5.ch013
- Pütz, M., & Sicola, L. (2010). Cognitive processing in second language acquisition: Inside the learner's mind (Converging evidence in language and communication research (CELCR). Amsterdam: John Benjamins Publishing.
- Rabinovich, E., Tsvetkov, Y., & Wintner, S. (2018). Native language cognate effects on second language lexical choice. *Transactions of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, 6, 329-342.
- Rahma, M., & Usman, O. (July 8, 2020). Implementation of Distance Education Based on Technology on the Effectiveness of Learning for Students and Teachers. Available at Social Science Research Network: https://ssrn.com/abstract=3646267
- Reimers, F., Chopra, V., Chung, C. K., Higdon, J., & O'Donnell, E. B. (2016). Empowering global citizens: A world course. North Charleston, SC: CreateSpace Independent Publishing Platform.
- Rhoads, R., Berdan, J. & Toven-Lindsey, B. (2013). The open courseware movement in higher education: Unmasking power and raising questions about the movement's democratic potential. *Educational Theory*, 63(1), 87-109.

- Ripley, A. (2012, October 18). College is dead. Long live college! Can a new breed of online megacourses finally offer a college education to more people for less money? *Time Magazine*. http://nation.time.com/2012/10/18/college-is-dead-long-live-college/
- Rodriguez, C. (2014). MOBIMOOC 2012: A New Tree Structure For The Delivery Of Connectivist MOOCs. *Turkish Online Journal of Distance Education*, 15(1), 41-49. https://doi.org/10.17718/tojde.59168
- Rodriguez, O. (2012). MOOCs and the AI-Standford like courses: Two successful and distinct course formats for massive open online courses. *European Journal of Open, Distance and E-learning*.
- Roehr-Brackin, K. (2018). *Metalinguistic awareness and second language acquisition (Cognitive science and second language acquisition series)*. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Rohs, M. & Ganz, M. (2015). MOOCs and the claim of education for all: A disillusion by empirical data. *International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, *16*(6), 1-19. https://doi.org/10.19173/irrodl.v16i6.2033
- Römer, U. (2017). Language assessment and the inseparability of lexis and grammar: Focus on the construct of speaking. *Language Testing*, 34(4), 477-492. ECCE, ECPE.
- Römer, U., & Banerjee, J. (2019). Validating the MET speaking test through phraseological analysis: A corpus approach to language assessment. *CaMLA Working Papers*, 2017-01, Ann Arbor, MI. MET.
- Rose, R. (2020). Fluidity: Real-time Feedback on Acoustic Measures of Second Language Speech Fluency. (Unpublished study). Presented at the 10th International Conference on Speech Prosody 2020, 25-28 May 2020, Tokyo, Japan

- Rosebrough, T. R., & Leverett, R. G. (2011). *Transformational Teaching*. Alexandria, VA: ASCD.
- Rounds, M. (October 15, 2010). Stephen Krashen on language acquisition from the 80s. [Video]. YouTube. https://youtu.be/NiTsduRreug
- Sadler, R. (2012). Virtual worlds for language learning.

http://ebookcentral.proquest.com.libproxy.bellarmine.edu/lib/bellarmine-

ebooks/detail.action?docID=1055920

Sampson, G. (2005). The 'language instinct' debate. London: Continuum.

Santiago, G. (2015). *Stephen Krashen – Comprehensible input*. [Video]. Vimeo (from BBC Studios). https://vimeo.com/157862576

Sapir, E. (1921). Language: An introduction to the study of speech. New York: Harcourt, Brace.

- Schapiro, S. A. (2003). From andragogy to collaborative critical pedagogy: Learning for academic, personal, and social empowerment in a distance-learning Ph.D. program. *Journal of Transformative Education 1*(2), 150-166.
- Schenker, T. (2013). Contemporary computer-assisted language learning. *Calico Journal*, *30*(3), 449-451. https://doi.org/10.1558/cj.v30i3.449 Book review!!!!!
- Schinke-Llano, L. (1993). On the value of a Vygotskian framework for SLA theory and research. Language Learning, 43(1), 121-129. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-1770.1993.tb00175.x
- Schumann, J. H. (1990). Extending the scope of the acculturation/pidginization model to include cognition. *TESOL Quarterly*, *24*(4), 667-684. https://doi.org/10.2307/3587114
- Schumann, J. H. (1978a). The acculturation model for second-language acquisition. In R.C.Gringas (Ed.) Second language acquisition and foreign language teaching. Washington,D.C.: Center for Applied Linguistics (pp. 27-50).

- Schumann, J. H. (1978b). The pidginization process: A model for second language acquisition. Rowley, MA: Newbury House, 1978.
- Schumann, J. H. (1986). Research on the acculturation model for second language acquisition. Journal of Multilingual and Multicultural Development, 7 (5), 379-392. https://doi.org/10.1080/01434632.1986.9994254
- Schuwer, R., Gil-Jaurena, I., Aydin, C. H., Costello, E., Dalsgaard, C., Brown, M., Jansen, D., & Teixeira, A. (2015). Opportunities and threats of the MOOC movement for higher education: The European perspective. *International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, *16*(6), 20-38.
- Schwartz, S. (2013). The future of higher education: Faster, cheaper, better. Policy, 29(2), 3-9.
- Scovel, T. (1978). The effect of affect on foreign language learning: A review of the anxiety research. *Language Learning*, 28, 129-142. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-1770.1978.tb00309.x
- Selingo, J. (2013). *College (Un)Bound, The future of higher education and what it means for students.* Boston: New Harvest.
- Selinker, L. (1972). Interlanguage. *International Review of Applied Linguistics 10*(2): pp. 209-31.
- Selinker, L. (1996). Fossilization: What We Think We Know. London: Longman Group Limited.
- Shackelford, J. L., & Maxwell, M. (October, 2012). Sense of community in graduate online education: Contribution of learner-to-learner interaction. The International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning (formerly named the International *Review of Research in Open and Distance Learning*), *13*(4). Western Kentucky University, USA. http://www.irrodl.org/index.php/irrodl/article/view/1339/2317

- Shafie, L. A., & Nayan, S. (2010). Employability awareness among Malaysian undergraduates. International journal of business and management, 5(8), 119.
- Shaw, R. (2013). The relationships among group size, participation, and performance of programming language learning supported with online forums. *Computers & Education* 62(1), 196–207.
- Shih, Y. (2016). Mobile computing and wireless networks. In Weaving web 2.0 and facial expression recognition into the 3D virtual english classroom (pp. 1453-1476).
 Information Science Reference. https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-4666-8751-6.ch063
- Short, D. (1993). Assessing integrated language and content instruction. *TESOL Quarterly*, 27(4), 627-656.
- Singleton, D. & Ryan, L. (2004). Language acquisition: The age factor. (2nd ed.). Clevedon, England: Multilingual Matters Ltd.
- Singleton, D. (1995). A critical look at the critical period hypothesis in second language acquisition research. In Singleton, D. and Lengyel, Z. (Eds.), The age factor in second language acquisition. Clevedon, England: Multilingual Matters, 1-29.
- Singleton, D. M., & Lengyel, Z. (1995). The age factor in second language acquisition: A critical look at the critical period hypothesis. Clevedon, England: Multilingual Matters Ltd.

Skinner, B. F. (1957). Verbal Behavior. New York: Prentice-Hall, Inc.

Slusky, L. (2020). Cybersecurity of online proctoring systems. *Journal of International Technology and Information Management*, 29(1), 56-83.

Smith, M. S. (1981). Conscious-raising and the second language learner. *Applied Linguistics 2*, 159-169.

- Smith, M. S. (1993). Input enhancement in instructed SLA. *Studies in Second Language Acquisition, 15*, 165-179.
- Soliman, N. A. (2014). Using e-learning to develop EFL students' language skills and activate their independent learning. *Creative Education*, 2014, 5(10), 752-757. https://doi.org/10.4236/ce.2014.510088
- Son, J. (Ed.). (2014). Computer-assisted language learning. http://ebookcentral.proquest.com.libproxy.bellarmine.edu/lib/bellarmineebooks/detail.action?docID=1765195
- Sotillo, S. (2000). Discourse functions and syntactic complexity in synchronous and asynchronous communication. *Language Learning & Technology*, 4(1), 82-119. http://llt.msu.edu/vol4num1/sotillo/
- Southgate, M., Nicolson, M., & Murphy, L. (2011). *Language Teaching in Blended Contexts*. Edinburgh: Dunedin Academic Press Limited.
- Spaan, M., Stowe, L., & Johnson, J. (2006). *English placement test (EPT)*. Michigan: Michigan University Press.
- Spolsky, B. (1989). Conditions for second language learning. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

St. Clair, R. N. (2008). The Social Construction of Culture. The Intercultural Forum, 1(3), Louisville, KY: The University of Louisville. Retrieved from: http://commcourses.com/iic/intercultural-forum-online-journal/aspects-of-cultural-spaceand-cultural-time/the-social-construction-of-culture

St. Clair, Robert N. (n.d.). Language and the Social Construction of Culture - chapter 6 The Symbolic Approach To Culture Chapter 6 – Manuscript in preparation. Book in pdf format provided by the author during a seminar at University of Louisville.
Stanford, J. (2009). *Moodle 1.9 for second language teaching*.

http://ebookcentral.proquest.com.libproxy.bellarmine.edu/lib/bellarmineebooks/detail.action?docID=951161

- Stein-Smith, K. (2018). The Romance advantage: The significance of the Romance languages as a pathway to multilingualism. *Theory and Practice in Language Studies*, 8(10), 1253-1260. http://dx.doi.org/10.17507/tpls.0810.01
- Stevens, K., Gerber, D., & Hendra, R. (2010). Transformational learning through prior learning assessment. *Adult Education Quarterly*, *60*(1), 377-404.
- Sudiran, S., & Vieira, F. (2017). Learner-Center Materials Development in Initial Language Techer Education. *IOSR Journal of Research & Method in Education (IOSR-JRME)*, 7(2), 70-79. https://doi.org/10.9790/7388-0702037079
- Sultana, F. (2007). Reflexivity, positionality, and participatory ethics: Negotiating fieldwork dilemmas in international research. ACME International E-Journal for Critical Geographies, 6(3): 374-385.
- Surdam, J.C. & Colins, J.R. (1984). Adaptation of international students: A cause for concern. Journal of College Student Personnel, 26(3), 240-245.
- Suvorov, R. (2019). Michigan English Test (MET): Evidence from eye tracking and cued retrospective reporting. *CaMLA Working Papers*, 2018-02, Ann Arbor, MI. MET.
- Swain, M. & Lapkin, S. (1995). Problems in output and the cognitive processes they generate: A step towards second language learning. *Applied Linguistics*, 16(1), 371-391.
- Swain, M. (1985). Communicative competence: Some roles of comprehensible input and comprehensible output in its development. In S. Gass, & C. Madden (Eds.), *Input in second language acquisition* (pp. 235-253). Rowley, MA: Newbury House.

- Swain, M. (1995). Three functions of output in second language learning. In G. Cook &
 B.Seidlhofer (Eds.), *Principle and practice in applied linguistics: Studies in honour of H.G.* Widdowson. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Swain, M. (2006). Languaging, agency and collaboration in advanced second language learning.
 In: Byrnes, H. (Ed.). Advanced language learning: The contributions of Halliday and
 Vygotsky. London, UK: Continuum.
- Swain, M., & Tocalli-Beller, A. (2005). Reformulation: the cognitive conflict and L2 learning it generates. *International Journal of Applied Linguistics*, *15*(1), 5-28.
- Tello, S. (2007). An analysis of student persistence in online education. International Journal of Information and Communication Technology Education, 3(3), 47-62. https://doi.org/10.4018/jicte.2007070105
- Tenzer, H. & Pudelko, M. (2017). The influence of language differences on power dynamics in multinational teams. *Journal of Worlds Business*, 52(1), 45-61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jwb.2016.11.002
- Terrell, S. S. (2011). Integrating online tools to motivate young English language learners to practice English outside the classroom. *International Journal of Computer Assisted Language Learning and Teaching*, *1*(2), 16–24.
- Teske, K. (2017). Duolingo. *CALICO Journal*, *34*(3), 393-401. Equinox. https://doi.org/10.2307/90014704
- Thabit, K., & Dehlawi, F. (2012). Towards using MP4 players in teaching English language: An empirical study. *Journal of Engineering*, *2*(8), 25-28.
- Thibault, J. (2010, February 25). Moodle: Open source, closed doors. Open Source. [Weblog entry]. http://opensource.com/education/10/2/moodle-open-source-closed-doors

Thomas, M., & Reinders, H. (Eds.). (2010). Task-based language learning and teaching with technology. London: Continuum. http://ebookcentral.proquest.com.libproxy.bellarmine.edu/lib/bellarmineebooks/detail.action?docID=583790

- Thomas, M., Reinders, H. & Warschauer, M. (2012). *Contemporary computer-assisted language learning* (Contemporary studies in linguistics). London: Bloomsbury Academic.
- Thompson, A., & Vásquez, C. (2015). Exploring motivational profiles through language learning narratives. *The Modern Language Journal*, *99*(1), 158-174.
- Thornbury, S. (2006). Accuracy, fluency and complexity. In *Readings in Methodology*, *16*, 139-143.
- Thurmond, V. & Wambach, K. (2004). Towards an understanding of interactions in distance education. Online Journal of Nursing Informatics (OJNI), 8(2).
- Todd, R., & Tepsuriwong, S. (2008). Mobile mazes: Investigating a mobile phone game for language learning. CALL- EJ Online , 10 (1), 1–16. http://callej.org
- Toquero, C. M. (2020). Challenges and opportunities for higher education amid the COVID-19 pandemic: The Philippine context. *Pedagogical Research*, 5(4). 1-5. https://doi.org/10.29333/pr/7947
- Trindade, E. L. (2011). Religious diversity and syncretism in Brazilian society: An interdisciplinary approach. [Unpublished master's thesis]. University of Louisville.
- Troussas, C., Virvou, M., & Alepis, E. (2014). Collaborative learning: Group interaction in an intelligent mobile-assisted multiple language learning system. *Informatics in Education*, 13(2), 279-292.

Trow, M. (1999). From mass higher education to universal access: The American advantage.Minerva: A Review Of Science, *Learning & Policy*, 37(4), 303-328.

- Tschirhart, C., O'Reilly, C., & Bradley, C. (2008). Language learning 'on the go'. In J. Traxler,
 B. Riordan, & C. Dennett (Eds.), *mLearn 2008 Conference Proceedings* (pp. 279-288).
 Beijing, China: Beijing Normal University.
- Tso, A. W. B. (2019). Learning English as a foreign language through social media: perspectives from Hong Kong adolescents. In *Shaping the future of education, communication and technology* (pp. 107-115). Springer, Singapore.
- Tudini, V. (2010). Online second language acquisition: Conversation analysis of online chat.London: Continuum.
- Turula, A., & Chojnacka, M. (Eds.). (2015). Call for bridges between school and academia. http://ebookcentral.proquest.com.libproxy.bellarmine.edu/lib/bellarmineebooks/detail.action?docID=4012311
- United Nations (2007). Universal declaration of human rights. Retrieved October 3, 2014 from http://www.ohchr.org/EN/UDHR/Documents/60UDHR/bookleten.pdf.
- United Nations (2015). Universal declaration of human rights. From: https://www.un.org/en/udhrbook/pdf/udhr_booklet_en_web.pdf

US Department of State. (2019). Institute of International Education. *Open Doors Report on International Educational Exchange*. <u>https://opendoorsdata.org/data/international-</u> <u>students</u> for more information from the Department of Homeland Security see <u>www.dhs.gov/sites/default/files/publications/immigration-</u> statistics/liasr/fy2019 q4 d final.xlsx

Uther, M., Singh, P., Zipitria, I., & Uther, J. (2005a). MAC: An adaptive, perception-based

speech remediation s/w for mobile devices. *Artificial Intelligence in Education (AIED) workshop on language tutoring*. Amsterdam, The Netherlands: IOS Press.

- Uther, M., Zipitria, I., Uther, J., & Singh, P. (2005b). Mobile Adaptive CALL (MAC): A case-study in developing a mobile learning application for speech/audio language training. *Wireless and Mobile Technologies in Education, IEEE International Workshop* (pp. 187–191). Los Alamitos, CA: IEEE Computer Society.
- Vanhove, J. (2013). The critical period hypothesis in second language acquisition: a statistical critique and a reanalysis. *PloS one*, 8(7), e69172. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0069172
- VanPatten, B., & Williams, J. (Eds.) (2015). Theories in second language acquisition: An introduction. New York: Routledge.
- Vantage Learning (2007). MY Access!® School edition: Because writing matters. Efficacy report. Newtown, PA: Vantage Learning.

http://www.vantagelearning.com/docs/myaccess/myaccess.research.efficacy.report.20070 9.pdf

- Verhelst, N., Banerjee, J., & McLain, P. (2016). Fairness and bias in language assessment. In J.
 V. Banerjee & D. Tsagari (Eds.), *Contemporary second language assessment* 243-260.
 London: Bloomsbury. MET.
- Violante, M. G. and Vezzetti, E. (2015), Virtual interactive e-learning application: An evaluation of the student satisfaction. *Computer Applications in Engineering Education*, 23(1), 72-91. https://doi.org/10.1002/cae.21580
- Volle, L. (2005). Analyzing oral skills in voice e-mails and online interviews. *Language Learning & Technology*, *9*(3), 146-163.

- Von Der Emde, S., Schneider, J., & Kötter, M. (2001). Technically speaking: Transforming language learning through virtual learning environments (MOOs). *Modern Language Journal*, 85(2), 211-225. https://doi.org/10.1111/0026-7902.00105
- Vurdien, R. (2019). Videoconferencing: Developing students' communicative competence. Journal of Foreign Language Education and Technology, 4(2), 269-298. http://jflet.com/jflet/index.php/jflet/article/view/145/0
- Vygotsky, L. S. (1978). *Mind in society. The development of higher psychological processes.* Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Vygotsky, L. S. (1962). Thought and language. Cambridge MA: MIT Press,
- Vygotsky, L. S. (1978). *Mind in society: The development of higher psychological processes*.Cole, M., John-Steiner, V., Scribner, S., & Souberman, E. (Eds.). Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Vygotsky, L. S. (1987). Thinking and speech. In R.W. Rieber & A.S. Carton (Eds.), *The collected works of L.S. Vygotsky, Volume 1: Problems of general psychology (pp. 39–285)*. New York: Plenum Press. (Original work published 1934.)
- Vygotsky, L. S. (1997). Genesis of higher mental functions. In R. Rieber (Ed.). *The collected works of L. S. Vygotsky: History of development of higher mental functions* (pp. 97–119). (Vol. 4). New York, NY: Plenum Press.
- Wagner, E. (2004). A construct validation study of the listening sections of the ECPE and
 MELAB. Spaan Fellow Working Papers in Second or Foreign Language Assessment, 2,
 1-26. Ann Arbor, MI. MELAB.
- Wagner, E. (2007). Are they watching? Test-taker viewing behavior during an L2 video listening test. Language Learning & Technology, 11(1), 67-86.

- Waks, L.J. (2019) Massive Open Online Courses and the Future of Higher Education. In: O. Adesope, A. Rud (Eds). *Contemporary Technologies in Education*. Palgrave Macmillan, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-89680-9_10
- Walker, J. & Lê, Q. (1999). Acculturation in an Information Technology Discourse Community. In B. Collis & R. Oliver (Eds.), *Proceedings of ED-MEDIA 1999-World Conference on Educational Multimedia, Hypermedia & Telecommunications* (pp. 80-84). Seattle, WA
 USA: Association for the Advancement of Computing in Education (AACE). From https://www.learntechlib.org/primary/p/17402/
- Wallace, D. P., & Van Fleet, C. (2005). The democratization of information? *Reference & User Services Quarterly*, 45(2), 100-103.
- Walsh, T. (2011). Unlocking the gates: How and why leading universities are opening up access to their courses. New Jersey: Princeton University Press.
- Walter, D., & Hentschel, J. (2013). CaMLA English Placement Test (EPT) Forms D-F:Development Report. Ann Arbor, MI. Michigan EPT Technical Reports.
- Walter, D., & Hentschel, J. (2014). Dimensionality and factor structure of an English placement test. *Cambridge English: Research Notes*, 55, 34-40. Michigan EPT.
- Wang, S. (2006). Validation and invariance of factor structure of the ECPE and MELAB across gender. *Spaan Fellow Working Papers in Second or Foreign Language Assessment*, 4, 41-56. Ann Arbor, MI. ECPE, MELAB.
- Wang, S., & Heffernan, N. (2010). Ethical issues in computer-assisted language learning:
 Perceptions of teachers and learners. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 41(5), 796-813. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8535.2009.00983.x

- Wang, S., & Smith, S. (2013). Reading and grammar learning through mobile phones. *Language Learning & Technology*, 17(3), 117-134.
- Wang, Y. (2004). Distance language learning: Interactivity and fourth-generation Internet-based videoconferencing. *CALICO Journal*, 21(2), 373-395. Equinox Publishing Ltd.

Wang, Y. (2006) Negotiation of meaning in desktop videoconferencing-supported distance language learning. *ReCALL*, 18(1), 122-146. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0958344006000814

- Wang, Y. (2016). Could a mobile-assisted learning system support flipped classrooms for classical Chinese learning? *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning*, 32(5), 391-415. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcal.12141
- Wang, Z. (2016). Mobile learning design: Theories and application. In *Mobile-Assisted language learning in China's college English education: The reality and research* (pp. 335-349).
 Singapore: Springer Singapore: Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-0027-0_20
- Ward, C., & Masgoret, A. M. (2004). The experiences of international students in New Zealand. *Report on the Results of a National Survey. Wellington: Ministry of Education*. https://www.educationcounts.govt.nz/__data/assets/pdf_file/0006/15288/040604-finalreport-for-printers.pdf
- Ware, P., & O'Dowd, R. (2008). Peer feedback on language form in telecollaboration. *Language Learning & Technology*, 12(1), 43-63.
- Wark, C., & Galliher, J. (2007). Emory Bogardus and the origins of the social distance scale. *The American Sociologist*, *38*(4), 383-395. https://doi.org/10.2307/27700519

- Warschauer, M. (1996). Comparing face-to-face and electronic discussion in the second language classroom. *CALICO Journal*, 13(3), 7-25. https://doi.org/10.1558/cj.v13i2-3.7-26
- Watson, J. B. (1916). The place of the conditioned-reflex in psychology. *Psychological Review*, 23, 89-116. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0070003

Weedon, C. (1987). Feminist practice and poststructuralist theory. London: Blackwell.

Weigle, S. C. (2000). Test review: The Michigan English Language Assessment Battery (MELAB). *Language Testing*, 17(4), 449-455. MELAB.

Wendling, A. E. (2009). Karl Marx on technology and alienation. Palgrave Macmillan.

- Weyant, K., & Chisholm, A. (2014). Safeguarding fairness principles through the test development process: A tale of two organisations. *Cambridge English: Research Notes*, 55, 12-15. ECCE, ECPE, MET, MET GO!, MYLE, MICHIGAN EPT, CAMLA SPEAKING TEST, MELAB.
- White, C., Zheng, Y., & Skyrme, G. (2020). Developing a model for investigating one-to-one synchronous Chinese online language teaching via videoconferencing. *Computer Assisted Language Learning*, 1-22. Taylor & Francis Online. https://doi.org/10.1080/09588221.2020.1770800
- White, J. (2016). Local norms in CALL language practice. International Journal of Computer-Assisted Language Learning and Teaching (IJCALLT),6(1), 40-54. https://doi.org/10.4018/IJCALLT.2016010103
- Wiebe, G., & Kabata, K. (2010). Students' and instructors' attitudes toward the use of CALL in foreign language teaching and learning. *Computer Assisted Language Learning*, 23(3), 221–234.

- Wilson, J., & Roscoe, R. D. (2020). Automated writing evaluation and feedback: Multiple metrics of efficacy. *Journal of Educational Computing Research*, 58(1), 87-125. https://doi.org/10.1177/0735633119830764
- Wong, L.-H., & Looi, C. K. (2010). Vocabulary learning by mobile-assisted authentic content creation and social meaning-making: two case studies. *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning*, 26, 421–433. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2729.2010.00357.x
- Wong, L-H., Chen, W., & Jan, M. (2012). How artefacts mediate small-group co-creation activities in a mobile-assisted seamless language learning environment? *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning*, 28, 411-424. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2729.2011.00445.x
- Wong, R. (2015). The contribution of the homestay experience to linguistic self-confidence in L2 acquisition. *The Irish Journal of Education / Iris Eireannach an Oideachais*, 40, 82-93.
- Wu, P. (2016). Incorporating IINE smartphone affordances: Cross-cultural collaboration, willingness to communicate, and language learning. *International Journal of Computer-Assisted Language Learning and Teaching (ijcallt)*,6(2), 56-73. https://doi.org/10.4018/IJCALLT.2016040104
- Wu, W. C. V., Marek, M., & Chen, N. S. (2013). Assessing cultural awareness and linguistic competency of EFL learners in a CMC-based active learning context. *System*, 41(3), 515-528. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.system.2013.05.004
- Wu, W. V., Yen, L. L., & Marek, M. (2011). Using online EFL interaction to increase confidence, motivation, and ability. *Journal of Educational Technology & Society, 14*(3), 118-129. International Forum of Educational Technology & Society.
 www.jstor.org/stable/jeductechsoci.14.3.118

Xiao, M., Yang, X., & Zhang, Y. (2010). An empirical study of using internet-bases desktop videoconferencing in an EFL Setting. In J. Herrington & C. Montgomerie (Eds.), *Proceedings of ED-MEDIA 2010-World Conference on Educational Multimedia, Hypermedia & Telecommunications* (pp. 614-623). Toronto, Canada: Association for the Advancement of Computing in Education (AACE). <u>https://www.learntechlib.org/p/34701</u>

- Xiao-Bin, C. (February 2013). Tablets for informal language learning: Student usage and attitudes. *Language Learning & Technology*, *17*(1), 20-36.
- Xu, C. & Ding, Y. (2014). An exploratory study of pauses in computer-assisted EFL writing. Language Learning & Technology, 18(3), 80-96.
- Yang, N. (2004). Using MY Access!® in EFL writing. Paper presented at the 2004 International Conference and Workshop on TEFL & Applied Linguistics. Compiled by the Department of Applied English, Ming Chuan University, 550-564.
- Yeager, C., Hurley-Dasgupta, B., & Bliss, A. (2013). CMOOCS and global learning: An authentic alternative. *Journal of Asynchronous Learning Networks*, *17*(2), 153-147.
- Zafar, M. (2011). Monitoring the monitor: A critique of Krashen's five hypotheses. Dhaka University Journal of Linguistics, 2(4), 139-146. https://doi.org/10.3329/dujl.v2i4.6903
- Zaker, A. (2016). The acculturation model of second language acquisition: Inspecting weaknesses and strengths. *Indonesian EFL Journal*, 2(2), 80-87.
 https://doi.org/10.25134/ieflj.v2i2.640
- Zaytoun, K. (2006). Theorizing at the borders: Considering social location in rethinking self and psychological development. *NWSA Journal*, *18*(2), 52-72.

- Zhang, B. (2008). Investigating Proficiency classification for the examination for the Certificate of Proficiency in English (ECPE). Spaan Fellow Working Papers in Second or Foreign Language Assessment, 6, 57-75. Ann Arbor, MI. ECPE.
- Zhang, B. (2010). Assessing the accuracy and consistency of language proficiency classification under competing measurement models. *Language Testing*, 27(1), 119-140. ECPE.
- Zhao, K. (2016). Enhancing metacognitive language learning strategy use and business language proficiency in technology-enhanced collaborative learning environment. *International Journal of Computer-Assisted Language Learning and Teaching (IJCALLT)*,6(3), 68-78. https://doi.org/10.4018/IJCALLT.2016070105
- Zou, B. (2014). Chinese students' perceptions of using mobile devices for English learning. International Journal of Computer-Assisted Language Learning and Teaching (IJCALLT),4(3), 20-33. https://doi.org/10.4018/ijcallt.2014070102



Appendix 1 – Photos of the EFL Pilot Program

EFL Videoconferences online Synchronous - language test



Videoconference small group



Breakout room



Listening game



EPT Zoom Orientation



EFL Videoconferencing

Enrollmont Trondo

Appendix 2 - Supporting Data

| Enrollment irends Open | | | | | | | | |
|--|-------------------------------|---------|-------------------------|---------------------------|------------|--------------------|--|--|
| INTERNATIONAL STUDENT DATA COORS FROM THE 2019 OPEN DOORS® REPORT | | | | | | | | |
| Year | Enrolled Int'l Students | OPT | Total Int'l Students | Total U.S. Enrollment* | % Int'l | Annual % Change | | |
| 2018/19 | 872,214 | 223,085 | 1,095,299 | 19,828,000 | 5.5 | 0.05 | | |
| 2017/18 | 891,330 | 203,462 | 1,094,792 | 19,831,000 | 5.5 | 1.5 | | |
| 2016/17 | 903,127 | 175,695 | 1,078,822 | 20,185,000 | 5.3 | 3.4 | | |
| 2015/16 | 896,341 | 147,498 | 1,043,839 | 20,264,000 | 5.2 | 7.1 | | |
| 2014/15 | 854,639 | 120,287 | 974,926 | 20,300,000 | 4.8 | 10.0 | | |
| 2013/14 | 780,055 | 105,997 | 886,052 | 21,216,000 | 4.2 | 8.1 | | |
| 2012/13 | 724,725 | 94,919 | 819,644 | 21,253,000 | 3.9 | 7.2 | | |
| 2011/12 | 679,338 | 85,157 | 764,495 | 20,625,000 | 3.7 | 5.7 | | |
| 2010/11 | 647,246 | 76,031 | 723,277 | 20,550,000 | 3.5 | 4.7 | | |



US Department of State. (2019). Institute of International Education. Open Doors Report on

International Educational Exchange. https://opendoorsdata.org

ODen



Gross Enrolment Ratio, Tertiary, Both Sexes (%) Variable time span: 1970 – 2014. World Bank

EdStats. UNESCO Institute for Statistics. https://data.worldbank.org/data-catalog/ed-stats



International Telecommunication Union (ITU). (2019).

Measuring digital development facts and figures 2019.

https://www.itu.int/en/ITU-D/Statistics/Documents/facts/FactsFigures2019.pdf



ITU estimates that at the end of 2019, 53.6 per cent of the global population, or 4.1 billion people, are using the Internet.

International Telecommunication Union (ITU). (2019).

Measuring digital development facts and figures 2019.

https://www.itu.int/en/ITU-D/Statistics/Documents/facts/FactsFigures2019.pdf

Appendix 3 – Consent Form



LANGUAGE LEARNING EFFECTIVENESS (OUTCOME) OF AN ONLINE SYNCHRONOUS ENGLISH LANGUAGE LEARNING (ELL) PROGRAM COMPARED TO AN ENGLISH AS A SECOND LANGUAGE (ESL) FACE-T0-FACE (F2F) PROGRAM

Subject Informed Consent

Introduction and Background Information

You are invited to participate in a research study by Bellarmine University. The study is being conducted by Dr. Grant Smith and Eduardo Trindade. The study is sponsored by Campbellsville University. The study will take place during the months of March and April 2020 and the participants will connect via zoom meetings to videoconferences hosted by the ESL and MA TESOL instructors of the English as a Second Language Institute of the Campbellsville University. Approximately 80 subjects will be invited to participate in this study. Your participation in this study will last for eight (8) weeks (16 videoconferences, 2 per week).

Purpose

The purpose of this research study is to investigate the effectiveness of an English Language program delivered via videoconferences to students synchronously connecting from their home, school, or workplace. The objective is to determine if the delivery method of the program is comparable to a face-to-face program offered by the same university as an intensive immersion summer program. The research will analyze the language learning progress of the students to see if there is evidence of a significant positive impact on language learning from the beginning to the end of the eight weeks of the program. The practice has been shown to increase focus, handle stress, and face challenges in a positive way.

Procedures

In this study, you will be asked to attend 16 (1-hour) videoconference sessions of ELL classes with instructions and group activities, take a pre and post English Placement Test, actively participate in the class activities, and complete some homework every week. These sessions will take place in the evening twice a week for eight consecutive weeks. Students volunteering for the study will be randomly assigned to one of the four classes offered.

Participants will be exposed to 60-minutes ELL lessons twice a week during March and April 2020. Video recordings of each videoconference will be available online (LMS) for each class for the duration of the pilot program and will not be shared with other classes until the research is complete.

Potential Risks

There are no reasonably foreseeable risks.

Benefits

The possible benefits of this study include the development of opportunities for students to have access to an English Language Program that has been offered since 1980 as a gateway to undergraduate and graduate programs in America. Students will also gain exposure to ELL classes with instructors from a university in America, be able to experience a typical university classroom environment without having to spend the money to move to the USA. The data collected in this study may not benefit you directly. However, the information learned from this research may be helpful to others in the future and to the design of a regular online ELL synchronous program.

Compensation

Students will have the opportunity to attend English lessons for free for the duration of the pilot program and will get a certificate of completion from Campbellsville University. Students must be present for the pre and posttest and attend the most of the 16 videoconferences to be eligible for the certificate.

Page 1 of 2 ELL ONLINE EFFECTIVENESS COMPARED TO F2F ESL Subject Informed Consent

Date Written: 01/10/2020 Date Revised: 02/14/2020



ENGLISH LANGUAGE LEARNING VIA VIDEOCONFERENCE Subject Informed Consent

Confidentiality

Although absolute confidentiality cannot be guaranteed, confidentiality will be protected to the extent permitted by law. The study sponsor or the Institutional Review Board may inspect your research records. Should the data collected in this research study be published, **your identity will not be revealed**.

Voluntary Participation

Your participation in this research study is voluntary. You may refuse to participate or withdraw your consent at any time without penalty or losing benefit to which you are otherwise entitled.

Your Rights as a Research Subject and Contact Persons

If you have any questions about your rights as a research subject, you may call the Institutional Review Board Office at (+1) 502-272-8032. You will be given the opportunity to discuss any questions, in confidence, with a member of the Board. This is an independent committee composed of members of the University community and lay members of the community not connected with this institution. The Board has reviewed this study.

You acknowledge that all your present questions have been answered in the language you can understand. If you have any questions about the study, please contact Dr. Grant Smith at (+1) 502-272-7921 or Eduardo Trindade at (+1) 502-314-9905.

Consent

You have discussed the above information and hereby consent to voluntarily participate in this study. You have been given a signed copy of this consent form.

| X | Name of Participant (print) | Signature of Participant (if minor signature and name of Guardian) | Date Signed |
|---|--|--|-------------|
| | <u>Dr. Grant Smith</u> Investigator (print) | Signature of Investigator | Date Signed |
| | Eduardo L. Trindade Co-investigator (print) | Signature of Co-investigator | Date Signed |

By signing below, I, the participant, give my consent to participate in the research study described above.

X

Name of Participant (print)

Signature of Participant (if minor signature and name of Guardian)

Date Signed

Page 2 of 2 ELL ONLINE EFFECTIVENESS COMPARED TO F2F ESL Subject Informed Consent

Date Written: 01/10/2020 Date Revised: 02/14/2020

Appendix 4 - IRB Exemption Notice

From: "Christy D. Wolfe" <<u>cwolfe@bellarmine.edu</u>> Date: May 19, 2020 at 20:05:10 EDT To: "Grant S. Smith" <<u>gsmith2@bellarmine.edu</u>>, "Eduardo L. Trindade" <<u>etrindade01@bellarmine.edu</u>>, "<u>eltrindade@campbellsville.edu</u>" <<u>eltrindade@campbellsville.edu</u>> Cc: "Christy D. Wolfe" <<u>cwolfe@bellarmine.edu</u>>, "Connie R. Smith" <<u>csmith6@bellarmine.edu</u>>, "Francis T. Hutchins" <<u>fhutchins@bellarmine.edu</u>>, "Mark R. Wiegand" <<u>mwiegand@bellarmine.edu</u>> Subject: IRB#843: Language Learning Effectiveness of an Online Synchronous ELL Program Compared to an ESL F2F Program



May 19, 2020

Dr. Grant Smith School of Education, Bellarmine University

IRB#843: Language Learning Effectiveness of an Online Synchronous ELL Program Compared to an ESL F2F Program

Dear Dr. Smith:

The IRB has concluded the review of your application for the project entitled *Language Learning Effectiveness of an Online Synchronous ELL Program Compared to an ESL F2F Program.* Thank you for addressing the concerns of the reviewer. Your submitted protocol has undergone an exempt review and has been approved under Category 1, "research in established or commonly accepted education settings that involves normal educational practices". Please inform us in advance of any changes that may be made to the protocol in the course of this study.

If you have any questions, please let me know. We wish you the best with your project!

cw Christy Wolfe, PhD Associate Professor of Psychology Chair, Bellarmine IRB Bellarmine University 2001 Newburg Road Louisville, KY 40205 (502) 272-7971 Office: McGowan Hall, Room 173

Appendix 5 – Extended Review of the Literature on SLA Theories

The Behaviorist Theory in SLA

One of the best-known environmentalist theories was proposed by Skinner (1957). Skinner's theory is recognized as the behaviorist or stimulus-response theory, which explains the phenomenon of learning a language as a learned behavior that is reached via stimuli and rewards or reinforcement. According to Skinner's laboratory experiences, the process called "operant conditioning" must be constantly reinforced to avoid degeneration of verbal behavior (p. 28). Through the "operant conditioning," the person understands that there are consequences associated with behaviors, and learning a language is dependent on the exposure to the environment and, on the same token, dependent on what Skinner called "verbal behaviors" (1957).

One could conclude that in the behaviorist theory, learning a language would be similar to acquiring any ability; it happens by repetitions until a behavior automatically generates a conditioned response, in the case of language, a "verbal behavior" (1957, p. 70). The classical conditioning perspective suggests that reactions of conditioned responses are involuntary and reflexive and could be emotional or physiological responses (Watson, 1916). However, Skinner sees the brain's capacity to understand the behavior and respond consciously to stimuli, in this case, "conscious verbal behavior," that permits innovative responses which, according to Skinner, are the product of an incubation period of the unconscious verbal behaviors (Skinner, 1957, p. 419). For Skinner,

A child reared in a family which reinforces generously is likely to possess such behavior in great strength and will talk upon almost any occasion. A child reared in the absence of such reinforcement may be relatively silent or taciturn (Skinner, 1957, p. 149). It is only logical to conjecture that there must be more abundant stimuli in a household where a child is reinforced continuously. According to Larsen-Freeman & Long (1991), stimulus-response would not suffice to explain the acquisition of a second language; it might be highly beneficial to help learners improve pronunciation and automatically recall complete formed sentences. Nonetheless, learners will have problems deciding how to reply to speakers with a different accent from their teacher, to sentences that do not follow the same patterns memorized and comprehend figurative language (Piker-Piriz & Alejo-Gonzalez, 2016).

It might be said that Skinner behaviorist theory on language learning reached global notoriety because of Chomsky's (1959) famous review of Skinner's "Verbal Behavior" (1957), and also due to the many audio-lingual language learning methods (ALM) developed in the 1940s to help Americans learn the languages of their allies and enemies after the war, according to Maleki (2005). The audio-lingual method was also known as the military or the Army Method, and it was teacher-centered, focused on mechanical repetitions of sentences and dialogues. The goal of ALM was to help students learn sentence structures without explicit grammar teaching and with almost no explanations and little space for cognition (Griffiths, 2004). By the late sixties, the ALM was being questioned due to learners' frustrations over tedious repetitions and the desire to learn how to translate and use language creatively (Griffiths, p. 7).

Despite the shortcomings of the ALM, it is not uncommon to find teachers still using some of the principles of the method in their classes and in language proficiency assessments (Kim, Tracy-Ventura & Jung, 2016). The renowned Pimsleur Language Method from the 1950s uses repetitions like ALM and does not provide opportunities for spontaneous language use. However, the Pimsleur method provides translations and input enhancement technics (Smith, 1993; Choe, 2016) that promote language awareness in the second language (Macaro, 2006; Smith, 1981).

The Acculturation Theory in SLA

Another theory based on the environment is the acculturation theory, proposed by Schumann (1978). Schumann's research concluded that second language learning is the result of a process of acculturation. In Schumann's view, "The degree to which a learner acculturates to the target language group will control the degree to which s/he acquires the language." (Schumann, 1978a, p. 34; see also Schumann, 1986). In the acculturation theory, Schumann argues that the degree of social and psychological distance between the language learners and the speech community will determine the acquisition level (Schumann, 1986, p. 388). It is vital to highlight that Schumann did not define what would be the levels of social and psychological proximity that would be considered optimal to acculturation (Larsen-Freeman & Long, 1991). He did not present a measurement indicator or instrument to predict language learning outcomes. Although Schumann's theory presents a reasonable description of many second language learners' social and psychological struggles, Schuman has been criticized for not providing validated and reliable instruments for measuring acculturation (Zaker, 2016; Ellis, 1997). Even with the mentioned problems, acculturation might be a reasonable alternative to Lenneberg's theory of the "critical period" (Lenneberg, 1967; Hartshorne, 2018). The acculturation theory relies on other variables besides age to account for some adults' failure to learn a second language.

Few researchers have tried to design acculturation measuring instruments; for instance, Kelley (1982) developed a questionnaire to measure four (4) levels of social and psychological distance, but no further use of his questionnaire appears in the literature (Kelley, 1982). There are some other measurement instruments, such as the "Bogardus Social Distance Scale" (Bogardus, 1925), and others (Payne et al., 1974), used to identify behaviors and attitudes that would indicate acculturation disposition (Wark & Galliher, 2007). Nevertheless, it is not easy to extrapolate the use of these instruments to predict language learning predispositions. According to Brown (1980), the solution for Schumann's dilemma of finding a measurement instrument could be solved with Acton's "Professed Difference in Attitude Questionnaire" (PDA) (1979). The PDA, which has been disputed in terms of reliability (England, 1983), is a self-reporting instrument that asks language learners to quantify the differences between their original cultures concerning the target culture and their attitude towards the members of the target culture (Acton, 1979).

Based on Schumann's longitudinal studies (1978a), the acculturation theory identified eight social and four psychological variables that would affect second language learning. In Schumann's terms, "social distance" and "psychological distance" affect the learning process (Schumann, 1978b). In this view, language learning would be optimal in immersion environments, and distance language learning would be inconceivable, especially in times of global pandemic with required physical social distance. Walker & Lê (1999) remind that in distance learning and computer-assisted learning, the Information Technology (IT) community has its own discourse and culture, and learners have to go through an acculturation process to function in virtual spaces of the IT community.

One of the social distance variables is "<u>social dominance patterns</u>," which are defined by circumstances when the target language group is considered inferior. In such cases, learners will see no need to learn the target language. The same might be true when the target language is imposed on a subjugated group that reacts against the language of the dominator. The conquered

use the imposed language in a significantly reduced form for essential communication, resulting in pidginization (Schumann, 1978b).

The following variable is the "<u>integration strategies</u>," which have three levels: total assimilation of the target language by the complete abandonment of the native culture and language, partial assimilation when learners maintain their native culture and language but assimilate the target culture, and adaptive or bicultural when learners learn how to negotiate in their native culture and the target culture - depending on the group with whom they are interacting.

The following variable is "<u>enclosure</u>," when groups share similar spaces or cultural preferences, the learning will be promoted; when the two groups are enclosed and separate, language learning will diminish. 'Length of residency" or exposure will impact language learning. "<u>Cohesiveness</u>" happens when the learner has limited contact outside the target language group. The "<u>size</u>" of the L1 or L2 community will also impact learning. The "<u>cultural congruence</u>" or cultural likeness between native and target language groups impacts language learning. Feelings and "<u>attitudes</u>" between groups may affect the learning process (Brown, 2000, 1997; Pinnegar & Teemant, 2019).

In terms of psychological variables, the acculturation theory accounts for "<u>language</u> <u>shock</u>," which is the period when a learner cannot communicate the most basic ideas in the target language, and consequently, the learner experience a psychological crisis in which they have a constant sense of inability, and an identity crisis (Kovtun et al., 2018). The next psychological variable is "<u>cultural shock</u>," which is a disorienting feeling characterized by anxiety about the host culture and an intense longing for one's native culture (Berry, 2019; Berry et al., 1986). "<u>Motivation</u>," which is still an enigma for many (Lai et al., 2020; Chai et al., 2016; Thompson & Vásquez, 2015), is another psychological variable. The last psychological variable considered by the acculturation theory is "<u>ego-permeability</u>," which is the degree of rigidity in the L1 or the flexibility the L2 learner has in developing a new cultural and linguistic identity (Zaker, 2016; Bluestone, 2009). In other words, individuals that fully acquire new languages and new cultures open themselves or their identity to portraying themselves in a new persona, not that they have multiple personalities, but that their ego infuses itself with characteristics of the other language/culture (Keeley, 2014).

Interaction Hypothesis in SLA

The next theory is the interaction hypothesis formulated by Hatch (1978) and Long (1981, 1996). Hatch and Long understood that output and input alone would not suffice to promote second language acquisition, and they claim that conversational interaction fills the gap between the comprehensible output hypothesis and the comprehensible input hypothesis (Muho & Kurani, 2014). Long (1981) argues that through interactions and negotiation of meaning with native speakers of the target language, L2 learners prompt linguistic and discourse modifications that facilitate language acquisition (Long, 1996). Hatch (1978) emphasizes that through conversation, language learners develop their grammar in the second language. For Long (1983a and b), input can only be comprehensible with interaction that provides context and meaning negotiation. Long concludes that interaction requires linguistic adjustments and explanations of meaning and feedback about the meaning of utterances (Gass, MacKey, and Pica, 1998). Hatch (1978) presents a series of examples of discourses (conversations) to affirm that he discords that language learners first process input to be able to interact. Hatch gives examples of children interacting with adults and second language adult learners interacting with native English speakers to show that in simple conversations, there is a process of meaning negotiation between the interlocutors, no matter the language level of the language learner (p. 423). The natural interaction provides opportunities for the learner to get content words, recognize the topics of the conversation, and begin to make predictions and as he/she understands the meaning and improves comprehension and performance (p. 423-424).

Long (1996) affirms that the negotiation of meaning is essential in the process of language acquisition, and the negotiation is an indication of the understanding that occurs even when the interlocutors ask questions. In this negotiation process, the interaction activates the language device, and "grammar is the product of the interaction of the acquisition device with experience; no grammatical knowledge is inborn" (Doughty & Long, 2005, p. 37). The interaction hypothesis promotes three techniques necessary in interactions, comprehension checks, confirmation checks, and clarification requests. (Ortega-Auquilla, Hidalgo, and Heras-Urgiles, 2019, p. 3). The interaction hypothesis affirms that comprehensible input is necessary, but it is insufficient to promote SLA. With interaction, the language learner is motivated to modify their initial output to be understood by the interlocutor, and this is the negotiation of meaning that promotes SLA (Gass and Varonis, 1994).

Sociocultural Hypothesis in SLA

Another SLA theory rooted in the environment but also heavily dependent on cognition is the sociocultural hypothesis (SCH) based on the works of the Russian psychologist Lev Semyonovich Vygotsky (1978), which describe the development of cognition through social interaction or collaborative dialogues that facilitate the 'internalization of language' (Gass & Selinker, 2008). Lloyd & Fernyhough (1999) noticed the similarity between Vygotsky's notion of "internalization" and Hegels' "Verinnerlichung," which labels the process of assimilation of societal culture via the development of language skills, particularly in children (p. 385). Without negating the sociocultural theory's contribution to in-person language learning/ teaching (VanPatten and Williams, p. 222), it is essential to emphasize that this theory may not explain distance SLA when sociocultural interaction is limited.

Vygotsky's sociocultural theory tries to explain the development of higher forms of mental behavior, stating that social and cultural practices and language facilitate human psychological functions and manifest these functions through a comprehensible sign system (Azabdaftari, 2013). Although Vygotsky is considered the father of the sociocultural hypothesis to SLA, and this is so because the theory draws from Vygostian works on sociocultural theory, Frawley & Lantolf's (1985) article on second language discourse is the precursor of the SCH. It is also important to emphasize that Frawley and Lantolf questioned Vygotsky's work affirming that Vygotsky was unsuccessful in corroborating his claims with data (1985; Brooks and Donato, 1994; Lantolf and Thorne, 2007).

Although Vygotsky's sociocultural theory is applied to second language acquisition, it was not his original intention, and the criticism must focus on the application of the theory and not necessarily on Vygotsky's work. Johnson (2004) asserts that the principal element of the sociocultural hypothesis is that it contributes to the understanding of SLA is the zone of proximal development (ZPD), which explains that language learners develop private and inner speech as a result of social interaction. In other words, the second language learner is in a constant ZPD and advances their language proficiency via interactions and collaborations with others in higher proficiency levels of language use (Newman & Holtzman, 1993).

Vygotsky's sociocultural views on ZPD and scaffolding learning reinforce the value of language instructors and mixing students of different levels to nourish the environment with opportunities for collaboration and meaning negotiation (Lantolf and Appel,1994; Lantolf,

244

2000). It is important to note that in terms of language instruction, Vygotsky's ZPD and Krashen's comprehensible input are similar as both are determined to promote interactions and collaborative learning (Duff and Uchida, 1997).

Vygotsky (1987) hypothesizes the existence of three distinct forms of speech: the <u>social</u> <u>speech</u> used to convey meaning to others and is externally manifested in audible or visual (for sign language) communication; the <u>private speech</u>, used by the individual to formulate thought (inner manifestation), build communication, self-regulate behavior, which will eventually be externalized in communication (intellectual function), and as the individual develops their intellectual functions, private speech is transformed into a <u>silent inner speech</u> (Schinke-Llano, 1993).

For Vygotsky, thought and language begin as separate systems; however, later in the child's development, these two systems amalgamate, and thought becomes verbal, or "verbal thinking" (Miller, 2011). Socioculturalists would affirm that adults and older children would undergo a similar process in acquiring a second language (Khaliliaqdam, 2014). The learner has gone through this process while acquiring their first language and activates memory and awareness's cognitive functions to become verbal in a second language (Lantof & Thorne, 2007). In the sociocultural hypothesis, cognitive processes are sustained by the participation in social and cultural contexts present in institutions such as family, school, work, and religious gatherings (Halliday, 1978). In the words of Vygotsky, "the path from object to child and from child to object passes through another person. This complex human structure is the product of a developmental process deeply rooted in the links between individual and social history" (Vygotsky, 1978, p. 30).

Vygotsky affirmed that "internalization" is a process where individuals assimilate sociocultural ideas and structures due to the interaction with social settings (Vygotsky, 1997). He understood that internalization can only happen within the zone of proximal development where mental functions are activated and social relations are internalized, and meaning is comprehended (Vygotsky, 1997, p. 105; Dunn & Lantolf, 1998; Goos, 2004). In such cases, the neophyte interacts with individuals more knowledgeable of the target language and culture, and the negotiation to create meaning happens (Bakhtin, 1981). Through continual interaction, the language learner will internalize the new culture and language and construct a new identity conformed with the new context (Weedon, 1987; Bourdieu, 1997).

If taken at face value, second language acquisition will depend on learners' exposure to target language social settings. The semiotic exchanges in a language classroom recreate, as much as possible, life situations that mimic the culture and societal structures of the target language. The application of the Vygotskyan theory in second language acquisition does not take away the teacher's role of mediator and promoter of learning experiences but advocates the participation of all the students in interactions that will forge the language acquisition. (Feryok, 2013, p. 215). In the context of distance language learning through videoconferences, it would be considerably challenging to promote the level of interactions necessary for the process of internalization to take effect.

Comprehensible Output Hypothesis in SLA

The comprehensible output hypothesis, formulated by Swain (1985) focuses more on the language learner than the environment. According to Swain (1995, 2006), through output or comprehensible output, second language learners become aware of the discrepancy between what they intend to convey and what they can convey (Swain & Lapkin, 1995). As a result of the

awareness of this deficiency, the learner presses on to enhance their fluency (Swain & Lapkin, 1995, p. 372).

According to Swain, there are three distinct functions of comprehensible output: 1) the "noticing function," which is the awareness of the language gap between meaning intended and meaning conveyed by the utterances. 2) the "testing function," which results from the first function and is what triggers the learner to try different utterances with variations in grammar and syntax to test their hypotheses about the target language. Based on feedback from an instructor, or any target language speakers, the learner analyses his/her utterances checking them against the linguistic hypothesis being tested. 3) the "metalinguistic function," which is a conscious reflection on the language being produced to verify if it is comprehensible. This metalinguistic analysis is a reflection about language structure and linguistic features that second learners must assimilate to gradually enhance their performance, meaning negotiation to undergo the acquisition of the target language (Swain & Tocalli-Beller, 2005, p. 380).

For Swain (2005), in using language, second language learners observe their personal errors and focus on learning how to modify their output, adjusting it to the correct form of the target language. In other words, the output activates a cognitive process that will facilitate second language learning (p. 5).

Stephen Krashen has raised some considerations about the comprehensible output hypothesis (Krashen, 1998), as well as Anthony (2008), who sees the need to combine comprehensible input and output to assist language learners to reach proficiency in the target language (p. 474). For Krashen (1994), comprehensible output is insufficient to produce language proficiency, and he says that there is no evidence that comprehensible output produces language acquisition (Krashen, 1994, p. 175). Krashen also argues that second language "competence is possible without output" and happens exclusively based on reading and listening (Krashen, 1998, p. 180). For Krashen, comprehensible output requires interaction and may help, but it may also be the cause for added stress and consequently may be an impediment to language learning (p. 179). I will look into Krashen's claims that comprehensible input is a better contributor to language acquisition when discussing his Monitor Theory.

Universal Grammar (UG) Hypothesis

Chomsky's theory of language was initially called "Transformational Grammar" and was described in his book *Syntactic Structures* (Chomsky, 1957). Chomsky made changes to his theory based on the research of various languages to establish similarities between languages and contradicted the notion that languages are unique (Chomsky, 1986; Sapir, 1921; Loucky, 2010).

Chomsky (2002) defines language as the "set (finite or infinite) of sentences" (p. 13) that obey rules, which enables speakers of that language to understand the meaning conveyed. Chomsky states that language is more than the repertoire of memorized sentences and responses to stimuli (Chomsky, 2006, p. 16). Language is used with creativity by human beings that are able to produce a completely new combination of words (2006, p. 196).

Chomsky also theorizes that all human beings are biologically designed to understand and acquire any natural language they encounter (2006, p. 100). The cognitive system involved in deciphering and comprehending language is called language acquisition device (LAD), and this device can identify universal structural elements in any language. These universal elements are called "universal grammar" (UG). The hypothesis is that UG is the human intellectual capacity (Chomsky, 2006, p. 24) or the "genetically endowed, biological system" that enables humans to identify and acquire the rules and principles of languages (2006, p. 42). It is essential to highlight that the language acquisition device (LAD) should not be confused with Universal Grammar (GU), because GU is the framework of knowledge that every typical child is born with, and when exposed to natural environments, will make sense of language and its structures, even with limited available data (Chomsky, 2006, p. 100, 151). Chomsky clarifies that through internalized grammar, individuals clearly discern the acceptable and well-constructed phrases within their language. This decision does not depend on formal instruction but is perceived intuitively by the native speakers of a language, even when they cannot consciously articulate the rules of their language (Pinker, 1995).

Chomsky claims that the environment is insufficient to enable humans to acquire language and produce new sentences that were never uttered or heard by the language learner (2006, p. 52). Chomsky devised the concepts of LAD and UG to explain that all humans are born with an innate mental device to understand how language acquisition works. This device is activated by exposure to language (Chomsky 1957; 1965, p. 32), which explains how children acquire language even in environments where there is "poverty of stimuli" (2006, p.201). UG has been a controversial proposition disputed for over fifty years because it is virtually impossible to verify what elements are present in all human languages and how this innate human faculty works (Sampson, 2005).

Some researchers claim that even if the UG hypothesis was correct in explaining how children acquire language, acquiring a second language is an entirely different process (O'Grady, 2012; Hymes, 1974; Firth & Wagner, 1997; Birdsong, 1994; Birdsong and Vanhove, 2016). The understanding is that there are processes that happen in SLA which are not necessarily present in first language acquisition, such as intralanguage, interlanguage (Selinker, 1972), language transfer, and fossilization (Selinker, 1996; Han, 2004). Chomsky refutes the criticism stating that the UG parameters would continue to operate in SLA, even if other mechanisms are present (Chomsky, 2015, p. 25).

The last theory reviewed is the Comprehensible Input Theory by Stephen Krashen chosen as the theoretical framework of this study. Please refer to the Literature Review Chapter (pp. 75-96). The references for the Extended Review of the Literature on SLA Theories are included in the References section of this manuscript (starting on p. 156).